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Friday, March 4, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone, and welcome to the technical conference.  It's EB-2020-0293, which is an Enbridge leave-to-construct application.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff, and I will be acting as your master of ceremonies today.


Cherida, could I ask you to start us off with the land acknowledgement.


MS. WALTER:  Sure.

Land Acknowledgement:


The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishnaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.


We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Cherida.  Let's quickly do appearances just so we know who is here.  I will do a roll call, because I think that is the easiest way to do it online.  Charles, could I start with you, please.

Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, Charles Keizer, counsel to Enbridge Gas.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  FRPO, Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.


MR. MILLAR:  Environmental Defence, anyone here from them?  Maybe they will be joining us as the day goes on.  Schools.


MS. WALTER:  Oh, sorry, Mr. Elson did ask for to us do appearances for him.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so Mr. Elson will be joining us?  Thank you very much, Cherida.  Schools.


MR. ZHENG:  Fred Zheng, counsel to SEC, and Jay will also join us shortly.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Pollution Probe.  Again, people may be joining us throughout the day.


Those are the people that I have on my list.  I guess just OEB Staff are myself, Michael Millar, Cherida Walter, who you know, I believe Michael Parkes is with us today.  Have I missed anyone from Staff who will be speaking today?


MR. LADANYI:  Michael, Tom Ladanyi here for Energy Probe.  I will be here on Monday, but if you are faster than expected then I am ready to start this afternoon.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think you need to worry about that, Tom, but thank you for the introduction.  And again, I only have the list for today, so if I've missed anyone else -- have I missed anyone else from the roll call?


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Michael.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for -- sorry, Michael Brophy --


MR. MILLAR:  Go ahead, Ian.


MR. MONDROW:  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association.  I am not on your list because I don't have clarification questions at the moment, but I wanted to put in an appearance, thanks.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Brophy.


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Sorry, I don't know if you called my name.  I had a little Internet glitch when you were going through the list, but Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.


MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you very much.  Did I miss anyone else?


Okay.  As I mentioned earlier, we have a very full day today.  We will be sitting Monday as well to hear panel 2, but we will be finishing panel 1 today.  So let's get started.  Mr. Keizer, could I ask you to introduce your witnesses, please.


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, thanks, Mr. Millar.


In no order, the first is Byron Madrid, manager, capital development and deliverability.  Aron Murdoch, supervisor, capital development.  Bradley Clark, manager, distribution, optimization, engineering.  Tanya Turk, advisor, lands, permitting, and environment.

ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1

Byron Madrid

Aron Murdoch

Bradley Clark

Tanya Turk


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand there are no preliminary matters we need to address?


MR. KEIZER:  I have no preliminary matters.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let's get started.  I'm going to turn it over to you, Mr. Quinn.  I think you have a total of 120 minutes, which will take us past the break, so I will remind you when we're getting close to the time for a break.


MR. QUINN:  And so close to eleven o'clock, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, around 11:00.


MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you.

Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Good morning, witness panel.  My name is Dwayne Quinn.  I am here on behalf of FRPO, and what I will be covering today is the current condition of the pipe, the condition assessments that have been done, the decision between replacement and renewal or rehabilitation, and also the impact of outages.


In that order I will go, and it may vary depending on your answers if you answer a question that is for later on in my agenda.


So first off, I just wanted to ask the question, the pipe is clearly coated.  Can you describe the coating of that pipe and then give us a comparison of the coating on that pipe versus the coating on first the Windsor line and then the London lines?


MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  To start the response here, yes, our existing 12-inch pipeline is coated pipe.  As a comparison to the Windsor line and London line, if I recall correctly, there are portions of the London line that are not coated.


I am not sure if -- perhaps you could elaborate on your question here with regards to the comparison between the two pipelines, as we are filing a leave-to-construct application for this specific pipeline here.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Madrid, I asked questions about asset health and condition in comparison with the London lines and Windsor lines and the company said it did not have the time to -- it had not prepared asset health for the Windsor and London line.  So I was just starting at a very high level to be able to compare the three different pipelines for the Board's knowledge, as Windsor and London have recently been or are undergoing replacement.  This is the third line, and I am asking for the company to differentiate the pipelines, because there wasn't a direct asset health comparison.


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, so maybe you can repeat your question, Mr. Quinn, just so that it is clear.  I know your intent.  I just want to understand what the question is again.


MR. QUINN:  The question is, what -- we have heard that the St. Laurent line is coated.  Was the Windsor line coated?  And if so, how?


If you need to take that away -- I thought this was a very preliminary question.  We asked about asset health, and we didn't get what we were looking for, so I thought this is a different approach to try to give a relative comparison.


MR. MADRID:  We can take that back and confirm what exactly the Windsor line and London line had as far as coating.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To be clear, and we got this in our recent technical conference, the undertaking would be to compare the coatings of the St. Laurent line to the Windsor line and the London lines and differentiate the impacts on asset health from a current condition standpoint.  Is that sufficiently clear for Enbridge and the reporter?


MR. MADRID:  I believe the undertaking was for us to confirm what coating the Windsor and London line had.  We had already responded to FRPO's interrogatories with regards to the asset health review and a comparison between both those two pipelines and the St. Laurent, and I have communicated that as far as the asset health review we do not have the failure data as of yet.  We are working on processing that data, and the modelling will be ready in 2023.


MR. QUINN:  And that's why I'm asking the question.  Specifically, you didn't have the information from asset health point of view, so I am asking just at a high level to differentiate the coatings and how they would impact asset health.  That should be fundamental.  We're not looking for a complete assessment of every segment of the pipeline.  We are looking for, they are different vintages of pipeline, they have different coatings.  What would be their impact on asset health?


MR. MADRID:  Yes, Byron Madrid here again.  I can just say that our position is already on the record with regards to those questions, and at the moment we are not able to compare that.


MR. QUINN:  You are not able to compare -- sorry.  You provided with the Windsor line -- sorry, the London lines are not completely coated, I think is your answer?  I don't want to put words in your mouth, so please tell me, how is the London line protected from a coating standpoint?


MR. MADRID:  To be correct, I said that we would take an undertaking to confirm what coating is on both of those pipelines.  That's what we have offered.


MR. MILLAR:  So should I mark that, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Mr. Millar, I am already
receiving -- these are standard engineering questions.  All I am asking is, you've got different coatings; How would that contribute to asset health and longevity of a pipeline?


MR. KEIZER:  I think it is that latter part, Mr. Quinn, that people are struggling with, because I think the interrogatory related to the condition, asset health assessment related to the differentiate between the two lines.  And Enbridge indicated they're not able to do that.

So your question now is asking about the coating difference and the implication for health difference.

So the confusion, I think is -- well, we've already indicated that we have not done a health indication for the other lines.

So, you know, it is a question of what do you actually mean by, you know, the implications for its health?

MR. MADRID:  Or condition.

MR. QUINN:  Enbridge has an asset health index, correct?

MR. MADRID:  For the EGD rate zone pipelines.

MR. QUINN:  Fair enough.  So you have a process by which you assess the asset health of an Enbridge Gas rate zone pipeline.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So part of that contribution to its asset health would be the nature of the protection provided by the coating that the pipeline has.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  For the EGD rate zone.

MR. QUINN:  Correct.  So you now -- Union has been part of your company for a few years, and I understand you haven't done a comprehensive asset health index.  That is what your answer says in the interrogatory response.

What I am just trying to say, at a very high level, they have different coatings.  You know the coatings contribute to your asset health index.  Just at a high level, compare the coatings and how they would impact asset health.

MR. MADRID:  Mr. Quinn, our position is still the same.  We have stated we're currently in the process of processing that data to be able to have an understanding of the legacy Union rate zone.

So we are not in a position to be able to compare what you are asking for.  So our position is on record and it is still the same.

MR. QUINN:  Let me ask you a different question.  Do you have any 1930s vintage pipeline in the Enbridge rate zone?

MR. MADRID:  We do not.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have any -- what is the oldest pipe you have in the Enbridge rate zone, steel pipe?

MR. MADRID:  It would be 1950 vintage approximately, '54, the 50s, yes.

MR. QUINN:  I'm sorry, I am going to leave this line of questioning because I was trying to get at a very high level.  Provide the coatings, please, and I will decide whether I want to render my assessment of those pipelines, because I thought the company would be better equipped to answer a high level engineering question.  But let's move on to condition assessment, please.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, we don't have an undertaking yet.  So it will be JT1.1, but what is the undertaking?

MR. QUINN:  To provide the coatings of the Windsor and London lines and -- sorry, in this case, the St. Laurent line, to compare the three types of coatings and I will take it from there.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE COATING OF THE WINDSOR AND LONDON LINES


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, can I get a clarification for the record?  The question about how the coatings impact asset health, that was refused; is that correct?  Or is that question withdrawn?

MR. QUINN:  I still have the question.  They told me that their position is the same.

MR. BROPHY  I take it that is a refusal from Enbridge?

MR. KEIZER:  The point being it is unable to do it for a single variable, and also they indicated the asset health index is not available for the Union lines.

MR. BROPHY:  That is all I need.

MR. QUINN:  To be clear, Mr. Keizer, I did not ask for the asset health index of the Union lines.  That has
been -- we have been informed that is not available.

I have asked the coating and how a coating would contribute to asset health, and I am hearing that the company cannot provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the point was that you were saying how coating contributes to asset health in a comparable basis.  So it is that issue that is causing the problem.

MR. QUINN:  So you are refusing that answer, the one you just described?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  If we can move on to condition assessments that have been done.

Sorry, I am unfamiliar.  Who is operating the visual evidence on the screen?

MS. WALTER:  Miss Allman.

MR. QUINN:  I didn't want to presume it was Bonnie.  Ms. Allman, if you could turn up Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 2, page 3, please.  If you don't mind expanding it just a little bit, please.

So this is noting the date of December 12, 2006.  Can you see that, panel?

MR. MADRID:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, first off, the title is just there, but it says St. Laurent railroad crossing.

You are familiar with the requirement to have a casing, or a past requirement to have a casing under a railway track for a natural gas pipeline?

MR. MADRID:  There is no such requirement for a steel pipeline underneath a track.

MR. QUINN:  Today.  In the past, are you aware that there was a requirement to have a casing under a railway track as required by certain railways?

MR. MADRID:  What I am aware of is that this pipeline was installed according to all the required specs at the time of installation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Let's move forward.  I see how this day is going to go and it is unfortunate.

This one did have a casing; is that a fact?

MR. MADRID:  Based on the information that is there, correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Okay.  And in your experience, are you aware that contact between a casing and a pipeline can cause corrosion?

MR. MADRID:  From our experience, we are aware that contact between a casing and a pipeline is one of many contributors to corrosion.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In this case, based upon what I presume is your knowledge of the evidence that is here, is it your opinion that the casing contributed to the corrosion on this pipeline?


If you need to take that away, I know there's hundreds of pages of evidence.  But in reality, I have reviewed this, and I presume the panel should be more aware than I.

MR. MADRID:  I wouldn't mind just having a quick breakout room, if that is okay?

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I can assist before you get into the breakout room.  First paragraph, last sentence:
"Portions of the casing were found severely corroded on the excavation bank and at the upstream end of the excavation."


With that information, does that help you in your assessment of this evidence that the casing contributed to the corrosion in this instance?

MR. MADRID:  I would say there is a possibility that the casing may have contributed to that.  There are other factors in that area, including contaminated soil, environmental concerns, salt from the roadway.  There's a number of things that would have also contributed.  So I do not believe that you can pinpoint the corrosion effects here to one single factor.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You had mentioned, Mr. Madrid, that there is no current requirement to have a casing underneath a railway.  Do you know why?

MR. MADRID:  It is not a requirement by code.  And we follow code as part of the installation.

MR. QUINN:  Can I ask by way of undertaking for you to check with your resources and determine if in the past casings were required, why that requirement for a casing has been eliminated from the code?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, and the relevance of the question is?

MR. QUINN:  The relevance of the question, Mr. Keizer, is the condition that existed in the 2006 incident is not indicative of the condition of the pipe overall because, based upon the evidence the company has presented, it is clear to some experienced engineers that the coating contributed to the corrosion incident that needed repair in 2006.

MR. KEIZER:  Just give me a moment.

I am not sure that your interpretation of the code or what has happened in the past or the reasons for the code is really within the context of this proceeding.  I mean, it is something that you are otherwise able to obtain, and it is on the public record.  So I would look to you --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, are you relying on this evidence that you have here?


MR. KEIZER:  We are relying on that.  Yes, Mr. Quinn.  We are.

MR. QUINN:  Well, then we are asking for, why was this presented in support of the pipeline?  Let's start there.

MR. KEIZER:  I would ask the panel to make -- respond to that question with respect to the importance of this evidence.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid.  Yes, this evidence was included because, again, it is one input into the overall decision here as to the condition of the pipe.

So whether, to your questioning here, the casing may have contributed to the corrosion or a number of factors contributed to that corrosion, the point of the matter here is that we've got a pipe that had degraded and it's corroded, and it is one additional input that we can identify that stresses the fact that the pipe needs to be replaced.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Madrid -- and I am recognizing the clock is going and these are fairly straightforward questions, so I am going to ask -- first off, Mr. Keizer, are you saying that you will not answer the previous undertaking request?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, you are able to go and interpret the code as well as anyone else.  I am not quite sure why Enbridge is undertaking to do so.

MR. QUINN:  It is your witnesses that are deemed to be the experts here.  I haven't been qualified as an expert witness in this proceeding, and so I am asking your witnesses to provide evidence, Mr. Keizer.  I think you would understand that.

MR. KEIZER:  I understand it very well, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  So I am asking them to go back and determine, if casings are no longer required, why were they removed from the code.  You have multiple staff who sit on the CSA code development committees.  There's got to be somebody who has that history.

MR. KEIZER:  Our position is it is not -- it's something that is publicly available and you can obtain that information if you need to.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, it's not publicly available.  It is through an organization that is private, and people can pay money, but then you would have to go back through the minutes of meetings over the years to try to figure out why that happened.  An entity that has hundreds of kilometres of steel pipe would understand this evolution better than I could try to recreate it.

So I am asking, will you accept that undertaking or are you refusing it?

MR. KEIZER:  I am refusing it.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  To the Enbridge panel, was a permanent repair put in place for the pipe in this incident?  If you need to take that back -- I'm sorry, the clock is running, and we can't read all of the evidence at this point.

I am asking for permanent repair has been -- was a permanent repair put in place to repair this pipeline back in 2006-2007, if that is when the final repair might have been completed, since this was done in December.

MR. MADRID:  Repairs were made at the time.

MR. QUINN:  Permanent repair.  I was specific, Mr. Madrid.  A permanent repair.

MR. MADRID:  A repair based on the CSA set 662 standards and our company standards and procedures were used in the repair option.

MR. QUINN:  And is deemed to be permanent, correct?

MR. MADRID:  It is deemed to meet the required codes, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  For a permanent repair?

MR. MADRID:  For what is required for a fulsome repair.

MR. QUINN:  Fulsome.  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, if you could define what you mean by permanent repair.

MR. QUINN:  Permanent, Mr. Keizer, means that you have not done a temporary rehabilitation that would need to
be -- have an ongoing assessment such that it is deemed to be a contributing factor to potential future degradation.

A permanent repair as defined by the code in the day said that that is a permanent repair, and there was no ongoing evaluation that need happen to be able to say that the pipe is still meeting this requirement.  Of course, any pipe has its ongoing evaluations, but in this case you don't have to have special procedures to go back and revisit this location because it was permanently repaired.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch here from Enbridge.  I would just like to direct your attention to page 30 of the PDF.  That is on page 16 of B.1.1.  You can see here at the top of the page here that the segment of gas main that was exhibiting heavy pitting was cut out and replaced, so it was a permanent solution.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  That clear, concise -- and what I was trying to get.  Thank you very much.

If we can move on to attachment 3, please.  Thank you.  And if you scroll down.  This is another example of evidence that the company has advanced in terms of the condition of the pipe.

Is this location the same location as the -- same -- in the vicinity of the 2006 casing -- sorry, road -- sorry, railroad crossing that was repaired in 2006?  Is this in the same vicinity?

If you are having trouble determining it, that is a yes or no --


MR. MADRID:  It is Byron Madrid here.  If we can again go back to Exhibit B, page 18, please.  Actually, yes.  So there is page 18.  So that is the location for the 2013 attachment that you were looking at.

If we scroll back two pages you can see for yourself that the 2006 was within the vicinity based on the map, probably just a little bit south of the 2013 situation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  These maps are very high-level.  I understand you're trying to cover multiple kilometres of pipe in one picture.

Can you provide more specificity, by way of undertaking, of how far from the 2006 repair the 2013 repairs were made?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we can undertake to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE MORE SPECIFICITY OF HOW FAR FROM THE 2006 REPAIR THE 2013 REPAIRS WERE MADE.

MR. QUINN:  Now, if we can move forward to attachment 5 in that same reference that you were on previously for attachment 3, so that would be Exhibit B, tab 1, Schedule 1 -- yeah, attachment 4.  And this is attachment 5.  The one previous was attachment 4.  I just want to make sure the witnesses know what I am referring to.

Thank you.  So there is two -- attachment 4 says, "the Pipeline Integrity Report of NPS 16 Line St. Laurent Boulevard at Highway 417."

Now, if you wouldn't mind going back to attachment 5
-- sorry to sound like I'm waffling, but I want to make sure I'm leading the panel to make sure they're informed before I ask the question.

This is NPS 16, St. Laurent Boulevard at Highway 417. The type of damage described in these attachments, my understanding from my read of it is that these -- the damages are as a result of third-party damage.  Is that correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And that type of damage can occur to any steel pipe regardless of its vintage.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, it can happen to any steel pipeline, regardless of its age.  But the fact of what the depth of cover is does have an impact on how often this pipeline can be damaged.

MR. QUINN:  How deep were these pipelines that were impacted in attachments 4 and 5?  I don't want to take up my time.  Can you take that by way of undertaking, to try to differentiate it on the basis of depth of cover.

I would like if you could provide the depth for these two respective pipelines.

MR. MADRID:  We can confirm the depth of those two pipelines.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  TO CONFIRM THE DEPTH OF THE TWO PIPELINES


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Again, I don't want to get caught in semantics, but I will use the term permanent.  I will allow -- I shouldn't say allow, but I accept that Enbridge may have a different definition.

But each of these repairs were done with a sleeve, if you read through the attachments.  I won't take you through them.

Is the sleeve that was used considered a permanent repair?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, that is correct.  The sleeve is considered a permanent repair.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  If we can move forward now to attachment 6, page 1.

That is helpful, Ms. Allman, if you could just scroll down a little bit more.  Yes.  I am looking for the comments.  Thank you very much.

So this is on the same pipeline, of course, and it says:
"We are concerned about severe corrosion at the north and south end of the NPS 16 XHP main where the pipe comes out of the ground.  There is a pipe anchor installed at each end with a pipe sleeve welded to the top and sides of the main...,"
and it references a diagram that I won't turn up.  It says:
"We are unsure if it is the main or anchor sleeves that are corroding."


Are you aware of whether it was the pipe or the sleeve, these anchor sleeves that were corroding?  Maybe I can help you -- unless you have an answer.

MR. MURDOCH:  I am just searching for a reference in our interrogatory response.

MR. QUINN:  Try IRR Ottawa 9.
"The reports from 2015 and 2016 indicated corrosion was found on the welded brackets installed at each end of the bridge."

That is the last sentence on the screen, anyway.

Does that confirm for you that it was on the brackets and not the pipe?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Sorry to flop you back, Ms. Allman, but if we can go back, that's the Exhibit B, tab 1, attachment 8 this time.  Starting at ​the first page, it says "Indirect Inspection Final Report", and this is approximately a year old, February 18th, 2021.  Do you see that?

MR. MADRID:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you would scroll down to page 20, starting on page 20 of that attachment, please.  I wanted to skip all of the details.  I am sure you have read this several times.

But what I am reading in the summary table is, the number of -- well, okay.  As opposed to me leading you through it, can you tell me what the anomaly summary table tells us?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  The report basically summarized the findings from the indirect assessment done identifying the different anomalies, number of sections and locations.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And if you would scroll down a little further, Ms. Allman.  It says -- stop there.  Thank you.
"The following are recommendations for further work that could improve the integrity of the pipeline, as well as improve correlation."


So there are a number of recommendations underneath here and I think it goes on to page 21.  If you allow the witnesses to get familiar with that, and there is the end of it on page 21.

I read those -- maybe I will be careful not leading the witness.

What is pureHM saying should be done as a result of the assessment that they did?  What are they recommending?

MR. MADRID:   Ms. Walter, if we could take a couple of minutes in the breakout room, and have the panel have a discussion and provide a response.

MS. WALTER:  I have opened the rooms.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. QUINN:  Just a sound check.  Ms. Walter, can you hear me okay?

MS. WALTER:  Yes, very clear.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  I should have done that at the outset.

MR. LADANYI:  Are we off the record or not?

MR. QUINN:  We are still on the record, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  I was going to say that I was involved in the CSA committee that --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Ladanyi, I would prefer if the witnesses were able to hear what you say --


MR. LADANYI:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  -- and they're in a position to respond accordingly.  But I welcome your contribution.  Your experience in this area would be most helpful.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I could ask a scheduling question to Mr. Keizer while we're waiting.  Our day is very tight, it goes right to five after five, which I guess to me is five minutes over.  But if we do go over today, is Enbridge's panel available to come back on Monday?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know and we should try to finish today.  I don't know.

MR. BROPHY:  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  I have the same concern.  In my time estimate I didn't include a lot of pauses and breakouts, so I don't know how to handle that.

But at this pace, it is very likely the Enbridge panel could go into Monday, unless things kind of speed up a little bit.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I don't think it is fair for you to first of all be champing them to speed up.  They're answering it the best way they can.  I mean, there is a lot of material here, and there are a lot of technical questions that Mr. Quinn is asking.  So to the extent that they have to take the time to answer it or they have a breakout room, they have a right to do so, and that is something you should have otherwise contemplated when you prepared your examination.

So let's see what we get to today, and then we will decide where we go from there.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I am just putting the notice up early just so I don't come later today with it.  Thanks.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, I see the witnesses are back, and I won't take up more time now, but it is something I would like to address when we have a moment of down time.

MR. KEIZER:  Fine.  You can address it if you wish.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.

So based off of the context of this overall report, pureHM has given us a couple of different conclusions.  And Enbridge has definitely taken these into account.

The first recommendation is to correlate the results of this inspection with all other available records for inspection, construction, operational history, and that is what we have done in our evidence for B1.1.  We have compiled all of that correlated data, and that is what led to the overall replacement project that we put forth an application for.

It did notice that there was some CP levels at the time, or did notice that the CP levels were only indicative at the time of inspection, they could change.  We have implemented regular monitoring of cathodic protection levels on this pipeline.

The third recommendation was to make sure that any areas of inadequate cathodic protection were remedied, and again, Enbridge has taken steps to make sure that all of the pipeline has adequate cathodic protection now.

The fourth one is to make sure that cathodic protection is not operated so that the structure does not become excessively polarized.  And again, we have implemented that through a regular cathodic monitoring program to make sure that we adjusted as required.

The fourth -- or the fifth recommendation is to initiate a confirmatory dig program.  Again, we have not done that because, based off of the entirety of the evidence, is the overall risk of this pipeline is too great for Enbridge to assume, and so we have put forth a replacement program.

So it wouldn't be prudent expenditure to do a dig program immediately followed by a replacement of the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch, for those comprehensive answers.  I am going to ask a couple of follow-up questions on that, and then I am going to ask Mr. Ladanyi, who interjected while you were out, to ask a question.

But in respect of your answers, are Enbridge's actions, short of replacing the pipe -- and I want to be specific about that -- short of replacing the pipe, the remediation, I think is the word you used, activities that you are doing, the regular monitoring, the adjustments to your cathodic protection system, are those any different than you would do with any other pipeline -- sorry, steel pipeline in the Enbridge territory?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  No, they're not any different than what our requirement is to protect our assets.  So I wouldn't call them remediation activities.

These are simple cathodic protection processes and programs that need to be executed to maintain the pipeline at the current status.

It is important to note, though, that even though we've got adequate cathodic protection today, that does not resolve the degradation of the pipe that has been experienced since it was installed up to this date.

MR. QUINN:  And that is done -- it will be a good segue in a moment, but Mr. Ladanyi, thanks for your patience.  If you would like to proceed for clarification.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can everybody hear me?  Very good.

So this was in relation to the case crossings.  As it turns out, I was actually in the CSA committee that recommended that case crossings be removed.  The committee was called Crossings Taskforce and it worked from 1983 to 1988.

So what happened after that is that a lot of pipeline companies one day actually experienced corrosion in the case crossings, would actually remove the casings.

So the question really for you is, has Enbridge been removing casings when there is corrosion at the case crossings?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid.  Mr. Ladanyi, we would have to take that back and confirm what our current process is. I would believe that that would be the case, but we would like to confirm that for you.

MR. LADANYI:  In this particular location, which was referenced in the report, was that crossing removed afterwards?

MR. KEIZER:  You mean the crossing removed or the casing --

MR. LADANYI:  No, the casing.  Sorry, I misspoke, the casing removed.  The pipe would stay in place.  Actually, what pipeline companies normally would have done, they would have actually put in a new pipe at the location, so they would take the pipe and the casing out and then they would have welded in a new pipe.

MR. QUINN:  Could that just be added to that undertaking?

MR. MADRID:  We can confirm what we exactly did for that repair.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And just while you are on that undertaking and before we ask Mr. Keizer if he will accept it, Mr. Ladanyi has given us the benefit of his experience, in terms of the timing or the -- when the -- approximately when the casing requirements changed for the code.

With that information, could the company undertake to confirm or give its version of, were casings required before and subsequently were they removed from the code?

MR. LADANYI:  Since we're in a technical conference, if I could just say something.  The casings were required right from the beginning of time.  There was a requirement by the railways -- it was called the E10 requirement, which stretched back to the 1920s.  It wasn't any -- for any pipe crossing railway.  So it was in place all the time from, I would say from the time the first pipelines were ever built in Canada to the late '80s.

MR. MILLAR:  Gentlemen, it is Michael Millar.  There are numerous undertaking requests which I have lost track of, and I don't know if any of them have been agreed to.  So can we get a clear statement of what is being undertaken, if anything?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  I will try to do that, but I want to hear Mr. Keizer's response on the last addition of the company confirming what Mr. Ladanyi has benefited the technical conference with.

MR. KEIZER:  At this point it remains the same.  We will take it away at the lunch hour and get back to you, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you are going to take an undertaking, but you'll qualify the undertaking with specificity after lunch?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  With respect to what Mr. Ladanyi said and your previous question about the code change, we're still remaining with the refusal, but we will clarify whether we are going to maintain that or provide an undertaking.  So I have to seek instructions in that regard.

MR. QUINN:  Fair enough.  But the original request was, how was the -- was the casing removed, and I heard Mr. Madrid saying he would take that back in this process.

Are you accepting that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  I believe that, yes, that with respect to the particular work that was done on this pipe in terms of the casing being removed and confirming that or not, I had understood Mr. Madrid say that we would take that away and confirm it.

MR. MILLAR:  So that is JT1.4, and that is whether the casing -- Mr. Quinn, give me a ten-word overview of it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To -- I am going to be a little bit more than ten, Mr. Millar, but I will be specific.  For the issue that was described in attachment 2, when the repair was done, was the casing removed also.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO ADVISE, FOR THE ISSUE THAT WAS DESCRIBED IN ATTACHMENT 2, WHEN THE REPAIR WAS DONE, WAS THE CASING REMOVED ALSO.

MR. QUINN:  That is helpful, Mr. Millar.

Okay.  Again, I don't have a transcript in front of me, so I can't repeat Mr. Madrid's words, but he talked about, corrosion that may have already occurred won't be fixed by cathodic protection.  Is that an appropriate summary, Mr. Madrid?


MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So I understand -- and we are going to head off into a different area here -- who on this panel is very familiar with non-destructive examination of pipelines?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid.  I am aware of some of the non-destructive technology pipelines.  That's it, yes.



MR. QUINN:  Okay, familiar with.  But you would not qualify yourself as an expert in this proceeding.

You are not -- you are not a subject matter expert from your company's perspective on non-destructive examination?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We did send in our letter earlier this week with a specific request to make sure the company is able to answer questions in this area.

I am going to ask the questions, and to the extent that the Enbridge panel is not able or willing to take an undertaking to respond to them, then we will maybe have to talk later on around the break.

But I will go through the questions and Mr. Madrid, I respect that -- you're an engineer, correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So you would define your limitations in terms of being able to render a technical opinion on something by the Engineers' Code of Ethics, correct?

MR. MADRID:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Mr. Madrid, I should have said it this way.  No disrespect, sir, I wanted to make sure that is clear on the record for anybody who is a non-engineer as to what I was referring to.

Inline inspection traditionally happens where the pipeline pave that travels down a pipeline moved by pressure while taking readings on the pipe wall thickness, deformations and other anomalies that could constitute a potential problem, now or in the future.

Would you agree with that, Mr. Madrid?

MR. MADRID:  That's correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MADRID:  Do you mind letting me know what specific reference you are making here so we can put it up on the screen?

MR. QUINN:  We are going to get to that in a moment.  I just wanted to make sure we're laying a foundation, Mr. Madrid.  I didn't take that from Websters; I came up with that definition myself.  I just thought it would be important so that it gives context to anybody reading the transcript.

But in this proceeding -- and there is multiple references to this -- so just a high level, we understand Enbridge is saying the St. Laurent line is undiggable due to obstructions so traditional digging would not be able to be done without significant changes to the pipeline.

That is a summary of what I believe is in your evidence, Mr. Madrid.

MR. MADRID:  Yes, it is the company's position that for us to inline inspect the entirety of the pipeline, there are a number of retrofits and filters that would have to be installed or replaced.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we can differentiate that in a moment, but to your point and I respect that.

If we can go to the table 8 that is referenced, I can get an IRR reference or -- it is in the first B1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 8.  I just don't have a page number.  I'm sorry, Ms. Allman.

It is on page 51 one of the PDF.  If you just go up to the page number 51.  There we go.  Thank you.

Sorry, I should have had that in advance, a more specific reference for you.  Table 8 was a part of our inquiry and other's inquiry in terms of the retrofits required for in line inspection.

These are the modifications that we were just talking about, Mr. Madrid?

MR. MADRID:  Correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So the retrofits specifically are $24 million to allow digging.  But on the next page, -- Ms. Allman, on table 9 -- you said in addition to 24 million, there would be concerns about debris and other things coming up as a result of inspection and so you have additional costs associated with protecting your stations in the event a traditional digging operation occurred.

Is that a correct summary?

MR. MADRID:  That is a correct summary.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So, Mr. Madrid, I trust that you are aware that in the last ten years, significant advances have been made in robotics that allow inline inspections of previously undiggable lines, is that correct?

MR. MADRID:  I am aware.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have experience with this technology?

MR. MADRID:  I have some experience with that technology.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Thank you.  Okay.  I think this is the appropriate time and we had sent in a compendium of material.  We had a busy week and I am losing exactly when -- it was Wednesday night.

Can that compendium -- thank you, Ms. Allman has it up there ready.

Mr. Millar, I don't think this has been given a reference.

MR. MILLAR:  It has not.  So let's mark it KT 1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  FRPO COMPENDIUM


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  The company has experience with this technology, correct?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, Enbridge has experience with this technology.

MR. QUINN:  And it is used -- well, I was about to say across North America, but really around the world.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  According to the information you provided, that is the indication.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  So the information I provided did have one important aspect to it and that is on page -- I will make sure -- page 2 of 15 of tab 1.  Go down to the third page of the PDF.  That is actually nicely centred.

You can see across North America the different places this technology has been used including and especially left-middle Mississauga, Ontario.

Mr. Madrid, are you familiar with that application of the technology?

MR. MADRID:  I am aware that it was used on one of our legacy Union pipelines.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And just to locate that pipeline, this is in Mississauga.  So my presumption -- you can correct me -- it would be between Dawn and the former Lisgar station that delivers gas to Enbridge?  Is that correct?

MR. MADRID:  I believe, to be specific, it is the 34- inch pipeline that goes from Parkway to Lisgar.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I said Dawn.  Thank you for correcting the record, yes.  Parkway to Lisgar, 34-inch, that is helpful.

If we can scroll down to page 8.  Sorry, I said 8; it is 7.  It is 8 of my PDF.  I'm sorry I'm missing the reference myself.

I don't think anything turns on this specifically, but are you aware of the cost of that inspection?

MR. MADRID:  No, I am not aware of the cost of the inspection.

MR. QUINN:  Would you, by way of undertaking, be able to provide that, please?

MR. KEZIER:  We can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO ADVISE THE COST OF THE INSPECTION REFERRED TO ON PAGE 8


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Millar, I should have prefaced this a little better before Mr. Keizer said yes, but what we would be looking for is the cost of the inspection.

Mr. Madrid has provided the size of the pipeline, that was the question I had.  And what results the company achieved from the inspection.

Would that be acceptable to add to the undertaking, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  If we can move forward to tab 2 of the compendium, please.

Now, if we go to page 1.  I should have done that for the record with the previous, but it is an exhibit, so we should refer to it properly.  This is entitled "long-distance inspection with robotic technology", and it outlines the experience of the company working with Manitoba Hydro to do a 8.25 kilometre 10-inch pipe in Brandon, Manitoba.  Do you see that?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, my understanding is that this has been -- this project specifically has been presented at multiple pipeline forums -- well, in Canada and potentially beyond that, but I know in Canada.

Are you familiar with this project, Mr. Madrid?

MR. KEIZER:  Can I ask the relevance of this project in Manitoba to this project?

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. Keizer, this is new technology.  The 8.5 -- or, sorry, 8.25 kilometres of 10-inch is more comparable to the project, in my view, of St. Laurent than the 34-inch project that Enbridge has direct experience.

So this is the application of the technology, in another jurisdiction, admittedly, but it is the same technology and the same type of pipe at a comparable length.

So it is creating understanding for the Board as to what other companies are doing to overcome unpiggable pipelines.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, but I don't think that is for Enbridge to be able to respond to.  They can respond to what their understanding as a company and their experience with respect to the technology, and they already have.

I don't think that they are in a position to be able to respond to what Manitoba Hydro is or is not doing with this technology or the nature of that pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  To the witness panel, are you members of CGA?  Canadian Gas Association?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think that is relevant either.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, sir, with due respect, it is part of the memberships that are paid for through rates, and the company's -- I think the Board's expectation of the company that it would stay aware of new developments and technology that would be applicable to assisting the utility in maintaining a safe pipeline system and from a ratepayer perspective at a prudent cost.

That is part of why the company would join an organization like CGA.  So I again ask the question, it is not on the record anywhere, so I am just asking confirmation that the company is a member of the Canadian Gas Association.

MR. KEIZER:  I still don't believe it is relevant, Mr. Quinn.  So you might move on.

MR. QUINN:  Well, it is relevant to the extent that I am going to be asking for the company to go through the CGA, which has this study in more detail as to how it was presented at the conferences and more details that would be helpful, potentially, including -- and what we're ultimately seeking -- what the cost of this project would be.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  We are not going to do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if I were to get the cost of that project, how would I get that on the record, Mr. Keizer, to provide a comparable project so the Board will understand what the order of magnitude of costs would be of a project that could have application to St. Laurent?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, Mr. Quinn, you had the opportunity to put evidence in this proceeding.  You chose not to.  That is up to you how you decide to put your own evidence in --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, let me try to handle it this way, Mr. Keizer.

Did the company assess the capability of this technology for robotic inline inspection for application to assessing the St. Laurent pipeline?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Yes, we did.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, you did.  Okay.  Can I then ask you to undertake to provide the report that the company did to inform its decision that this technology would not be used in this project?

MR. MADRID:  There is no report, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Well, somebody would have had to make the assessment when what you've advanced the Board is it will cost $30 million to understand the condition of the current pipe, because of its unpiggable condition.

And there is technology out there that is being used by many other utilities, including Enbridge, that could provide information that would help the assessment of this pipeline.

Somebody in the organization must have assessed it -- it sounds like they did -- and then provided a report to management to say that this technology will not work in this application.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Mr. Quinn, this technology, yes, can be used to inline inspect pipes that typically wouldn't be able to get pigged with the standard inline inspection tools.

But what you have to be mindful and what the Board needs to also understand is that this tool -- just as any other tool -- has to have specific specifications, requirements, reduction of constraints.  It has to meet the purpose and the pipeline and the intent of what you are trying to do here, or accomplish.

With this specific example here, yes, great, Manitoba Hydro here was able to inline inspect 8.25 kilometres, basically, what's stated here.  But if I could direct you down to page 32 there, Ms. Allman.

MR. QUINN:  32 at the bottom of the -- just to clarify, I am following you, Ms. Allman, here.

MR. MADRID:  Right there.  You cannot compare the two pipelines here.  We're not talking about St. Laurent being in the middle of farmland, such as this example here.

Some of the requirements for this technology is that it can only go a certain distance before it needs to be charged.  So based on that drawing, as you can tell, it required 13 charge locations or charging stations, including four different launch sites.

So all of these things would have to be taken into account on whether you can apply that kind of infrastructure on to the pipeline based on the location of your pipeline.

So in evaluating this technology for the St. Laurent pipeline, as we have said through all our evidence and through our interrogatory responses, a majority of this pipeline is under the roadway.

If I can ask you, Ms. Allman, to maybe just scroll down one more page for the corresponding pictures of how that technology was used.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Stop there.  My --


MR. MADRID:  Just a little bit more.

MR. QUINN:  Ms. Allman, if I can look at that picture.  You are talking about page 32.  Does that not look like pipelines underneath the roadway as an application for this technology?

MR. MADRID:  This is an advertisement for something totally different, Mr. Quinn.  It has nothing to do with the technology that we're talking about right now.

MR. QUINN:  It sounds --


MR. MADRID:  Another promotional advertisement --


MR. QUINN:  All right.  I will let you carry on.  I don't agree with that, but I will let you carry on.

MR. MADRID:  That is with regards to keyhole technology, from what I can see.  Not with regards to the inline inspection tool using a crawler.  So if we can scroll down to the next page there, Ms. Allman, page 33.  You will see the type of infrastructure that is required.  On the right is the lawn chair type of infrastructure that needs to be added to a pipe.  This picture here is what was used in Manitoba Hydro, which is a 10-inch.  Yes, we have got a 12-inch, so you may see slightly bigger equipment there that would be required.  The charging stations are the picture on the left side.

So again, for us to contemplate this down the middle of the road of St. Laurent would be a little difficult to do.  So in the evaluation that Enbridge did in trying to examine where we could apply this technology, there was only one area that we could apply it potentially, and it was an area where we may be able to add a lawn chair, because it is on the edge of the boulevard, so we would have been taking up the boulevard, the bicycle path, and part of the roadway to try to install that lawn chair.

And in addition to that, we would only be able to add one to two chargers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But you are familiar with the fact that you have the need to charge, but there are also tethered applications of these robots, correct?

MR. MADRID:  Tethered applications of these robots also have limitations on how long they can go.  These robots are very good examples of tools that can be used, but more commonly used for short lengths.  This is one example where, based on the environment here across farmlands, they were able to basically extend that length by the number of different charge stations and also lawn chair locations.

MR. QUINN:  And since that project has Pipetel improved their battery to get a longer duration of travel?

MR. MADRID:  From what I read in the promotional documentation that you submitted there, there is mention from Pipetel that they realize that the limited charging is an issue and they're working towards trying to lengthen that.

MR. QUINN:  And my question was, are you aware if they have been successful in doing that?

MR. MADRID:  At this point, we have not had any communication to follow up on that.

MR. QUINN:  Could you undertake to do that, to provide an update as to whether they have improved the battery and with that potential, if it has been improved, could have application to the St. Laurent.

MR. KEIZER:  No, we won't.



MR. QUINN:  So you have new technology which could save millions of dollars, tens of millions of dollars in assessing the pipeline, and you won't pursue it for the benefit of the Board?

MR. KEIZER:  It is not for us to investigate what Pipetel's technology is or isn't.  It is something you are putting forward, Mr. Quinn.  We have answered the questions about our ability to use it on St. Laurent.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to potentially circle back, but I will move forward.  I will stick with this compendium before we go back to the evidence.

But if you would please scroll down, Ms. Allman, to page 32 of the PDF.  This is produced by PG&E, which is a utility in California; correct?

MR. MADRID:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  So this is an answer summary in the top right of the diameters of pipes, number of inspections and the lengths of these projects that have been undertaken since 2013.

Do you see that?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, I see the table there, sir.

MR. QUINN:  How many robots -- how many projects has Enbridge used to inspect its pipelines that were previously undiggable with robots since 2013?

MR. MADRID:  I do not have that information handy, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Would you be able to provide that, please?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, what does this have to do with the St. Laurent pipeline about what they did across their system?

The witness indicated why it can't be used in the road allowance that exists in Ottawa, and I don't understand this.

Quite frankly, I don't understand -- and quite honestly, that the Board order said the questions in this proceeding were to be clarification of matters arising from the interrogatories.

I haven't yet seen you go to an interrogatory and ask for clarification of anything.  And this is all brand new information.

So can you enlighten me then, Mr. Quinn, as to why what is happening generally has anything to do, given the physical specifications and location of the St. Laurent pipeline?

MR. QUINN:  We asked questions of the table 8 that the company provided.  If you need me to turn up a specific reference, Mr. Keizer, I can do that.  But ourselves and others asked questions about table 8 and the cost that was presented to the Board, in terms of the cost to inspect this pipe.

Is the panel aware and mindful that questions were asked in this area?

MR. KEIZER:  I understand what you are saying, Mr. Quinn.  But you are asking questions about the digging of the line and you have asked questions about using the robot on this particular line.  He has answered those questions about the use on this particular line.

The general application on any other line in Enbridge I don't see as being relevant.

MR. QUINN:  It is, sir, in that we are in this proceeding, but it informs the Board's proceeding in terms of rate impacts in the ICM proceeding, and this proceeding is about prudency.  Correct?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  This proceeding is abut the public interests in the context of a leave-to-construct, not to be associated with costs.  If you wish to address those, you can address those in the rates proceeding.

MR. QUINN:  It is about the alternatives the company is choosing, or asking the Board for permission to lay a pipe instead of rehabilitating that pipe.  Correct?

MR. KEIZER:  It is about the public interest within the context of a leave-to-construct.  The comparison between California and what they do generally on the system I told you I don't believe is relevant.

So if you want to continue to ask the questions, I will continue to indicate what is relevant or not relevant.  But with respect to that question, it is not relevant.

MR. QUINN:  So that is a refusal?

MR. KEIZER:  Whatever you want, Mr. Quinn.  It is not relevant.  We are not going to answer the question.  We have already answered fully on what the implication is for the system.  So let's move on.

MR. QUINN:  I did ask if they could tell us how many robotic inspections have been done.  You're saying you will refuse to provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  It is not relevant, sir.  So if you want to take that as a refusal, take it as that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Quinn, if I could interject?  Just while we're on this topic, it might be easier to ask for an undertaking now.



We would be interested in an undertaking listing the times that Enbridge Gas has used inline robotics, the diameter, and the distance of the inspections, and the purpose of that is to compare the feasibility of those projects with the feasibility of using inline robotics in this particular case.  Can you provide that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we will not.  You are asking us to go through every possible circumstances that may be completely and entirely irrelevant to this particular line, which is the issue before this Board.  And for what purpose, other than the fact that a robotic inspections happen and sometimes they take place on the system?

MR. ELSON:  No, Mr. Keizer.  Your witnesses have said that it is not feasible to use robotic inline inspections and there have been a lot of questions about whether that is true or not.

And one of the ways to look into that is to say, well, here else has Enbridge used robotic inline inspections, what's been diameter of the pipe and what is the distance.

I guess the additional piece of information that might be helpful is, you know, the terrain, whether it was farmland or underneath roads.

Maybe I could start by asking if that is something that would be feasible to provide an answer for.

MR. KEIZER:  The answer would be we still deem it not to be relevant on what happens unrelated to this.

The witness has said what he believes is the ability to do it in the tradition, the ordinary diggable way, or in this technology that Mr. Quinn is talking about.

He's addressed that with respect to both the physical constraints of the pipeline and its location, and doing a comparison exercise really serves no purpose with respect to the St. Laurent pipeline.  So the answer is no.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I will have to leave it there because it is a refusal.  But we will be making submissions that the Board shouldn't be approving this expenditure without this kind of exploration of feasibility, and we will leave those to argument.

Thank you.  Sorry to interject, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Not at all, Mr. Elson.  I appreciate it.  Mr. Keizer, while Mr. Elson was speaking with you and trying to get the information I was seeking, also if I could ask that we turn up FRPO 15, attachment 2, page 9.  Thank you.

So if I could direct your attention to the St. Laurent row on that chart -- and to give it context, these are your vintage steel main plans.  I understand this presentation was made, I think -- and I don't have a complete reference, but you can tell me if I am wrong -- this presentation was made to senior management in 2019 at various times.

MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so if we go to the second column from the Lakeshore -- sorry, the St. Laurent pipeline, you will see in the box there it says "use of Pipetel ILI crawler tool."

First off, is that the same type of robotics that we were discussing in terms of central Manitoba and its potential application to St. Laurent?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, it is, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  So it says in the next six months that this is what Enbridge staff were going to do.  And they're reporting to senior management.

Can you provide the report that flowed from that assessment that recommended that this technology not be pursued?

MR. MADRID:  As stated before, Mr. Quinn, there is no report.  And if you read this specifically, that says "explore other methods to identify integrity dig locations."

So as I mentioned earlier, before we did explore this for the St. Laurent, and the ability to use this tool for the entirety of the pipeline was not possible.

MR. QUINN:  If that is the case, why was that not put in evidence?  Why wasn't that part of your application?

MR. KEIZER:  It is on the record.  You have got it in front of you right now.

MR. QUINN:  It was on the record by request of all internal documents, but it was not part of the application.  Unless the witness panel can point me to where it is in the application?

MR. KEIZER:  They filed its evidence, Mr. Quinn, the best way possible, and so to the extent that you have questions about it, you should ask questions about it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So is it -- so the applicability was discussed with senior management when seeking the approval for the replacement of the project to proceed.

Is it the normal course of action that in seeking approval for a project of over $100 million there is no official report approved by technical managers that go to senior management?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  In this particular example, the project team was exploring other technologies and other studies that they could utilize to try to get additional information as part of the overall inputs to this project.  And as such, we explored these options.

The presentation to the senior management here was some of the things that we would be looking at.  There was no intent to come back reporting on each of these individual ones, as we had enough information already collected and input.

MR. QUINN:  I didn't use the word before, but I understood in 2019 there were a series of meetings with senior management on these -- on this issue of pipelines that were being assessed and potentially replaced?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, there were a number of meetings.  Not necessarily with the same senior management.  There are different business units.

MR. QUINN:  So there was no request by anybody to authorize a 100-million-dollar project.  There was no technical reports associated with it?

MR. MADRID:  As per our filed evidence, Mr. Quinn, there we have also provided the board -- the Enbridge board of directors' approval there for this project to proceed.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  But Enbridge board of directors is pretty high-level and don't necessarily get involved in the technical aspects from a strategic level like Enbridge's senior management would.

Are you saying that there is no technical report that relates to the assessment of the applicability of this technology or other technologies, as you said you were assessing, that went to senior management?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.  There are no individual reports with regards to these technologies.  The report that references these projects is the asset management plan, which has been communicated to all senior management.

MR. QUINN:  You said there is no individual reports, but this was a package of projects.

If I may, Ms. Allman, can you just scroll up just a bit.  I lost context of the slide and [audio dropout] quicker.

So this is your vintage steel main plan.  This is part of your asset management plan.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  So I am not asking for an individual report.  This is your vintage steel main plan you presented multiple times to senior management.

We are asking for all technical reports that were used to either inform this presentation or asked for for approval in the approval to proceed to ask the board of directors of Enbridge Inc. for the 100-million-dollar project.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you saying you want -- sorry, can you just repeat that, Mr. Quinn, so I understand it?

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Madrid talked about this, there was no individual report.  This is a vintage steel main plan which informs your asset management plan.  It was presented multiple times to senior management, maybe different people, as Mr. Madrid has qualified.

I am asking for all technical reports that would have been done to inform these presentations, and any technical reports that would be associated with getting approval to proceed to the Enbridge Inc. board of directors to ask for capital.

MR. KEIZER:  Just give me a moment.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, I am just about to ask one or two more questions and then move on to another area.  I trust it would be appropriate to take a break at that time?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think that is right -- pardon me, I think that's right, Dwayne.  We had on the schedule around 11:05, so if you are just finishing up one area that would probably make sense to do that, and then we could take a break.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  I think what Enbridge's position is is that the basis of this project was included in the asset management plan, plus also the reports that were filed within the context of this proceeding, and I think Mr. Madrid indicated that there was no one report or other report that necessarily underpinned the recommendations that were made to the board of directors as part of the presentation.  That's already been provided.

MR. QUINN:  You say that is your position.  We are asking you to check to -- because maybe there was something in our question that didn't have people look, and I didn't ask it specifically, to these presentations and to the requests for capital, we're asking for all technical reports that were done by the company to proceed with this project.

MR. KEIZER:  Let me take it away over the lunch hour, Mr. Quinn, and see whether there actually is any or not or what the position exactly will be.  We will get back to you after lunch.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And Mr. Keizer, I respect that you may not have been listening to, when considering.

I said to Mr. Millar I have a couple of more questions in this area and then I trust we will take a break that I would appreciate.  I am sure your witnesses would also.

So if robotic technology were used, the costs of preparation outlined in table 8 that we referred to previously would not be required.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is not correct, Mr. Quinn.  Some of those fittings are still restrictions or constraints that would not allow that tool to proceed along the pipeline.

As stated earlier, before the tool has a place for it and it has to have the right pipeline, the right fittings for it to go through.

MR. QUINN:  And can you be specific as to what fittings the tool would not be able to go through?  We can go to table 8 if that would be helpful for reference.  That is table 8 in Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, and I gave the reference before and I don't have it -- I didn't write it down.  But page 51?  There we are.  Thank you.

So can you tell me which of those fittings would have to be replaced if used for robotic technology?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  First of all, the tool cannot go through port valves; it would need to have a full port valve.  So if we were to contemplate locations where we have a valve to go through the valves that have to be replaced.

Similarly, some of the fittings, such as line stopper fittings, three-way Ts, so a number of these --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Madrid, Mr. Madrid.  I want to be really respectful here as an engineer.

I asked you a question and you had said earlier on -- and I asked you to reflect on that you're not a subject matter expert.

MR. KEIZER:  That is unfair, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Just a minute, Mr. Keizer.  If you let me finish, what I am trying to do is respect Mr. Madrid as an engineer.  But I am asking questions that may be outside the scope of his knowledge.

I can put on the screen, after the break, if you like, how these tools can go through plug valves which are, to use Mr. Madrid's words, "not a full port valve."

So these tools do that, and so I would respectfully, on behalf of Mr. Madrid, suggest that the company take that back, because Mr. Madrid is not -- as he said up front, he's not a subject matter expert.

And there is information that I can put on the record that would demonstrate that that is not correct.  So I am protecting your witness, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I am going to ask the witness to answer the way he sees fit.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I just want to be fair to Mr. Madrid.

MR. MADRID:  In the company's discussions with Pipetel in exploring this tool, they clearly identified the fittings that the tool was not able to go through.

As part of the exercise, the company would have to look at all of these fittings and confirm that the tool can go through.

But before we even get to that point, Mr. Quinn, as stated before, the tool has its application in certain conditions.  One of them -- and if you're in farmland, definitely you could apply this.  In our current St. Laurent densely populated roadway, there was one area where we could have potentially utilized this tool and it would have been for a length of approximately 1.2 kilometers.

So that in itself still does not resolve or provide us with the entire information for the rest of the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to accept that answer just on Pipetel, because you were specific you went to Pipetel to ask.  Are there other robotic inline inspection providers?

MR. MADRID:  To my understanding, there are other providers.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MADRID:  As part of the -- sorry, as part of the information we supplied you was specific to Pipetel and your questions were related to the tool being used by Pipetel.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, I did not put in my evidence to say this is the only one I am going to ask the company to consider.  You yourself said in the slide that we reviewed that you were going to look at the Pipetel crawler and other technologies.

And there are other technologies, as you have just confirmed.  And so we're asking that the company, tell us which of these fittings can -- robotic inspection technology, not necessarily Pipetel, which one of these fittings can they not go through.

MR. KEIZER:  That's a bit unfair, the fact that you know, you're asking for the whole world of technologies and then whether or not those actually go through this.  You can ask --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, this is the level of diligence that we would expect the company to undertake before advancing a hundred-million-dollar project.

MR. KEIZER:  That's excellent that you may think that, Mr. Quinn, but I think your question is unfair.

MR. QUINN:  I am asking it.  Are you refusing to take it?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, because I think it is -- you're asking for the global view of all technologies and whether or not fittings work or don't work --


MR. QUINN:  Robotic technologies associated with inline inspection.  There are not many providers, but there are more than Pipetel.

MR. KEIZER:  We're not providing that response.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Millar, I think I will leave it there, because I think it would be helpful to have a break.  I am back in your hands.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Let's take our morning break.  11:20, please.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:06 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:21 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Dwayne, have you joined us?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I pass it back to you continue to continue with your questions?

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We're in good company together.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And I think this is the appropriate time to do it, is before I get launched into questions, and I may not have much time at the end.  Questions were asked about the availability of this panel for Monday.

We have tried to as best we can narrow our questions, and I am sure others have done that also.  Mr. Keizer said -- I don't want to extrapolate that -- my understanding is he is -- he would answer later, simply put it that way, but I have some questions that I may not get to, given how our early morning session went to.

We would request that Enbridge take the lunch hour and poll its panel to find out if they are available in fact for Monday.  Is that something you can do, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Do you know what?  I just think that we're just -- we're two hours into this stuff.  You guys are covering a lot of detail.  I just think it's -- to start planning on Monday at the lunch break I think is a bit premature.  Let's see where we get to and decide where we are going to go from there.  This is not --


MR. QUINN:  I am not planning on Monday.  I am asking if you could just ask them their availability and you would at least be able to report on that because, in my case, I have questions that I can otherwise defer and allow others to ask their questions, and they may not be wanting to ask those questions on Monday.

So I am asking that that be provided as a possibility, not a requirement.

MR. KEIZER:  I think we should all try to get this done today if we can.  I think everybody is trying their best, so we should all just keep on trying our best, and then we will see where we get to.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, if I could speak to that -- sorry, go ahead, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, Mr. Elson, I was going to make a comment that was probably not helpful.  Go ahead, please.

MR. ELSON:  I was just going to say I don't think anyone is proposing to decide now whether we need to continue with Enbridge on Monday.  What Dwayne is proposing is to know whether Enbridge is available for Monday, because we have a half day available on Monday.  And the reason to figure that out now rather than later is out of respect for people who come later in the order today, and I see Mr. Quinn is nodding, because Mr. Quinn knows that if he goes over his time, you know, he has to have respect for people later in the order and wouldn't want to bump them out and create an issue.

So I think for everyone's planning purposes the more information we have sooner rather than later the better.  I know personally it would be very helpful for my planning to know that, because the parties need to juggle timing as between themselves, so on and so forth.  So, you know, if you could figure that out over the lunch time, that would be very much appreciated from our perspective as well for scheduling and otherwise.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I just think that this is turning into a situation where, you know, it is an indefinite technical conference, and I don't want to see that.  We set aside this day, and unfortunately we have already now tripped over to Monday for Ottawa.

And just, my concern is, you know, as much as we have an obligation to try to answer the questions and do so effectively, you have some obligations to be able to organize your questioning to try to see if we can fit this within the day.

And so, you know, obviously we want to be cooperative with respect to it, but I guess my concern is, it's like, okay, well, we're going to go over, so we can, you know, not have that onus on you to do so, and I think it is important that you do.

MR. MILLAR:  Gentlemen, it's Michael Millar.  Let's have this discussion at lunch.  I do appreciate why people is interested in this, but this is all taking time from questions.  So let's discuss this over a break.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, and I think that was a good investment.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  I was nodding because I was in complete agreement.  I will move on to questions.

Before I get to the ones I had planned and organized is, just at the end of our discussion, Mr. Madrid, you said that this technology was reviewed and it could be applicable for 1.2-kilometre stretch.  Did I get that right, in terms of what could have been assessed -- or could still be assessed by this tool?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn, that is what we had identified as a potential area where we could do inline inspection with this tool.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  And that 1.2-kilometre stretch -- all of this pipe is generally speaking -- except for the replacement portions that have been cut out, all of this pipe is generally speaking the same vintage, correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Would Enbridge consider doing the 1.2- kilometre stretch and serving those results to the Board in a way that it could then determine and give its opinion on the ability to extend those results for the condition of the pipe to the extent of the pipe?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you asking us to do an undertaking to apply --


MR. QUINN:  No, no, I am asking for his opinion on whether that would be something that Enbridge would see as feasible.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  No.  I don't see the need for doing that.  We have enough information that has been utilized there through the different inspections and survey programs that were collected, including the opportunities that we have had through the integrity digs and repairs to see the condition of the pipe, and as we have said before it is a culmination of all the historical records and studies, the inspections, the information that we have provided as part of the evidence there.

And more specifically, you know, the actual visual that we have seen of the pipeline, we don't believe that spending more money on top of the project here is a prudent expense, to add more cost to the overall project, to again conclude what we have already concluded does not make sense, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I understand that is your opinion.  That is what I asked for, thank you.

Is that not what Enbridge did on the Lakeshore Cherry to Bathurst in that inspected part of the pipe and said the other part is hard to access, and therefore we're going to extend our understanding of what we do know to what we don't know; and, therefore, we need to replace this pipe?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  That's correct, Mr. Quinn, and it is our experience on the Cherry to Bathurst portion and the inline inspection tool that we utilized there and how it just confirmed what we had already concluded was the condition of the pipeline that made us decide that it wasn't warranted for us to spend more money to end up with the same conclusion, which is that the pipeline has degraded and will continue to degrade and it needs to be replaced.

MR. QUINN:  But if there's a small possibility that what you find in the 1.2-kilometre assessment could avoid the replacement of the pipeline based upon what you have said and you've evidenced your -- the -- your knowledge of the condition of the pipeline, would that not be a worthwhile investment?

MR. MADRID:  Based on all of the other information that we have presented in our evidence, it is our expectation that it will just be an additional confirmation that the pipe needs to be replaced and, as such, it is not a prudent spend, in our opinion.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So --


MR. MADRID:  That's the company's position.

MR. QUINN:  The company's decision.  I respect that, sir.  We're testing what you did to come up with that decision.  But you keep saying it would not be -- again, I am cautious not putting words in your mouth.  My translation is it is not a prudent expenditure.  It is not worthwhile to spend that money.  How much money is it?

MR. MADRID:  Mr. Quinn, at the time we were looking at it it was going to range between 300,000 and 500,000 dollars if we were able to successfully meet the 1.2 kilometres.  There's still some unknowns.

As per our experience on the Cherry to Bathurst that you pointed out, we intended to get a certain length there.  When the tool came across a valve that it was not able to go through, it needed to retract, so we did not get the full scope.

So we expect that we may have similar risks associated with embarking on such a venture there with the tool, that there may be fittings or situations there that won't allow the tool to do the full inspection.  So again, you are spending quite a bit of money there for no guarantee that you are going to get what you are expecting to get.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, but it sounds like you have a lot of knowledge on the differentiation.  Was the type of valve that you ran into in Cherry to Bathurst the same type of valve that could be in place on the -- first maybe I should ask that.

Was there a valve that caused concern in the 1.2-kilometre stretch?

MR. MADRID:  No, Mr. Quinn.  The section that we identified as a potential area to do the online inspection took that into account already that there would be no fittings, based on our records.  But as we have said in our evidence, there are some records, whether it be compression coupling fittings and specific Ts that we're not aware of, that may pose a problem for the tool.

MR. QUINN:  And you're saying that -- are you saying it wouldn't go through compression coupling fittings?

MR. MADRID:  That is not what I'm saying, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  You gave that as an answer as to what would limit the opportunity to do this 1.2-kilowatt assessment, and you referenced compression fittings.  I was just asking if you are suggesting it wouldn't go through compression couplings.

MR. MADRID:  I was simply pointing out that as per our evidence where we have stated we do have a lack of records in some cases, so we've done the best we can with the records that we have to identify the types of fittings.

So as much as we've identified here on table 8 the fittings that our records have indicated we have to do retrofits on, there could potentially be some other fittings there that we're not aware of that may cause an issue, whether it be an inline -- standard inline inspection tool or a crawler tool.

MR. QUINN:  I have a more detailed question, Mr. Madrid, but out of my respect, as I relayed earlier as an engineer, I am not going to ask you because I think the that potentially this would be more for a subject matter expert.  Well, actually I am going to ask.  Enbridge can take it back.

Can we get the report that was done on the assessment of the 1.2-kilowatt main and the opportunity to use -- you came up with 0.3 to 0.5 million dollars to do that assessment.  Somebody had to study it.

Can we get that report on the record, please?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure there was a report.  Was there a report, Mr. Madrid?

MR. MADRID:  No, Mr. Keizer.  I was just going to speak up and say there was no specific report.

We, as per the information that was communicated to senior management in the meeting, we would explore.  So we explored.  We looked at where we could potentially apply.  There was no final report, as we decided not to proceed with that project and, therefore, no need for a report.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I want to be clear about that.  I am not asking for the report to say this is what we found.  I am asking for the report for the assessment.

Somebody had to at least do a report, write an e-mail to say this is what we've analyzed.  I am looking for documentation of the assessment of the opportunity of using this.  Clearly, you came up with a figure that said this 1.2 kilometres could be a candidate and it could take -- it could cost 0.3 to 0.5 million dollars.

Somebody had to put that in writing.  That is what I am looking for.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the most, Mr. Quinn, we can do is look to see if there was documentation with respect to the conclusion and to the extent that we're able, at that time consider whether we could produce it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To be clear when you say documentation, you are including e-mails, memos, summary documents, whatever you would call the technical assessment documentation that informed the decision that we're not going to proceed with this opportunity, correct?

MR. KEIZER:  Meaning the tool that you are referencing.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to leave it at that, Mr. Keizer, because that is the work it sounds like they did.  I will respectfully leave it at that.  I am not asking for an array of other tools.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO PROVIDE TECHNICAL ASSESSMENT DOCUMENTATION ON THE ASSESSMENT OF THE 1.2-KILOWATT MAIN

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn, I see you have about 10 or 15 minutes left on the schedule.

MR. QUINN:  That is what my concern was, Mr. Millar.  So I will do what I can and carve off some questions in respect of my colleagues.

So if we can turn to the -- I am of two minds here.  I will start first with the documentation submitted by Enbridge on March 2nd to update the IRs.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Quinn, I will note I have taken up some time with interjections, so some of my time is owed to you.  I could probably shave off some of my time from panel 2 to provide for this discussion.

It is a very important issue and we're relying on your expertise on it, so I think these are important questions, and I hope you get through them.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Sorry, I was looking for it to come up on the screen, the interrogatories from March 2nd that were submitted.

My screen is frozen.  Is it just me?  I mean in terms of evidence -- oh, there we are.

MR. KEIZER:  There it is.

MS. ALLMAN:  Mr. Quinn, this is Stephanie.  Can you provide me with an actual IR, please?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, it is FRPO 14.  I didn't want to confuse you, Ms. Allman.  I am looking for this package, not the previous package.  Okay, thank you, Ms. Allman.

If we could scroll down to page 3, which is the bulk of the response, we spent enough time on the -- it says, as referenced, the 2019 leak cut out was a cost of $3.1 million dollars.  Do you see that, panel?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Now, we talked about this was a casing incident.  At this point, you would confirm that this was something that involved a casing associated with that pipe, correct?

MR. MADRID:  That's incorrect, Mr. Quinn.  This was a specific leak at St. Laurent, in Industrial.  It had nothing to do with the casing.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Sir, are you saying you know it had nothing to do with the casing?  Again, I am trying to protect your testimony here.

MR. MADRID:  Yes.  We were not able to dig this leak up to determine what the cause of the leak was.

We developed a plan to replace the area and replace the pipeline around this area and abandon this section of pipe.

MR. QUINN:  But, sir, you said it had nothing to do with the casing.  And I asked you specifically, do you have knowledge that it had nothing to do with the casing?

MR. MADRID:  I will see whether my colleague, Mr. Murdoch, is able to provide some additional information on this one.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yeah.  The stance of the company is we were unable to dig up the location.  So we are not sure exactly what the cause of this leak was.

MR. QUINN:  That's well said, Mr. Murdoch.  But that is saying we don't know it was.  But Mr. Madrid said it had nothing to do with casing.  That is not correct, is it?

MR. MURDOCH:  I believe Mr. Madrid said it was not confirmed that it had to do with the casing.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, sorry, that is what I'm trying to confirm.  We can check the transcript later, but I need to move on.  I'm sorry, but that's -- okay.

So in the next paragraph, it says that you had, in the last ten years, one -- a leak was cut out at a 150,000 cost.  Is that more representative of what the costs of leaks -- cost of leak repair would be, from your experience in this pipeline?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  I think you have to take into account the specific circumstances of every single leak.  The illustrations here show that some leaks are quite extensive in terms of complexity to access them, and others are a little bit more simple, and again, that would be a 2013 dollars as well.  So these were not inflated to today's dollars.

So you can see that, based on where the location of the leak is, the overall repair method is, there is definitely a wide range of potential costs associated with the overall leak repair.  So those are the two bookends of potential costs that we have on record.

MR. QUINN:  So can you provide what the average leak repair cost was on this pipe in the last ten years?  Actually, just provide what the costs of all of them.  Not the average.  I should be specific.  You said a range.  And it would include this -- my words -- an outlier of $3.1 million.  What would be your leak repair costs on the St. Laurent main in the last ten years?  Just project cost.  Project cost.  That is all we're looking for.

MR. MURDOCH:  I think that evidence is actually in another one of our interrogatories.  I am going to --


MR. QUINN:  You know what?  Mr. -- oh, if you have it right there, Mr. Murdoch, that would be helpful.

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  I am just going to pull it up real quick here so I can get the correct reference.

MR. QUINN:  Could you...

MR. MURDOCH:  FRPO 25.  If you keep scrolling down, there's going to be a large table.  Keep scrolling down.  No, you can scroll up a little bit.  It is right there, the replacement costs for the contractor.

MR. QUINN:  So this is all of your leaks that have been completed in the last few years?

MR. MURDOCH:  This is the assumption that we used in order to evaluate what a potential leak could cost.  So our typical repair cost is 420,000.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I guess that's helpful, Mr. Murdoch, and if you can leave it there for now, because I will be coming back to this slide.  I am going to do things out of order, because I know my time is running out here.

What you are saying here is, your average typical repair costs is 420,000.  How many have you had in the last ten years on this main, besides -- St. Laurent is there.  How many have you had?  And actually, this should be fairly simple, because I think it is probably less than one or two handfuls.  What were the leak repairs and what did they cost?  Is that something you can undertake to provide?

MR. MURDOCH:  The leak information is back on FRPO 14, the response that we had up on the screen before.

MR. QUINN:  This is FRPO 25, though?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  This is FRPO 25.

MR. QUINN:  I'm going to come back to that document.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe to make it easier, Mr. Quinn, we'll look at what we have in FRPO 14 and FRPO 25 and provide that as an undertaking so you can...

MR. QUINN:  That would be helpful, Mr. Keizer, because I actually was on FRPO 14 in your updated document.  So we're going to go back to that.  But if I may, not right now, Ms. Allman, please, just stay on this screen, because that's where I was heading afterwards, because amongst these assumptions -- and if you can scroll up, because I am not sure which page you are on, Ms. Allman.  Okay.  So this is page 2, great.  So this is the 47 heating degree day, and I apologize, I didn't do a lot of preamble on this.  You folks created -- so who created this table on behalf of Enbridge?  Who is responsible for the creation of this table on the panel?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  This table has been utilized by Enbridge for a number of years now.  So the team used that same table to do the calculation for what would be the costs associated with the loss of containment and having to do a repair on 47 degree day in this situation.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful information.  If we can scroll down to the section that talks about compensation for those who were out of gas for the period.  There we are.  Cost of claims.  Thank you.

So this is -- oh, it was more administrative.  It was administrative.  Thank you, Ms. Allman.  So what we have here, if I am -- I don't want to -- I am going to save time.  I am not even going to repeat what you said, Mr. Madrid.  You're relying on this table as Enbridge has -- this section of the table, Mr. Madrid, has been used by the company in other situations, to assess -- to estimate the cost of an outage?

MR. MADRID:  Yes, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you provide what evidence underpins or what evidence the company has, whether it's been produced to the Board or internal reports that would quantify the commercial and industrial and residential claims of, round numbers, $42 million, at the bottom of the claims cost, so only those two parts of it.  I can see you are relighting and all of that kind of stuff, and that's all good.  That's what the utility does.  But you have claims costs of $42 million.

Can you provide evidence in support of how you made that determination?

MR. KEIZER:  You are asking for that by way of undertaking?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, yes, sorry Mr. Keizer, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And it's --


MR. MILLAR:  JT1 -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. QUINN:  No, I just, I don't know if it is part of the same undertaking or not.  Please provide examples -- and they can be done confidentiality-redacted for anything that is not public information -- examples of where the utility has actually incurred the costs that support the numbers that we're seeing here in evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  It is JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE EXAMPLES -- AND THEY CAN BE DONE CONFIDENTIALITY-REDACTED FOR ANYTHING THAT IS NOT PUBLIC INFORMATION -- EXAMPLES OF WHERE THE UTILITY HAS ACTUALLY INCURRED THE COSTS THAT SUPPORT THE NUMBERS THAT ARE SEEN IN EVIDENCE.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  The other question I had in this area is -- well, it stems across a couple of areas.  I will stay on this, and the panel can take us somewhere else if they need -- is in these estimates, Gazifère customers were included also?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  No, Mr. Quinn.  As per your FRPO 3 and FRPO 4, it is very clear in identifying the individual costs for both of the Ontario customers and also the Gazifère customers.

MR. QUINN:  You were breaking up a little bit.  Did you say it included both?

MR. MADRID:  Sorry, about that.  My mic was probably a little off.

No, I said if you refer back to your FRPO 3 and FRPO 4 we clearly responded there with the total costs for each of the Ontario customers and Quebec customers.  This is strictly Ontario.

MR. QUINN:  Can you take us to that reference?  There is a lot of information, and I am sure you are swimming in it, as I am.

MR. MADRID:  Ms. Allman, if you could take us to FRPO 3 and FRPO 4.  I believe FRPO 3 you were asking for the information related to the assumptions and the costs for the 47 degree day scenario for the customers estimated to be lost on the Ontario side, and similarly on FRPO 4 you asked for similar responses for the Quebec-side customers, if I recall correctly.

MR. QUINN:  Can you scroll up to FRPO 4 then, please.

Is a translation of this there will be no loss of customers on the Gazifère side?

MR. MADRID:  Translation for a 1 degree day, there would be no loss of customers on the Gazifère side.  There is a loss of customers on the Ontario side for 1 degree day.  For the 47 degree day there is loss of customers on both sides, as identified in our evidence.

MR. QUINN:  And so we're getting this a little convoluted, Mr. Madrid, so I am trying to be specific.

In the 42-million-dollar figure that we saw for the 47 heating degree days, my understanding of what you said is that does not include the Gazifère customers.  Is that correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But what I think I heard you say is that there would be customers lost on the Gazifère side, and let's just stay specifically to the 47 heating degree day scenario.  Customers would be lost on the Gazifère side.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Who does -- who did the simulations to determine how many customers would be lost on the Gazifère side?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  That would have been my team.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So you do Gazifère also?

MR. CLARK:  We did the hydraulic modelling for the Gazifère system as well as the Ottawa system, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  Mr. Clark, sorry I haven't sent questions your way yet.  But I will now.

When that 47 heating degree day scenario was done, what assumptions were made about the second feed that is more easterly and feeds the Gazifère territory, and its ability to maintain service to some of affected customers on the Gazifère side.

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  The assessment modelling that was done was done under the assumption that this would be an emergency situation and require immediate isolation.  So no other system configurations were considered, as it was anticipated it would be -- there would be no time; it would be an emergency situation.

MR. QUINN:  Now, Mr. Clark, I'm sorry that I don't know your role well enough.  Do you do both steady state and transient simulations?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  Yes, depending on the specific area.  But our team does employ both methodologies.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Was a transient simulation performed on this emergency to determine how much time you might have before you need to turn a valve off on the Ontario side that feeds Quebec from the St. Laurent pipe?

MR. CLARK:  No transient analysis was done.  The model on both sides of the river is a steady state model.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that was a question I was trying to get an answer for.

In your experience, sir, a system that is running at 250, 275 pounds, what amount of time would it take for gas to be dissipated in a way that you know how much time before you turn off the valve?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  That is entirely dependent on the nature of the damage.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, I had a scenario in mind, Mr. Clark, and I accept your answer.  In respect of time, I am not going to move on -- or move forward with those questions.

How many catastrophic failures has Enbridge had in its history?

MR. CLARK:  I don't have that information on hand at this time.  None come to mind.

MR. QUINN:  Would you undertake that?  I respect, Mr. Clark, you may not know the Union territory and obviously catastrophic failures are very rare, but they need to be planned for.

Could you undertake to provide how many catastrophic failures Enbridge --

MR. KEIZER:  Can you define what you mean by catastrophic?

MR. QUINN:  So that I don't put words in Mr. Clark's mouth, Mr. Clark, could you define it, please?

MR. CLARK:  I would term catastrophic failure as a complete rupture, where the full diameter of the pipeline is exposed to atmosphere.

MR. QUINN:  I am happy with that definition.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF CATASTROPHIC FAILURES ENBRIDGE HAS HAD IN ITS HISTORY.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Mr. Millar.  I am rushing to try to get through my answers and I cut you off.  Sorry, I apologize.

So there were, in the 47 heating degree day -- how many customers were lost on the Quebec side?  Do you know the answer roughly, off the top of your head?  I don't need precision.

MR. CLARK:  It's actually -- sorry, Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  It is actually in evidence.  So the number was 30,577, and that is Exhibit B, page 10.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That is helpful.  Do you do emergency -- table top emergency planning exercises to determine the capabilities of your systems in emergencies?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, we do conduct emergency -- what we term as "mock scenarios".

MR. QUINN:  Right.  Thank you. The word didn't come to me.  Have you recently done one for the Ottawa Gazifère system as an integrated -- well, I am going to break this down.  Have you done a mock scenario for feeding Gazifère?

MR. CLARK:  I don't have that information on hand.  I can't quote a date or a scenario that was done.

MR. QUINN:  No, no.  I don’t expect -- I would ask that you undertake to provide it, please.

MR. CLARK:  Yes, we can take that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE A MOCK SCENARIO FOR FEEDING GAZIFÈRE

MR. QUINN:  Just to be clear, though, we would be ideally interested in an Ottawa-Gatineau, I will say it that way, table top that reflects a significant failure -- I won't use the word catastrophic, but a significant failure and what that mock emergency entailed and what actions were taken.  That would be included in that report, would it, Mr. Clark?

MR. CLARK:  I will endeavour to see what we have.  I am not sure if all of that detail would be there, but yes.

MR. QUINN:  If you could look for that on a best efforts basis.  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  If it's available.  If it's not, we will advise that it is not.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I want to be clear.  I want whatever you have, but if it doesn't have all of the additional detail I asked for at the end, I am okay with that.  So seek that, but give us what you’ve got.  We're asking for best efforts.

MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MR. QUINN:  I have more questions, but I am going to go to one more, Mr. Millar, and then I will pass the baton. But I would appreciate additional opportunity.

I want to come back to a statement that was made in terms of -- I want to be clear.  It was in our discussions around robotic inline inspection, and what was stated by Mr. Madrid, I believe, is that most of the pipeline is underneath the road.  Correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct, Mr. Quinn, the majority of the pipelines are under the road.

MR. QUINN:  Now, when the pipeline is in the boulevard, does Enbridge have pipeline markers to let contractors and other parties know that there is a high pressure line that is running in the non-paved portion of the right-of-way?

MR. MADRID:  As per our requirement, we would have pipeline markers identifying the proximity or the vicinity of a pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  So there are pipeline markers then marking the fact that this pipe is underneath the road for large extents of it?

MR. MADRID:  Not underneath the road, Mr. Quinn.  You asked if on the boulevard there were pipeline markers.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. MADRID:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  That's okay, I appreciate you're differentiating your answer.  Markers are in the non-paved portion, correct?

MR. MADRID:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  For stretches of pipe that are a long distance underneath the road -- I will use a kilometre distance to start -- does Enbridge have any identifying markers in the boulevard to alert contractors that there is a high pressure pipeline in the vicinity?

MR. MADRID:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that again?

MR. QUINN:  For portions that are under the road for long distances -- and I used one kilometre as the
example -- does Enbridge have pipeline markers to alert contractors that there is a high pressure pipeline in the vicinity?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  The contractors would be alerted to a pipeline in the vicinity of their work when they follow the typical locate process.  So that locate would put markers, paint on the road, to indicate where the pipeline is before they start their excavation.

MR. QUINN:  I agree.  And do all contractors always get locates?

MR. MURDOCH:  All contractors are required to get locates, by law.

MR. QUINN:  But they don't -- in your experience some don't.  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  In my experience, yes, that is correct.  Not all contractors have gotten locates in the past.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So I am going to ask one follow-up question, Mr. Murdoch, and it is related to the way you answered that question.  I am going to try and make it as precise as possible.

Depth of cover has been identified as an issue.  Depth of cover is an issue if people encounter a pipeline when they expected that pipeline to be deeper.  Would you agree with that?

MR. MURDOCH:  Among other issues, yes, that is one concern with depth of cover or shallow depth of cover.

MR. QUINN:  Could you provide what length of pipe in this proceeding is -- has depth of cover issues -- I am going to use a number of .6 or less -- that is not under the roadway?

MR. MURDOCH:  I am just going to search for a reference in our evidence.

If we were to go to B1.1, page 31, PDF 45 on my file.  There is one indication there of depth of cover issues of 37.2 metres on Ogilvie Road.

MR. QUINN:  And that is not underneath the pavement, then?

MR. MURDOCH:  I would need to go back and --


MR. QUINN:  That is what I am asking, Mr. Murdoch.  And thank you.  You have been very helpful in this process.  Could you undertake to go back to find out what lengths of pipe are not -- that are .6 metres or less are not underneath the road?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, we can do that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much.  Sorry, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11(A):  TO GO BACK TO FIND OUT WHAT LENGTHS OF PIPE THAT ARE .6 METRES OR LESS ARE NOT UNDERNEATH THE ROAD.

MR. QUINN:  Panel, I appreciate we are coming at this from different perspectives and time.  I appreciate your patience in answering the questions to this point.

I have other questions, Mr. Millar, but in respect of my colleagues I am going to end here and thank you, Mr. Elson, for your indulgence.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.  We can have some discussions offline over lunch if that assists the parties, but for the moment I will pass it to Mr. Elson.  Mr. Elson, we are looking to break around 12:45, so I would ask you to keep that in mind in structuring your questions, but I will turn it over to you.
Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Absolutely.  And feel free to interrupt me when you want to take a break.

I would like to ask some follow-up questions, and I'll introduce myself to the panel first.  To the extent that it's unclear, my name is Kent Elson, and I represent Environmental Defence, and I have a couple follow-up questions to what Mr. Quinn was asking you about the use of inline robotics.

And I believe you stated that no formal report was created about the decision not to use inline robotics.  I have a bit of a different question, which is whether any documentation was created describing the outcome of that assessment and the reasons for the decisions made with respect to inline robotics.

MR. MADRID:  Brian Madrid, Enbridge.  Mr. Keizer, I believe that is similar to the one item we were going to take and contemplate to see if there was any communication.

MR. KEIZER:  I think Mr. Madrid is referring to an undertaking we have already given in that regard, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I had understood that undertaking as referring to documentation around the, I think it was 1.2 kilometres, where inline robotics could have been used.  And I am asking for documentation relating also to the broader assessment of the possibility of using inline robotics for the length of the pipeline; in particular, documentation describing the outcome of the assessment and the reasons for the decision made.

MR. KEIZER:  You mean in respect of why it couldn't be used elsewhere other than potentially the 1.2 kilometres?  Is that what you are asking for?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And my first question was actually whether any documentation was created.  And if so, what would have been created?  That is for your witnesses.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think that is a question for the witness.  It is a different question, about the remainder of the line.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.

Mr. Keizer, I would combine that with the same undertaking from Mr. Quinn there.  It is one and the same project team evaluated where this technology could be used on a line and identified that there was only one area that it could potentially be used.  And out of that overall decision was made to not proceed with it.  So I don't know what additional information could be provided to you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, let's deal with those items one by one.  I think Mr. Madrid has said that he will add to the undertaking that was provided earlier to also provide documentation describing the outcome of the assessment in relation to the entire length, not only the 1.2 kilometres, and the reasons for decisions made with respect to inline robotics, to the extent that such document exists.  Is that your understanding as well, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I think to the extent the document exists, as I heard the witness saying he didn't believe there was additional documents, but it was all part of the one consideration.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Well, I will ask you then the next question, Mr. Madrid.  Are you aware of any documentation that would have been created with respect to that assessment?  Does anything come to mind?

MR. MADRID:  No, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  And who did that analysis?

MR. MADRID:  The individuals part of the asset renewable project plan did the evaluation of other technologies, such as the crawler tool potentially being utilized to gather more information on the condition of the pipeline.

MR. ELSON:  And is that individual an engineer?

MR. MADRID:  The project team itself, there were a number of engineers.

MR. ELSON:  And who is the subject-matter expert on the topic of inline robotics, if not yourself, among that team?

MR. MADRID:  That would be our integrity management group.

MR. ELSON:  Is there a specific individual who has particular expertise with this?  If it's not yourself?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid.  We would have to get back to you on a specific individual that is more of an expert on this technology.

MR. ELSON:  If you could get back to us on who that individual is, and particularly what their experience and qualifications are, that would be appreciated.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe that is JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11(B):  TO ADVISE ON WHO ON THE TEAM IS, THE SUBJECT-MATTER EXPERT ON THE TOPIC OF INLINE ROBOTICS, AND PARTICULARLY WHAT THEIR EXPERIENCE AND QUALIFICATIONS ARE.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And I take it that project team reports to you, Mr. Madrid?

MR. MADRID:  At the time when these assessments were done, I had a number of individuals reporting through me in my previous role in asset management, and identifying and developing the plan to address those three pipelines, I had been through the asset health review process identified as needing additional investigation and additional approach reviewed.

MR. ELSON:  So the team that conducted that assessment, they reported to you.  I'm not sure if that is what you were saying or not.  Yes?

MR. MADRID:  The team that worked with the integrity group to identify that assessment reported to me.

MR. ELSON:  And who made the decision?  Was that you?  By decision, I mean the decision not to pursue inline robotics.

MR. MADRID:  I was one of the ones that recommended not to proceed with that robotics in that situation.

MR. ELSON:  Was that based on your own analysis, or analysis that was communicated to you by the team?  I assume the latter.  I just want to confirm.

MR. MADRID:  The decision was based on the results that we concluded from the Cherry to Bathurst ILI tool inspection that we did, and the fact that it confirmed what we had already suspected with that pipeline.

And in our opinion -- as I have stated to Mr. Quinn earlier -- it did not seem like a prudent expense for us to proceed with an additional exercise or study, when we had sufficient information already concluding that this pipeline has degraded and continues to degrade and therefore needs to be replaced.

MR. ELSON:  That's a bit different than what I had earlier.  I thought there was an assessment conducted that showed that, from your perspective, inline robotics was inappropriate because of the conditions of this particular project.  Now you are saying that it is because you decided that based on Cherry to Bathurst, you didn't need to do the inspection.

Can you reconcile that for me?

MR. MADRID:  I believe what I said -- and you can probably look back at the transcript, and I specifically explained to Mr. Quinn there that we felt that it wasn't a prudent expense to add to the overall project and go through that extra step for information that we had already concluded through other investigations, studies, integrity digs, confirming that the pipeline needed to be replaced.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I will move on in the interests of time.

What robotic inline inspection technology was considered at the time?

MR. MADRID:  As I stated to Mr. Quinn, we looked at the Pipetel technology.

MR. ELSON:  Was any other technology considered?

MR. MADRID:  From the company's experience through our integrity group, that was one of the services that they had already worked with, had some experience, and we were recommended to look at that as a potential technology to utilize.

MR. ELSON:  That's fine.  I am just confirming that is the one you looked at and you didn't look at others, is that fair to say?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And that assessment took place, was it in 2019?

MR. MADRID:  That work took place through 2017, 2018.  A number of these options and technologies were being assessed from the time that this was identified in 2015/2016 through that asset health review, and recommending that these pipelines be investigated further.

So a number of these activities were being done in parallel at the same time as we conducted the record search incorporated paths of knowledge, all of the inputs we incorporated as part of this evidence, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  So the decision was made, if I understand you correctly, in 2018?

MR. MADRID:  I would have to confirm when exactly the decision was made to not proceed with that.

MR. ELSON:  Could you please confirm that?

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO CONFIRM THE DATE THE DECISION WAS MADE NOT TO PROCEED


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Elson, it is Mr. Quinn.  Can I just ask a follow up helpful question here?

MR. ELSON:  Go for it.

MR. QUINN:  You asked what other technologies assessed.  Did you assess all of the technologies that Enbridge Inc. has available?

MR. MADRID:  As identified in our evidence, Mr. Quinn, we noted some of the technologies we were going to explore,  Pipetel being one of them, indirect assessments through Pure HM.

The information is within the evidence already submitted.  If we had anything else, we would have stated it there.

MR. QUINN:  I did not put this on the record, so I respect that.  But Enbridge Inc. made an investment in 2017 with a robotic inspection company to the tune of $7 million.  It is in your annual reports.  Was that company and its technology evaluated?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  I can't speak to that, Mr. Quinn.  I am not familiar.  It would be something our integrity group may be familiar with.

MR. QUINN:  Could you undertake just to provide that, because obviously your company has invested in it, it has knowledge of it outside of the envelope of Enbridge Gas Inc., Enbridge Inc. also has competence in this area.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you asking to confirm whether or not that technology that you are referring to in the annual report was sought or considered?  Is that what you are asking?

MR. QUINN:  Correct.  But, Mr. Keizer, I am using that as an example because Enbridge Inc. has, as well known in the public eye, pipelines underneath water in Michigan.  They have to do inspections all the time, and they have a cadre of tools that they use.

So did Enbridge Gas Inc. assess the tools that were available to Enbridge Inc. in contemplating internal inspection of St. Laurent pipeline?

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe the way to get to this is basically for them to advise of the tools that they did consider, and therefore that would explain any others that they did not, right?

MR. QUINN:  Fair enough, by exception it would.  I will accept that.  I am on Mr. Elson's time, so I want to keep it at that.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there an undertaking?  And if so, what is it?

MR. KEIZER:  I think it is just to advise the nature of the tools that Enbridge Gas Inc. sought in respect of considering the inspection of the St. Laurent system.

MR. ELSON:  I think we already have an answer, which is that they only looked at Pipetel.  Is that correct?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. KEIZER:  So that answers the question, does it not?

MR. ELSON:  It does answer the question and confirms that they did not look at the other technology that Mr. Quinn is talking about, is my understanding.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.  Thank you.

MR. ELSON:  Could you undertake to update your analysis of inline robotics as an alternative in this situation based on the latest specifications that Pipetel has, in terms of battery life and other capabilities?

MR. KEIZER:  You are asking did we consider the analysis they did based upon this new information?  Is that what you are asking?

MR. ELSON:  I am asking to update their analysis to determine whether some of the limitations that they identified had been reduced or eliminated by improvements to the technology, such as battery life.

I know battery life has improved a lot in the last couple of years and it would be helpful potentially for the Board to know what improvements have taken place between when this was last considered.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, is there a particular source where you are identifying these improvements, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  That's, I think, for your witnesses to put on the record, not myself, sir.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  No, actually you are you are the one asking the questions, so it is not for us to go investigate your question and answer it.  What technology improvements are you asking for, sir?

MR. ELSON:  To look at technology improvements with Pipetel with respect to battery life or otherwise.  I think it is worthwhile looking at that, and that is our request.

MR. KEIZER:  So you have no basis for this technology change, then?  It is just your assumption?

MR. ELSON:  No.

MR. QUINN:  If it is helpful, in my compendium -- and it was referenced earlier by one of the witnesses -- Pipetel has demonstrated that one of the challenges they had in the Brandon project was battery life and they were going to seek improvements in that area.

Given that the Brandon project was a 2019 project, I think it is a fair question and there is an evidentiary link to it.

MR. KEIZER:  Your brochure is not evidence, Mr. Quinn. Nevertheless it is not evidence.  So the -- I guess my question is this, you're asking us to go off and ask for technological improvements.  You're asking the question and we are going to deal with the question that you are asking.

It is not for us to go and figure out the best question that you could have asked.  So the question again is, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Could Enbridge please update its analysis on whether robotic inline inspection would be inappropriate based on the latest specifications from Pipetel, in terms of battery life and other areas that would impact on the appropriateness of robotic inline inspection from Enbridge's view.

And in the interests of time, Mr. Keizer, if you could either just say yes or no, then we could move on.

MR. KEIZER:  What we'll say is we will take it away and, to the extent we can do that, we will.  To the extent we can't, we will advise why we can't.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it that is an undertaking, although the answer to the undertaking may be nothing?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm going to mark it as an undertaking.  JT1.13.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO UPDATE ENBRIDGE'S ANALYSIS ON WHETHER ROBOTIC INLINE INSPECTION WOULD BE INAPPROPRIATE BASED ON THE LATEST SPECIFICATIONS FROM PIPETEL, IN TERMS OF BATTERY LIFE AND OTHER AREAS THAT WOULD IMPACT ON THE APPROPRIATENESS OF ROBOTIC INLINE INSPECTION, FROM ENBRIDGE'S VIEW.

MR. ELSON:  And could Enbridge undertake to update its analysis of the appropriateness of inline robotics by looking also at other inline robotics providers and whether they could address some of the limitations that were identified by Enbridge?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we won't.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  So when that decision was made, Mr. Madrid, or the recommendation was made, I should say, to make that decision by you and others, I wasn't entirely clear.  Was that based on information that you gathered or that information that was given to you about the appropriateness of the tool in this specific context?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Mr. Elson, can you just repeat what exactly your question is?  Which decision?

MR. ELSON:  The decision not to use inline robotics.  I believe you earlier said that you were -- you made that recommendation.  So I am talking about your recommendation.

MR. MADRID:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And what it was based on, whether it is your own tacit knowledge, or whether it was based on detailed specifics.

MR. MADRID:  Okay.  So part of the plan was to investigate other methods to obtain more input.  And as I stated earlier, a number of these investigations were being done in parallel.  One of the potential options to gather more input was the use of this inline inspection crawler tool.  Other things were to do the record search that we did, historical record search, get the tacit knowledge, do the HI or the asset health review, do a quantitative risk assessment.

All of these contributors were completed, provided adequate information to confirm that the pipeline had degraded to date and continues to degrade, and as I said earlier, we felt that it did not make sense, that it was not a prudent expense for us to proceed with the inline inspection to get additional information.

I don't know what is happening to the screen here.

MR. ELSON:  The screen came down because it is switching users, but it is not relevant to your answer.

MR. MADRID:  Yes.  And based on the conclusion that we obtained through the use of this pipeline -- Pipetel inline inspection on the Cherry to Bathurst, again just confirming what Enbridge had already concluded with the Lakeshore Cherry to Bathurst pipeline there, we felt that we were going to end up with the same conclusion, but with extra cost to this project.

That was the rationale or one of the factors used in deciding not to proceed with an extra expense on this project.

MR. ELSON:  And lastly, could you undertake to provide specifications that were provided to you by Pipetel that you would have used to analyze the appropriateness of robotic inline inspection, to the extent that you are able to locate them?

MR. MADRID:  I will undertake to see what information we were provided from Pipetel through our integrity group.

As part of their, you know, services provided, the specifications of their equipment, it really is no different than what Mr. Quinn has provided as part of his compendium there, and promotional information.

MR. ELSON:  That would be helpful, Mr. Madrid.  And again, I am not asking you to go out and look for more.  I am asking you to look for what they would have provided you when you -- when your group made that decision, if you can locate it, please, thank you.

MR. MADRID:  We will look to see what we can find.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE SPECIFICATIONS THAT WERE PROVIDED BY PIPETEL THAT WOULD HAVE BEEN USED TO ANALYZE THE APPROPRIATENESS OF ROBOTIC INLINE INSPECTION, TO THE EXTENT THEY CAN BE FOUND.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, just to be clear.  So you have taken over the screen and you have bumped the Enbridge personnel who has been running the exhibits.  Is that right?

MR. ELSON:  No.  That's not right.  I asked Ms. Allman to unshare her screen and for me to share my screen.  I don't have an ability to bump anyone off the screen.  Anyway --


MR. KEIZER:  I am not quite sure why it is necessary to do that, but I understand.

MR. ELSON:  So I have a question -- a couple questions relating to our interrogatories, starting at ED.2.  This is about the IP PE components and that aspect of the project.

And can you just clarify whether that component of the project would need to be done even if you don't replace the XHP ST pipeline?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Just to clarify the question, you are referring to the IP PE section and whether that would still be done regardless if the overall replacement project for the steel components were to occur?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. MURDOCH:  So the IP PE components, their main purpose is in order to reduce the overall risk profile of the existing steel pipeline and any new steel infrastructure.

One of the key characteristics that is statistically significant in the deterioration and degradation of the overall life of a pipeline asset is the number of overall connections to that steel pipeline.

So the purpose of the IP PE system as part of this project is to make sure that the new infrastructure would not have the same number of connections that these distinct steel components would have.

So in the absence of a new replacement project, I do not believe the IP PE component would be necessary.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So in the absence of replacing the XHP ST pipeline, it would not be necessary to do the IP PE component.  Is that what I've understood?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MURDOCH:  The purpose of the IP would be to make sure the new pipeline has as low a risk profile as possible.

MR. ELSON:  Would you be doing it at the same time because once you are digging things up it makes sense to do that project as well?

MR. MURDOCH:  We would be doing it at the same time because in order to abandon the existing infrastructure we would need to make sure that all of the connections to it had a supply of gas.

So in order to fully utilize and reduce the overall risk profile of the new asset is we need to make sure that all of the existing connections have a new location on the IP PE network.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Got it.  So I am now looking at ED 3 on the screen here, and this is an updated version of table 13 that includes abandonment costs.  Do you see that there?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  Could you redo this, including both abandonment costs and the costs of IP PE?

MR. MURDOCH:  I think we've already provided our justification in the previous response, in ED 2, as to why it wouldn't make sense to do that kind of NPV analysis, because again we're only really looking at the replacement in this NPV of a steel-for-steel pipeline, and in that
PD -- or the IP PE component would be -- would be required in order to reduce that expense for the new pipeline.

So I do not think that it will reduce the risk profile of the new pipeline.  I think we have already answered on the previous ED 2 the reasons why Enbridge does not believe that would provide value to the Board --


MR. ELSON:  Well, let me come back to that, because sometimes it is important to give the Board numbers and then debate the relevance of them.  I am talking right now about giving the Board numbers, but let me ask you a question maybe to expand my understanding.

So the replace option would involve the IP PE, but the repair option would not involve the IP PE work.  Is that fair?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is fair.

MR. ELSON:  So we would ask you to undertake to redo table 13, including abandonment costs and including the costs for IP PE, and you are free to add caveats indicating your position on that kind of comparison.  But in our view, that is an issue for argument.  And we are asking for the NPV comparison, so that we can make our arguments and you can make your arguments.

Could you please provide that information?

MR. KEIZER:  To be fair, the witness indicated that in reference to ED 2, is there any information -- maybe I am asking Mr. Murdoch this.  Is there information in ED 2 that should be on the screen that may be helpful to point to?



MR. ELSON:  Mr. Murdoch has already pointed to that information, which is previously declining to provide the answer. And I understand that that has already been done.

I think Mr. Murdoch is familiar with the answer.  I can pull it up, if Mr. Murdoch wants to read it again.  But  don't think it impacts our interrogatory -- or our undertaking request.

MR. KEIZER:  Let's just be fair that while we're in this process and you're controlling the screen, Mr. Elson, that Mr. Murdoch asked to see ED 2, then you --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, I am not being unfair to the witness.  If the witness would like to see something, I will send it to them.  I just offered the witness if he would like to see it, that I will pull it up.

Mr. Murdoch, would you like me to pull up ED 2, or are you familiar with the response you already provided?

MR. MURDOCH:  I think it would be helpful to pull up ED 2.

MR. ELSON:  Which part were you looking at?

MR. MURDOCH:  If you go down to the previous part that you pulled up, page 2 of 2.  Again, part of the relevance of not wanting to provide some of this -- sorry, is that --


MR. ELSON:  Sorry.

MR. MURDOCH:  That was ED 3.

MR. ELSON:  ED 2.  Yes.

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  Part of the comparison as well was just to try to make it as like-for-like as possible again between the different steel components.

In the repair option, we didn't include any of the retrofit costs, we didn't include any of the IMO I costs.  So there are costs missing from both the repair and the replace option because really the purpose of this application, the purpose of the LDC is to address the risks associated with that XHP steel component of the pipeline.

So we wanted to make sure that the comparison was only for that component in order to provide us as direct a comparison as possible.

So I believe that is still our company's position on this one.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  That is what you indicated before, Mr. Murdoch, and I do understand that is your position.  I will actually get to a question that would hopefully provide more of an apples-and-apples comparison by including those IOII costs.

But for present purposes, what I am seeking -- and I will repeat the request for an undertaking -- and that is a request that table 13 be updated to include both the abandonment costs and the IP PE costs, and that Enbridge include any caveats that it wishes about the appropriateness of the comparison, and the parties be left to debate the appropriateness at the hearing with the net present value figures provided by Enbridge.

Can you undertake to provide that?

MR. KEIZER:  Just give me one moment, Mr. Elson.

On the basis that we'd be able to provide it on the appropriate qualifications with respect to the calculation, we would be prepared to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT1.15.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15: TO UPDATE TABLE 13 TO INCLUDE BOTH THE ABANDONMENT COSTS AND THE IP PE COSTS, AND THAT ENBRIDGE INCLUDE ANY CAVEATS THAT IT WISHES ABOUT THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE COMPARISON, AND THE PARTIES BE LEFT TO DEBATE THE APPROPRIATENESS AT THE HEARING WITH THE NET PRESENT VALUE FIGURES PROVIDED BY ENBRIDGE.

MR. ELSON:  On the topic of table 13, I believe, Mr. Murdoch, you said that it wouldn't necessarily be an apples-to-apples comparison because it was missing the ILI costs.  What were the other pieces on the repair side that you said are missing?

MR. MURDOCH:  So their it misses a number of items.  So it misses the overall ILI cost.  It would miss the overall retrofits required, the inline filters that would need to be installed.

As well is the repair option itself was only based off of overall leak projections, which is also a limited subset of data as well.  So the subset of data that comes up from those leak projections is only from corrosion-related leaks.  So it wouldn't provide a comprehensive picture, either.

So the repair options is certainly missing a number of different items that were not able to be quantified at the time, which is why we ended up going just for the steel, the steel for steel replacement only.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you have quantified the cost of retrofits, haven't you?

MR. MURDOCH:  The retrofits were quantified as costs, yes, as well as the ILIs.

MR. ELSON:  Could you update table 13 to include the overall ILIs, the overall retrofits, abandonment costs and the IP PE cost, please -- again, with any caveats you wish to add to the answer?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, we can do that as long as we're able to qualify again why we do not think that is an appropriate comparison.  But yes, we can do that.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO UPDATE TABLE 13 TO INCLUDE THE OVERALL ILIS, THE OVERALL RETROFITS, ABANDONMENT COSTS AND THE IP PE COST, WITH ANY CAVEATS OR QUALIFICATIONS


MR. ELSON:  In addition, could you provide a breakdown of the figures that go into that table, perhaps with an NPV Excel spreadsheet or otherwise, so we can understand how you calculate it, please?

MR. MURDOCH:  I just want to be clear about the request.  I am pulling up a reference to make sure the sample is appropriate.

In ED 3, there was an attachment.  If you scroll down to the attachment, is this what you are looking for, this level of detail?

MR. ELSON:  Good question.  You know, I think the DCF analysis would actually be -- would be helpful, but more so what we're looking at is just to make sure we can triangulate the table you are going to provide and what costs are going into it.

So if you could provide an Excel spreadsheet with how you arrive at the new table 13, breaking down the different components, that would be helpful.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine, to the extent we can.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, is that part of the same undertaking, or is that a new one?

MR. ELSON:  We can make it JT1.17, that's fine with me.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay JT1.17.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.17:  TO PROVIDE AN EXCEL SPREADSHEET WITH HOW YOU ARRIVE AT THE NEW TABLE 13, BREAKING DOWN THE DIFFERENT COMPONENTS

MR. ELSON:  So we asked a question here and, you know what, I am actually going to skip over this one in the interests of time.

I would like to dig into this answer a little bit and I think I understand it.  I am looking at ED 5 here, and pulling down to part B, if I understand this correctly, approximately $43.7 million of the proposed project will remain undepreciated by 2050.  Is that accurate?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Based off of our response and the rough math, it looks like -- yeah, 30 plus 13 would be $43 million.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  And the full depreciation will not take place until 2077.  That's right?  That's when the depreciation value goes down to zero, or the undepreciated amount goes down to zero?

MR. MURDOCH:  That would be the -- that would be fully depreciated for the IP PE asset, and the XHP assets would be fully depreciated in 2064.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  So we asked another question and I am looking now at ED 6.  And in ED 6, we said please estimate the probability that any gas pipeline will be required for the area in question by 2050.

And in response, you said Enbridge Gas believes the pipeline will remain used and useful over its lifetime.  So let me break that down into two pieces.

Is Enbridge Gas saying that it is 100 percent that this pipeline is going to be used and useful in 2050?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I think what we're stating here is based on current information.  That is the expectation.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I mean, expectation to me means most likely or more than 50 percent.  And are you saying that you're 100 percent confident that it is going to be used and useful?  I'm not even talking about over its lifetime.  I am talking about by 2050.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think anyone in the world can be 100 percent confident about anything right now, Mr. Elson, so I think it is a bit of an unfair question.

MR. ELSON:  I mean, Mr. Keizer, that is a fair answer to the question, and if your witnesses wish to provide that, then that's fine.  And anticipating that, I will ask:  Does Enbridge believe that there is a 90 percent chance -- at least a 90 percent chance that the pipeline will be used and useful by 2050?

MR. KEIZER:  I think the answer has been given.  They believe it is going to remain used or useful.  I don't think that it is fair for them to do a probability scenario on the stand.  So I think the answer they have given indeed is their answer.

MR. ELSON:  I wasn't asking them to do it on the stand.  I asked them to do it in the interrogatory and they didn't provide an answer, and so I am just trying to get some concept of Enbridge's belief about the likelihood that it will be used and useful both in 2050 and in 2077.  And the reason that is relevant, Mr. Keizer, is if there's a 50 percent chance -- I am not saying that 50 percent is the right number, but if there is a 50 percent chance that it wouldn't be, then that would clearly affect the project economics.

So I am asking for Enbridge's estimate of the likelihood that the pipeline will remain used and useful as of 2050.  Is that closer to 50?  Or is that closer to 100 percent?

MR. KEIZER:  We're not going to provide that response.  I think the response they have given is their position, which is they believe it will be, and we are not giving into possibilities.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Clark, would you agree that if there were to be, say, a 10 percent chance that the pipeline wouldn't be used and useful as of 2050, that would impact the project economics?

MR. KEIZER:  I think it is the same point, and the same answer applies.

MR. ELSON:  I'm sorry, I don't understand, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  It is just simply picking numbers out of the air, Mr. Elson.  I think the point is that Enbridge has indicated that they believe that the pipeline is going to be used or useful over its life.  And so that is the position.  It may be your position to assert something different and that's fine.  You are fair to do that.  I think they have indicated what their answer is with respect to the life of this pipe.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I will ask the question without picking a number out of the air.

Mr. Clark, if you believe that -- or if it were the case that the likelihood of this pipeline remaining used and useful is somewhere under 100 percent, would you agree that that is something that would impact on the project economics?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Elson, it's the same question.  I don't think it is a fair question, and I don't -- and we're not providing a response to that question.

MR. ELSON:  I will take the refusal and move on.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Elson, Michael Millar here.  We are right about 12:45.  Would this be an appropriate time for a break?

MR. ELSON:  I see there is an interjection, so I will maybe deal with that first.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  Ian Mondrow for IGUA.  Can I ask a follow-up question to the one you just concluded before we break?  You are nodding.

So gentlemen and lady, has Enbridge done any analysis of the risk of underutilization of this asset beyond 2050?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  In our current forecasting period which does not include 2050 we have not. I am not aware of any analysis past beyond 2050.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So the answer is no?  Is that right?  There's been no analysis of the risk of underutilization?

MR. CLARK:  None that I am aware of.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thanks.  I am happy to break now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Let's return at 1:30, which is what we currently have scheduled.  If folks wish to stay around to chat a bit that's fine as well, but we will go off the record now.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:48 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  If we can go back on the air.  And I will pass it back you, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I have another follow-up question on ED 6.

In ED 6c, we asked is Enbridge willing to bear any of the risk that the proposed infrastructure will be under utilized or stranded by 2050.  And in response, Enbridge said:
"These issues exceed the scope of this proceeding, and are more appropriately dealt with as part of the company's 2024 rebasing proceeding."


Can you just clarify exactly what you think would be more appropriately dealt with as part of the rebasing proceeding?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I think what we are trying to state here is that under our current approved mode of operation, we're delivering the safe and reliable natural gas that our customers need.  So to entertain this kind of concept would be outside of how we're operating today under the Board's guidance.

MR. ELSON:  So if Enbridge were to be bearing the risk of under utilized assets, that would be a topic for the rebasing proceeding?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Clark, go ahead.

MR. CLARK:  I was just going to say I think that is the next appropriate area to explore that, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  I will turn on to another question, then.

This ED 13, and in this we asked some questions about scenarios for downsizing the pipes.  And actually in the previous interrogatory, I believe we had asked for the cost savings of downsizing the pipes and, in essence, Enbridge said, not very much because most of the cost is labour.

And what I would like an undertaking for is to provide a specific estimate -- although it can be a high-level estimate -- of the cost savings from downsizing from a NPS 16 to a NPS 12.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Just to clarify, you are asking for the cost savings of reducing from 16 to 12, ignoring the impacts to pipeline capacity and the ability to serve customers off this pipeline?

MR. ELSON:  Just looking at cost.

MR. KEIZER:  For him to do that, though, we would have to do all of the qualifications as to why that is not even doable in the circumstance.

MR. ELSON:  You are free to repeat those or cite them in your evidence, of course.  I think that is totally reasonable.

MR. KEIZER:  So on that basis, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  JT1 --


MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Michael, to the extent we're even able, because there may be variables we are unable to determine based upon that.


MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  JT1.18.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.18:  TO PROVIDE A SPECIFIC ESTIMATE -- ALTHOUGH IT CAN BE A HIGH-LEVEL ESTIMATE -- OF THE COST SAVINGS FROM DOWNSIZING FROM A NPS 16 TO A NPS 12.

MR. ELSON:  I take it by the fact that you don't already have that number, that you didn't calculate the potential savings of downsizing as part of an IRP analysis?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  It wasn't calculated because the intent for this pipeline system was to replace with the -- at or near the current capacity, and such a downsize would reduce the capacity of the system.  And so without other reductions, yeah, it was not considered.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will turn now to interrogatory 25 -- actually, I should point first to the reply evidence or the responding evidence that this interrogatory relates to.

This is page 5 of the Enbridge responding evidence and I am looking under the heading of "feasibility of electrification".  Do you see that there?

In paragraph 8, starting halfway through, it says:
"The equivalent amount of energy from electricity required to replace the same energy provided by the proposed project over the course of one hour is approximately 1.64 gigawatts."


And then further down the page, it says:
"In other words, electricity generation, transmission and/or distribution infrastructure amounting to up to double the current peak demand for the City of Ottawa (served by Hydro Ottawa) or more than half of the generation capacity of the Pickering nuclear generating station would need to be built and placed into service in order to eliminate the St. Laurent pipeline system."


Do you see that there?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  Who on the panel is best able to speak to that conclusion?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  We don't have anybody on the witness panel that can speak in detail as to the calculations that occurred there.

MR. ELSON:  No one can speak to this?

MR. CLARK:  Not in detail.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I have a number of questions about it.  I will see what I can do, and maybe this will factor into our discussion about Monday.

The person who -- let me ask, I guess.  Who came to this conclusion, or who did this analysis?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  This analysis was conducted by our energy transition team.

MR. ELSON:  And who would have conducted it or who is the head of that team?

MR. CLARK:  I'm not sure who precisely conducted it.  The head of the team is Carolyn Wade.

MR. ELSON:  So the reference number here is 1.64 gigawatts.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  That's what's stated there, yes.

MR. ELSON:  But that's the capacity, not the actual forecast peak hour demand, right?

MR. CLARK:  Actually, if you scroll down, I think there is a footnote that explains the calculation.  So you will see there, yes, that is the capacity of the new pipeline.

MR. ELSON:  Great.  It's the capacity of the pipeline, not the forecast demand.  And the forecast demand is 139,000 cubic metres per hour.  Correct?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I believe it is 139,800, but yes, that ballpark.

MR. ELSON:  So you wouldn't be needing to be replacing 1.64.  It would be somewhat less that equates to the forecast demand, is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  That would be fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  And subject to check, that figure is 1.47 gigawatts.  But not even all of that 1.47 gigawatts is able to be used, because gas equipment is not 100 percent efficient.  Right?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.  I am not aware of any equipment being 100 percent efficient.

MR. ELSON:  Well, heat pumps are, right?  Heat pumps can produce two, three, four, five times the heat based on an electrical input.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  That's outside of my area of expertise, unfortunately.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  So you take your 1.47.  That's the energetic value of the gas.  But the actual heat that is generated would have to be factored down by your equipment, and in the commercial context for a gas boiler that's like a rooftop installation, that might be 0.8.  For residential, it might be 0.9 or 0.95 if it is a newer unit.

Would you agree with those, roughly speaking?

MR. KEIZER:  I think Enbridge addressed that issue, Mr. Elson, you're referring to in terms of the efficiencies of the equipment and the basis of what this calculation was in response to FRPO -- sorry, in response to ED 25.

MR. ELSON:  I am asking your witness a question.  Yes --


MR. KEIZER:  It is a technical conference, though, it's not cross-examination.  So I am directing you to ED 25, which puts this calculation into context.

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  I am fine to pull up ED 25.  ED 25 isn't pulling it up, Mr. Clark, makes reference to the current efficiency standards for natural gas furnaces being .95.  You are familiar with that, I take it?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I think the overall intent of this, however, was to provide an illustrative example for the purposes of understanding the scale of the energy delivered by this pipeline.  And I don't think that getting into the efficiency factors and the calculations and the minutia of this are necessarily relevant, as this pipeline project is meant to replace existing capacity, and we are not talking about growth at this time.

MR. ELSON:  Well, we can have debates about relevance at the hearing.  I am looking at the accuracy of this statement, that you would need 1.64 gigawatts of electricity generation to replace the pipeline.

I think that is patently false, and that is just my view, and I am going to make those arguments.  Right now I am asking you factual questions about how you would translate 1.64 gigawatts of gas on an energetic basis to electricity requirements.

So let me get to the next factor that you have to consider.  You would have to reduce the heating loads via your expected efficiency gains.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, can you restate that?

MR. ELSON:  Sure.  If Ottawa is planning deep retrofits and you are looking at, you know, how many gigawatts they're going to need to support electrification, you would need to be looking at how much they're going to reduce their heating loads through efficiency; is that fair?

MR. CLARK:  That's fair, assuming it is full electrification and doesn't include RNG or hydrogen or any other product that might flow through the pipeline.

MR. ELSON:  And so if they're talking about a reduction of 60 to 70 percent of their heating demand by deep retrofits, that's obviously going to have a significant impact on the electrical requirements.  Fair?

MR. CLARK:  Yes, I think that is fair.

MR. ELSON:  And if the electrical equipment involves some ground-source heat pumps that can be up to 550 percent efficient, that also is going to have a big impact on your electrical requirements.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  I think I would just want to state, again, that calculation was meant for an effort of scale, and don't necessarily agree that it's our electrical requirement, but it was something that was put there to relate the benefit of the pipeline in comparison to electricity.

MR. ELSON:  And I don't think it is a helpful indication of scale, but that's what, you know, we will argue at the hearing, and I am just trying to understand if you agree that the heating requirements, the electricity requirements, would be reduced even further if you're talking about highly cost-effective equipment -- sorry, highly efficient equipment like ground-source heat pumps where you are getting up to 550 percent efficiency.  Is that fair to say?

MR. CLARK:  I think we're outside of my area of expertise, to be honest.

MR. ELSON:  And would you also agree or would you agree that your electrical requirements are going to go down further when you are talking about peak to the extent that electrical heating load can be moved from peak time to off-peak times through thermal storage?

MR. CLARK:  Again, we're getting into technologies that I don't think I am qualified to speak on.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think at the break I will have to raise with Mr. Keizer the fact that we don't have witnesses to speak to these questions, but for now I think I will have to move on from this area.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, just on that point, though, I mean, I think the point in ED 25 was that the calculation was provided in the context of the calculation, and the basis of the calculation was provided in ED 25, also indicating that, you know, based upon, there would have to be an understanding of the mix of appliances, the mix of efficiencies, and all of that stuff to be able to come to any different conclusion, and obviously, Mr. Elson, you intend to argue something along those lines and in that context.

So I think, you know, it is -- I think it's -- I think Enbridge has put the position on the record with respect to the nature of the calculation and, you know, and the other elements that have not been included in the calculation.  So I think you can take it from there.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Clark, can you confirm what experience Carolyn Wade has in terms of calculating electrical requirements --


MR. KEIZER:  We are not doing this.

MR. ELSON:  Well, this is a legitimate area of questioning, Mr. Keizer, because I don't think whoever drafted this has the experience to be able to come to this conclusion.

Now, if Enbridge wants to withdraw the conclusion that you would need to have generation transmission or distribution billed to this more than double the current peak demands of the City of Ottawa, then I won't have any questions to ask.

But I don't think the people who drafted this have the expertise to come to that conclusion.  I think the conclusion is patently wrong, and I can't explore that without exploring what the expertise of that person are, or being able to ask that person any questions.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think it is unfair to ask this witness to talk about it, to make an opinion on the expertise of a colleague in the calculation of this.  That's why I think it is not an appropriate question.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I --


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Elson, it is Mr. Brophy from Pollution Probe.  Just a two-second interjection.  Just to forecast ahead, we do have a bunch of questions relating to this, and I am starting to worry that Enbridge doesn't have the people on the panel that will be able to, and I am happy to go through them again to see what they know and don't know.

But I am picking up that we have quite a few questions that we may not be able to do.  You know, we may not even get up today and, you know, if it becomes Monday, then maybe the right person can be found.  But I just wanted to flag that kind of at this time before we kind of chat over the break.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, first of all, I think, you know, the point is that it was clear in ED 25 that this was just simply a straight conversion from one energy use to another energy use, without the consideration of the efficiencies or the appliances or the mix thereof.  And, you know, that was clear in the response to ED 25.

And so, you know, then to decide that, okay, let's ask questions about things that we have already acknowledged are not included in the calculation I think is -- to me doesn't really make any sense, given the fact that we have already indicated the context of the calculation and you have already indicated elements that you think should be in the calculation, which you can appropriately argue.

So I am not quite sure what's the use of asking questions about stuff that it already was indicated isn't in it.

And so, you know, all the answer is going to be is, it's not in the calculation, and so if you have the ability to do the recalculation, do the recalculation.  You have a panel that is coming up on Monday.  Put it to them.  But, you know, the point is Enbridge has put their response on the record as to what it is and what's not in it, and so asking more questions about stuff that you know already based on the response that is not in it I don't think is necessarily productive or at this point is it even reasonable to do, given the response they have already given.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could interject.  Ms. Wade, who is active in many proceedings before the Board, presumably can be brought as a witness on Monday morning or even this afternoon and talk about her calculation.  If she did the calculation, why don't we just get her here and get her to explain it?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't even know if it is her calculation, so, you know, other than the fact that she is the head of that group and whether or not she supervised or otherwise did it, so I don't think it is necessarily appropriate to say that she will be here and speaking to the calculation.

The point is it is already clear as to the nature of the calculation already.  Recalculating it or doing something else, you know, is -- it doesn't add much, given the fact we have already told you what is not in it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Charles, you are using this calculation to impugn our witnesses, to say our witnesses simply have got it wrong.

If you are not willing to support the calculation with a witness, how can you impugn our witnesses?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think we're impugning anybody's witnesses.  The calculation said okay, well, this is the energy level and if you were to convert this -- assuming that gas wasn't available, and this was the on a straight conversion, you know, from energy to energy without taking into account the elements that have already been acknowledged to be 25 -- that this is what it would be.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, that is not true.  The second sentence is not an energy-to-energy conversion.  What it is saying is you would need to build double the generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure necessary to meet the peak demands of the city of Ottawa.

It is taking that a step further and saying we're not talking about an energetic comparison.  We're saying that to replace the pipeline, you would need to build electricity generation, transmission and/or distribution of the structure amounting to up to double the current peak demands of the city of Ottawa.

And that is -- I think it is patently false and I would like to -- I will put my request on the record.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to have a witness put forward who can speak to this, or to have Enbridge retract that sentence.

MR. KEIZER:  And my statement is that it was further qualified in ED 25, which is currently on the record.

MR. ELSON:  It wasn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Charles, what you are saying is that Enbridge is no longer saying that electrification is not feasible, because that is what this is about.

This is saying, sorry, electrification is not feasible.  That is your whole point.  So are you not saying that any more?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we did a conversion and we said this is what we think the gigawatts are on an energy-to-energy; that was clarified in ED 25.

If you look at that total amount, that would be the implication of that total amount.

You are free to argue that the number is, you know, entirely different, and you are free to argue there is stuff not included in this calculation that should be included in the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But, Charles, the difficulty is that you provided this in reply, and we don't have a witness who can technically say no, this is incorrect and you won't produce your witness.

You see the difficulty, right?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean I think it is -- well, my view is you have ED 25 which gives you the basis to argue and to challenge the number as you see fit, based upon as well by the question that's been posed already.

And so my view is, I don't think it necessarily implies that we have to now produce a witness beyond the qualification that we have indicated in ED 25.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, ED 25 doesn't retract the statement comparing or determining the amount of generation, transmission and distribution.

If you are saying that it does and you say on the record right now in front of us, that ED 25 is retracting that statement in effect, then I don't have any more questions.

But right now what we have is a section under the heading "Feasibility of Electrification", and it is doing a hell of a lot more than calculating the energetic comparison between an amount of gas and an amount of electricity.

It is taking it a step further and it's saying that there is a certain amount and a lot of electricity generation, transmission and distribution infrastructure that would need to be built to replace the St. Laurent pipeline.

That is a very, very different thing.  And again my request is either retract that statement, or put a witness forward who can speak to it so that we can test it.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Can we just bring up ED 25?

MR. ELSON:  No, I am going -- I will bring it up, if this time is not coming from my time.  So if your witnesses are coming back tomorrow, I will bring it up right now.  Let's pull it up.

MR. KEIZER:  This is the issue, though, you controlling the screen, Kent.  So let's just bring it up, in the spirit of cooperation.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, as you were speaking and before you made that comment, I had brought it up on the screen.  I am not --


MR. KEIZER:  Can we scroll down, please?

MR. ELSON:  I am not doing anything improper.

MR. KEIZER:  Can you go to part A of the response?  What it basically said at the end of the first paragraph is it indicated that it can't provide the efficiency factors, it doesn't have them.

It basically would have to consider those elements and absent this information, Enbridge Gas provided a direct conclusion for illustrative purposes to the OEB.

It is a direct energy conversion.  So to the extent that that is the basis of the 1.4, any extrapolation from that is based upon the nature of that calculation and whatever conclusions can be drawn based on the reply evidence that is there and the challenge that you may bring to it.

But that was the nature of the calculation.

If your question is go back now and recalculate the number and do something different -- I mean, the point is you are asking questions about did you consider this, did you consider this, did you consider this.  Well, we did.  We didn't do it.  We didn't consider those things.

So you have it in ED 25.  So what's the purpose of asking the same question over again when the answer is clear that we didn't do it.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Keizer, question A or part A of ED 25 is asking about one small factor.  And in terms of the overall factors, it is one of the smallest which is that once you start from the energetic value of gas, you have to decrease that by the approximate efficiency of the gas heating equipment.

And there are five or six other factors that would need to be examined.

ED 25 provides an answer with respect to the 1.64 and a possible downgrading by 95 percent efficiency factor.  It does not say that Enbridge acknowledges that the conclusion that it has drawn about double need for generation, transmission and distribution equipment is inaccurate, or it doesn't withdraw it in any way.

I have put on the record already what our request is, and I will move on.  If upon reviewing ED 25 you agree with me, I hope that your client will put someone forward who can speak to this.  But for now, I will move on.

Unless, Mr. Shepherd, I see that your microphone is off.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was going to say something, but look, Charles, it is your case to make.  If you don't want to make the case, fine.  It's your call.

MR. ELSON:  Turning now to ED 21, please.  In this question we had asked for the annual demand and design day demand for the area served by the project.

And in response, you said it is irrelevant because we should have asked for cubic metres per hour instead of cubic metres per day.

Could you please provide an answer to the interrogatory based on cubic metres per hour instead of cubic metres per day?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  So just to confirm, you are requesting that we complete that table that you had proposed with cubic metres per hour?

MR. ELSON:  I am asking that you answer interrogatory ED 21, except replace where it says cubic metres per day and insert cube meters per hour.

Enbridge didn't respond to the question on the basis that you planned based on cubic metres per hour, not cubic metres per day.

And so we're asking for the interrogatory to be answered but replace where there are references to cubic metres per day with cubic metres per hour.

MR. CLARK:  I'm not sure how I would do that, because annual demand can't be he expresses in cubic metres per hour.

MR. ELSON:  No.  And that is a figure that is just cubic metres per year.  And we are looking for that figure as well.

And what we are looking for is instead of the design day demand as cubic metres per day, provide that as cubic metres per hour, which then addresses the question that we were attempting to ask.

So for example, in the chart that you have on page 2 of ED 21, in the row where it is talking about design day demand, in that row you would put cubic metres per day.

And then in the annual demand you would be putting cubic metres per year.

MR. CLARK:  So the peak design demand for the pipeline system that is part of this application is included in the evidence already.  That is 139,800 cubic metres per hour.

MR. ELSON:  I am familiar with that, yes.

MR. CLARK:  I am just not sure what relevance rolling that up to those major sections of the province, in terms of total cubic metres per hour flowing through our system, what benefit that would have to this application.

MR. ELSON:  Well, Mr. Clark, in the reply evidence there was a reference to the information from the sponsors being unhelpful because it was expressed in annual demands, and so this question is exploring the typical ratios between annual demands and peak demands.

So we have asked for the annual demand for the area served by the project and the peak demand and that expressed as a ratio.  And then we have asked if Enbridge has any reason to believe that that ratio would be different as between the stock of all buildings in the area and those owned by the City of Ottawa.

And then to assist us in assessing how consistently annual and peak demands track together, we have asked you to complete the following table based on the latest annual gas supply plan update, which is part B.

MR. CLARK:  So the challenge is that you can't directly relate annual demands with peak hour demands.  And so an improvement in one or the other does not necessarily translate to the other.  It depends on customer types, customer usage profiles, temperatures, and a variety of other factors.  There isn't one simple calculation or ratio you can draw between the two.

MR. ELSON:  I fully understand that, Mr. Clark, and I take it that one example is that heating demand is much more peaky than other forms of equipment.

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And we can have those debates, and I am happy to have those debates.  This is a piece of information that can inform those debates, but I 100 percent agree with your caveat and would suggest that you make it as part of this interrogatory response -- sorry, undertaking response.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the witness is saying it is technically not correct to draw the relationship between the two.

MR. ELSON:  What your witness has said is that you can't draw a direct relationship between the two.  And I do not disagree with that.  There are lots of factors involved.

However, that doesn't mean that the information is completely useless.  And part of the reason for the table in part B is to assess how consistent that relationship is, because it would be looking at the annual versus the peak demand in a number of different -- in different areas.

We can then take this information and, you know, make our arguments based on it.  And Enbridge is fully capable of adding as many caveats as it wishes.

So can you provide that undertaking in the interests of time and protect your client's interests with caveats or otherwise?  It's not onerous.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess I am asking whether it is entirely useless or not, Mr. Clark?

MR. CLARK:  I can't see what can be learned from this data.

MR. ELSON:  All right.  So --


MR. KEIZER:  So the bottom line is, what we will do is we'll take it away.  If we can do the calculation, we will.  If we can't, we will say why we can't, and we'll provide any proper caveats in the event that we provide the calculation.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer, appreciate it.

MR. MILLAR:  It's JT1.19.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.19:  TO PROVIDE A RESPONSE TO ED 21 BASED ON CUBIC METRES PER HOUR

MR. CLARK:  Can I ask one clarifying question, though, with regards to that undertaking?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. CLARK:  Just in that table you have, you have year 1, and then year N plus one.  Are you just looking for us to populate, you know, 2019, 2020, for example?  If you can just clarify what you are looking for there.

MR. ELSON:  Yeah, I guess it would be the years that are in the annual gas supply plan update, to see if there is, you know -- what kind of tracking that ratio has.

Again, this is just populating information that you have, so I don't think it should be onerous, but if it is possible to provide it for -- I think you probably have it for a five-year span in the document.  So that would be what we would be looking for.

If you decide that you can't and it is onerous and you only do it for one year, then we will get what we get.  But five years would have been more helpful.

Turning now to ED 23, part B.  We had asked about evidence from Ottawa that describes plans to reduce consumption of fossil gas in Ottawa community housing to zero in 2040, and asked you to estimate the impact of that in terms of design day demand.

And I believe the reference to ED 21 in your response is saying, Mr. Elson, you made a mistake in referencing cubic metres per day instead of cubic metres per hour.

So can you provide a response to that interrogatory on a best-efforts basis in terms of cubic metres per hour?  I am fine, Mr. Clark, to have that be on a best-efforts basis so that you don't have to think all the way through that question, and in your response you can say, no, we couldn't do it because it was too complicated.  But for now can you take that away on a best-efforts basis.

MR. CLARK:  I was just going to say, I believe we have some information in evidence already relating to Ontario community housing reductions that we were able to identify given the information provided, and that it was recently updated as well in one of the update IRs.  And that was expressed in cubic metres per hour.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well, I will take a look at that and maybe jump back in if that wasn't what I was looking for.

MR. MILLAR:  How are you doing for time there, Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  I will be done by 2:15.  Actually, I am done now.  However, I did have a good number of questions and had filed compendia, volume 1 and 2, in relation to, I think it was paragraph 8 of the responding evidence talking about the feasibility of electrification.

So I will reserve my right to whatever rights I do have to pick that up based on further discussions between counsel.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Elson.

Mr. Shepherd, you are up next.  Are you ready to proceed?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I will ask questions for --


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sorry, Mr. Zheng, please go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Zheng:

MR. ZHENG:  Good afternoon.  My name is Fred Zheng, counsel to School Energy Coalition.

So my first set of questions are regarding the condition of the pipelines and then the nature of some of the repairs that was done to the pipeline.

So if we can go to the actual application.  I'm assuming -- yeah.  Thank you.  The first set of questions, they all relate to 1 Staff 1, because they're all on the conditions of the pipeline.

So if we can go to Exhibit B-1-1, page 16.  Figure 4.  So I would like to ask the panelists to help me understand some of the graphs in the application.  So paragraph -- so figure 4.  Can you confirm that the blue section of the main line is the segment of the gas main that has heavy pitting and that was cut out in 2006?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, I can confirm that the blue highlighted area is where the GPRIP survey was conducted and that that survey ended up revealing some heavily corroded areas and there was a cut-out completed in that area.  This map is just for illustrative purposes only, though, so the scale of that cut-out is not representative by this overall highlighted blue section.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  Can you elaborate a little more on what does cut-out really mean, and does it mean the replacement of certain segments or is it more of repairment?  Thank you.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  I can certainly elaborate on what a cut-out would be.  A cut-out is simply cutting the pipeline, removing the affected area and installing a brand new piece of pipe at that time.  So there would be a new piece of pipe for the impacted area.

So it is not a repair method; it would be a replacement method for a specific section of pipe.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  Let's scroll down to figure 6.  It should be just two pages down.  Similar idea.  I am assuming the blue section is the segment where repairment or cut-out is done, and that was done in 2013.

Could the panelists confirm that, please?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, that is confirmed as well.  That is the location where that cut-out did occur as well.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  It was also a cut-out, okay.  So let's go to page 20.  In 2014, Enbridge did another series of repairs on the pipeline, after a third party spotted issues on the pipeline.

And my understanding is the repair done in 2014 are a little bit different from the cut-out that was done previously.

Could you help me understand how are they different from the previous repairment?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, this was a different kind of repair method.  Based on those integrity digs, we ended up identifying a number of different features on the pipeline.  So five dents; three of those dents did have linear corrosion indications, eleven of the damage features had gouges, scratches and/or metal loss.  Then six damaged features were found within the dents.

These features were all repaired by installing a pressure containment sleeve around those, around those features, or there was also a smooth plain dent that had no metal loss and that being recoated and left in-service.  And there was six different features repaired by grinding and recoating, and these are all Z662 approved methods of repairs.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  Could you tell me, in general, repairment -- do repairments help the pipeline maintain its integrity?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, that is correct.  The repairs would help the pipeline maintain its overall integrity and they are provided by Z662.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  Maintaining integrity, meaning it would help the pipeline to achieve its design lifetime.   Is that fair?

MR. MURDOCH:  The repair would address the immediate risk to the pipeline in that specific area.  There are some conditions for the repair such as grinding that would reduce overall wall thickness of the pipe in that specific area.  And again, some of the features do end up having some metal loss, but not all repairs replace that metal loss either.

So in those specific instances, the wall thickness of the pipeline would be reduced in that area.  But the repairs do allow for the safe and reliable operation of the gas pipeline in that specific instance.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  I recall you said cut-out is more like a replacement activity rather than a repairment.

And in your replacement option in the application proposed, would that include replacing the segment of the pipeline that was already cut out in 2006 and 2013?

MR. MURDOCH:  Sorry, just so I understand the context of the question.  The question is, in our repair methodology where we were identifying the leaks and repairing those, whether or not they would also include this section of cut-outs that we've completed that were identified in our evidence.  Is that the question?

MR. ZHENG:  Right.

MR. MURDOCH:  I think the overall context of how we came to those repair methods is important to address at this time.

So it is important to understand that when we were doing those leak projections, it was not an overall comprehensive figure.  We do use a subset of failure data from our corrosion leaks only.

So how we end up coming up with those corrosion data is from the overall large population of steel pipelines.  And then we take recorded failures that we have on our system since 2007 to inform our data and from that, we have some statistically significant factors that have been highlighted throughout our evidence.

So those factors are the length, percent of good CP ratings, or cathodic protection, wall thickness, and cold connections for pressure.

And what we do is we end up evaluating each individual segment of pipeline within the St. Laurent network, then performing a comprehensive analysis on each one of those ones and reeling that into the overall probability of failure data we end up using.

So it is a limited subset of data that we end up utilizing.  The cut-outs would be included in that data.  They would obviously have very different characteristics being replaced pipe as the remainder of the existing St. Laurent pipeline.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  Maybe I didn't explain my question correctly.

So the application before the Board right now proposes to replace the entire St. Laurent pipeline, so it is described in the application.  My question is does that replacement cover the pieces, the segments of the pipeline that was recently cut out or repaired in 2013 and 2006.

MR. MURDOCH:  Thank you for clarifying your question.  Yeah, the answer to that is yes, the overall replacement pipeline will encompass the same areas that have been cut out.  So the entire pipeline will be replaced as part of this project.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.

MR. MADRID:  If I could add, Mr. Zheng, it is also important to point out this is a single source network as we have identified in our evidence.  So as such, we have to install a brand new pipeline first before we can abandon the old one.  And because of that method or that approach, it is not that we could reutilize the existing pipe that was cut out or replaced at that time.  Does that make sense for you?

MR. ZHENG:  Yes, it does, thank you.  Would the repair option allow you to reuse those segments?

MR. MADRID:  No, it is still the same constraint. We've got an existing pipeline that needs to stay active, supplying the customers and we have to install a brand new pipeline.  Once that brand new pipeline is constructed and energized, then we will be able to abandon the old one.

We can't be installing and connecting to the old one where you've got little pups of pipe that may be in good condition.

MR. ZHENG:  Sorry, I was saying if we go with the repair option instead of the replacement option, would that method allow those, you know, recently replaced segments to stay in place and be useful?

MR. MADRID:  I don't quite understand your question there.  If you don't mind restating it.

MR. ZHENG:  So in our application, we're talking about two options here to address the integrity concerns raised.  One is to replace the entire pipeline, so-called the replacement option, or to pick up the projected leaks and do repairs down the road.

My question is -- well, first of all, like you said, if we go with the replacement method those segments wouldn't be -- you know, would have to replace those segments that was repaired already, right.

If we go with the repair option, would those recently repaired segments be useful down the road?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Thank you for clarifying your question.

The repair option would only repair the pipeline in a reactive manner, so any pipelines that begin to leak.

So if there is a leak on the new sections of pipe, then they would be replaced, cut out and replaced with an even newer section of pipe.  But if the leaks were to occur on the existing pipeline, we would keep the repair constrained within where the actual leak occurs.  So it really is dependent on where those leaks would occur that would indicate where the repairs happen.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  So if we can go to page 26, that would be great.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Zheng, it is Mr. Quinn.  Would you mind if I just ask a follow-up question on that line of questioning?

MR. ZHENG:  Oh, I don't mind.  Go ahead, please.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Just, Mr. Murdoch went through an extensive elaboration on how your database is used to come up with the condition of steel pipes across their franchise to inform decisions about condition.

Is that a fair summary, Mr. Murdoch?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, I did that provide a brief summary.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  My question is -- and it's two questions.  First off, is Union Gas's pipe in that database?

MR. MURDOCH:  I believe we touched on this a little bit earlier.  But, no, this is entirely based off of the legacy Enbridge Gas database right now.  The legacy Union database will be incorporated beginning next year.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Fair enough.  Thank you.  I just want to make sure we're talking about the same thing.

And then the second question is, with all of that information, this information gets pulled together into your asset health index, which -- and you can pull up the reference if it is helpful to you, but in figure 17 you show the St. Laurent asset health index, and saying -- again, the chart says the projected leaks within the next in this case 20 -- well, sorry.  You can maybe tell me.  Is this projected -- in figure 17 is it projected 40-year asset health index, your asset health index is green up until fully and dark green up to 2045?  It is on page 56 of the PDF, Ms. Allman.  Sorry, I should have referenced that.  I was looking ahead.  There you are.

So that database you talked about is the basis and the totality of information preparing your budget across the Enbridge Gas zone, and it allows you to project this asset health index, figure 17?  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so just the last part of that, then.  If I am reading this correctly, it is completely green up to 2043 or 2045.  The resolution won't allow me to discern if there is some line bleeding there.

MR. MURDOCH:  That one single part of the analysis looks like that interpretation is correct.  But that is not the totality of the analysis.

MR. QUINN:  But it is your comparative health index rating that you are using for pipelines in the Enbridge Gas rate zone at this time?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, it does go into the asset health index.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Sorry, Mr. Zheng.  Thank you for your indulgence.

MR. ZHENG:  Well, it is actually a convenient segue.  My next set of questions are also related to the asset health index.

In your response to Staff interrogatory 6b, so if we can go to IR responses document.  Staff 6b.  In that question, the Staff asked Enbridge to explain why Enbridge believes the integrity concerns have to be addressed within three years.

Your response, my understanding, was that there was a projection of 4.3 cumulative leaks to be occur on the pipeline by '41, which is about two decades from now.

Could you help me a little bit to understand why does that justify the, you know, the three-year emergency there?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  So what the reliability engineering ends up providing is an overall likelihood of a leak event occurring.

What we end up doing is we will take that likelihood of the leak occurring and we will evaluate what the consequences potentially could be.  And those two items, the likelihood and the consequence, can get fed into a QRA, a quantitative risk assessment, to determine the overall risk rating of the pipeline.

I can actually direct you to Staff 4 for a summary of those consequences or the risk assessment as a result of those consequences.

If we scroll down, just a little bit further to tables 1 and 2.  So this is a summary of our overall risk assessment, and you can see that in the winter scenario we take a look at the 20 years average risk, is the customer loss is assessed as a high risk, and when we take a look at the 40 years average risk, the winter scenario is increased to a very high risk, with the summer scenario progressing from medium to high.  And this is what we would expect to see over time with a generally degrading asset.

If you scroll down a little bit further to the next page, in our response to C is -- you will see that our Enbridge risk evaluation criteria identifies that any risks that are rated as high or above require risk treatment.  So that is why we need to address this risk right now and why it cannot wait for three years.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  You mentioned that those -- excuse me, asset health index are a high-level probability, possibility.  Could you help me understand what is -- so if we can go back to Staff interrogatory 6b.

Could you help me understand what is 0.1 leak per year and the cumulative total of 0.3 leaks projected by 2024?  What do those, you know, less than one leak mean?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch,  Enbridge.  I can definitely provide some additional context for that.

Perhaps it is good to go to PDF page 395, which summarizes all of the yearly projections and the cumulative data as well.  I guess your PDF is different than the one I have on my screen.  So I will give you the IR reference here.  It is in EP 13, page 2.

So these are what the yearly projections are, and you can see, like you said, in 2021, 2022, 2023, as we have 0.1 yearly projections.  What that is really saying is that we have -- the likelihood of a leak is a one in a ten-year event, and then we translate that back into our QRA and then we evaluate what the overall consequence can be, and on our seven-by-seven risk matrix is where we can determine what the overall risk for an event of that likelihood and an event of that consequence would end up being, and that will inform whether or not we need to respond, and the St. Laurent pipeline is the risk is rated as high and very high, depending on the scenario run, which means that Enbridge needs to act now on that risk and address it now.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  So in 2018 Enbridge contracted pureHM to conduct a quite comprehensive inspection of the entire pipeline.  And there is many coating anomalies and there is other issues flagged.

In 2018, why didn't Enbridge propose a replacement in 2018?  Or even earlier, when other issues were addressed.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Just to correct the record here, Mr. Zheng, Enbridge has been proposing this project right from -- since 2017.  We did our first phase of the project in 2018, followed by the LDC application for phase 2 and the execution of it in 2019 and 2020.

So we have taken the actions required to address this pipe plan as quickly as possible.  These last few phases to complete the project is what we're pursuing the leave-to-construct for.

And with regards to that pureHM study there, just to correct, again, that was not done on the entirety of the pipeline.  As this technology has its limitations, we had to explore where we could apply that technology and collect what data we could.

So the maps associated with that on Exhibit B, if I could direct you, will identify the locations of -- that were identified as part of that study.  So it was not done on the entire project.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Madrid.  If we can go back to table 11, at page 42.  Mr. Murdoch was referring to that table just earlier.  Table 11.  Thank you.

So my understanding is that the definition of leaks have various -- have different variations in the application.  Can you help me understand what kind of leaks are you referring to there?  Are those just simple failures, or class A, class B leaks -- or, you know, what are these leaks we are talking about here?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  The leaks that are referred to here are leaks that result -- which is an event that results in a loss of containment as a result of corrosion failures only.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  My next set of questions --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Mr. Zheng.  As Mr. Murdoch answered that, I don't think I heard the answer to all of your questioning that the loss of containment -- there was not categorization of A, B or C.  Can these be considered all A, B, and C for loss of containment?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  The nature of the leak would really be dependent on the overall location and the immediate hazard presented by that leak.  Conceivably, they could be any categorization of leak.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  I might come back to this point in a bit.  But right now, let's move on to the next set of questions.  They're regarding the repair verses replacement options contemplated in the application.

In Enbridge's response to ED 3 -- so please, yes, thank you.

So there you explain the calculation behind the cost of -- the total cost of the repair option.  And my understanding is that you basically estimated an average of $350,000 per cut-out, and then plus 20 percent contingency and multiply that by the projected leaks per year, and then plus inflation.

Could you explain to me what are the -- what are the typical costs for a cut-out repair project?  Let's begin with that.

MR. MURDOCH:  The costs that are reflected here are the estimated typical repair costs.  But again, as seen throughout our evidence, they can vary greatly depending on the location of the leak and the overall ease of access to that location.

But, yeah, on average Enbridge is assuming it will be $350,000, plus 20 percent contingencies, for a total cost of $420,000 in today's dollars.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  If we can go to FRPO 14, Enbridge's response to that question.  Enbridge explained what -- you point out there were two class A leaks, one in 2013 and the other one in 2016, I believe.

The 2013 class A leak cost about $150,000.  And the next year, the next corrosion repair cost 172.

They are both under, significantly under the average cost for -- average cost for cut-out repair used in the repair option calculation.

Could you explain the difference?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  Sorry, if you don't mind scrolling down a little bit further.

Like I said, each individual repair is reliant on the specific characteristics of what we encounter out in the field -- ease of access, construction complexity, those sorts of things.

We do have our evidence here as well.  There is the repair that costs of $3 million as well.  So you can see that that is a different range of potential dollars.

What we have done is as well is over time construction costs have gone up.  So those dates, those dollars that you are looking at are from 2014 as well as from 2013.  So it is expected that those costs will be increasing over time as well.  So really we're basing this off of a standard repair that would happen, that is often informed by our overall integrity dig program on other similar pipelines.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  You mentioned construction cost goes up from time to time and then you captured that by using inflation in your calculation.  But I do want to ask, since we're talking about 40 years span of horizon, has Enbridge considered technology development might bring down the costs of repairment?

MR. MURDOCH:  Can you clarify what you mean by advances in technology?

MR. ZHENG:  In general, if there is -- I don't want to, you know, bring in any hypotheticals, but in general.  Because we're talking about 40 years of time, presumably there be technology development.

Has Enbridge considered the possibility that these technologies will bring down the construction costs for repair?

MR. MURDOCH:  For the purposes of this NPV exercise, we did not consider any overall reduction in average cost to repair.

We did assume that it was going to be the 350,000 plus 20 percent contingency, and then inflated it accordingly.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  Could you please
go to --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Zheng, I apologize.  I will do this the last time before the break.

But you are on this page and I had a question that I didn't get a chance to ask this morning, and we're here now

I note in the middle paragraph, the second last paragraph, it says -- second last paragraph, right there -- that two additional leaks on valves were discovered February 17th, 2022.

Can you tell me, first off, what initiated the leaks survey that came up with two additional B valve leaks literally two weeks ago?

By way of undertaking, if you could do that, please.  This is in addition to your evidence that you were there, as noted as an addition to your interrogatory response.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  We can take that back, Mr. Quinn, and confirm whether that was identified through the regular leak survey inspection or whether it was identified by somebody calling in the leak.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you would, and just provide whatever -- if it was a purchase order to your vendor, like if it is a third party inspection, as your leak survey or if one of your staff did it, what initiated it.  And provide that for the record, please.

MR. MADRID:  We will confirm how the leak was determined.

MR. QUINN:  We are looking for the evidence that supports it also, sir.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to mark the undertaking at JT1.20.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.20:  FOR THE VALVE LEAKS DISCOVERED FEBRUARY 17th, 2022, TO CONFIRM HOW THE LEAKS WAS DETERMINED, AND THE SUPPORTING EVIDENCE


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Zheng, I appreciate your indulgence.

MR. ZHENG:  No problem.  Since Mr. Murdoch was talking about you know, during Enbridge's calculation of the total costs for repairment option did not really include -- didn't really consider technology improvement and how that might impact the overall cost, I want to ask the panel.

Can we go to FRPO 15, attachment 1, and page 15 of that attachment?

On the left-hand side column, listed as one of the pros for the repair option, there is improvement in pigging  technology.  Can you advise how does that play into the repair option, or why is that a pro listed there?

MR. MADRID:  I believe the item there was identifying that there is potential for improvement in pigging technology, as we discussed earlier.

There is the ability to use remote crawler tools now, so that in itself may provide you an opportunity to find some of these and do the repairs in more of a proactive versus reactive approach.

MR. ZHENG:  Has Enbridge considered, you know, technology like that would have any cost impact on the repair option?

MR. MADRID:  It wouldn't have any impact on the repair option.  The repair is still going to cost you what it is going to cost you to repair.  The only thing that would do would be identify where you need to make this repair.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  Thank you.

So overall Enbridge projects 40.9 corrosions in the span of 40 years.  Just give me a -- could you help me understand a little bit and provide a little bit more context?

Is that a lot of corrosions, 40.9 in the 40 years?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, we would consider that to be a large number on a pipeline this size and pressure class.

MR. ZHENG:  And do you have any benchmarking of comparable data you can -- it doesn't have to be very detailed, but just give me an idea.  Usually, for a pipeline this age, how many corrosions are we -- is considered normal for you?

MR. MADRID:  I'm sorry, I don't think -- just to correct you there, we're not talking about 40.9 corrosions.  We're talking about the potential for 40.9 corrosion-related leaks.

So no leaks as far as the company is concerned are accepted, if I stated that correctly.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  So if -- hypothetically, if we're using the repair option, can you please tell me would Enbridge sort of address these repairments in a planned course of action or more of a risk -- reactive and ad hoc basis?

MR. MURDOCH:  In the context of the 40.9 corrosion leaks, is those repairs that were contemplated were completely reactive in nature.  So we would wait for the pipeline to fail and then we would respond accordingly.

MR. ZHENG:  In other words -- correct me if I'm wrong, though, if it happens we will fix it.  If not, no work to do?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.  We would only repair the pipeline in the event of a loss of containment or a corrosion leak.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  Then I will ask questions regarding the reply evidence filed by Enbridge.  So if we can go to Enbridge response to Pollution Probe 1.  So I.M.1.PP.1.  Instead of going through all of the references there, my question for the panel is that -- so why did Enbridge choose the 47 HDD as the reference scenario, given that that particular condition only occurred once in the past decade -- sorry, occurred only twice in the last 40 years?  Why did Enbridge choose that as a reference condition?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  So that temperature profile or that number was selected because it did occur in the history of the pipeline, and again, the purpose of the distribution system is to meet peak demands and ensure that we continue to safely and reliably deliver the energy that our customers need.  And so those temperatures were experienced.

Now, that was a breach, but you can also see that within the last ten years that minus 27 is additionally pretty close to the minus 29.  Also keeping in mind these numbers here do not include wind-speed issues or effects.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  Next question is 2.1 Staff.21.  So now SEC and the witness have already filed a specific address of those buildings and committees referred to.

Would Enbridge undertake to provide a revision of the calculation?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Can you scroll down just a bit so we can see the table.

So this table here is an update from the previous table that was provided, where we utilized the addresses that were provided as part of the reply evidence.  So I think, if you look at the previous table, the overall total impacts was in the area of 10,000, has been updated to represent this 11,000 and 46 cubic metres per hour.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  My last question is about -- is regarding the in-service date of the St. Laurent pipeline.  Originally Enbridge planned to complete the construction of the project in December 2022, and that was based on the assumption a LTC approval would be received in February 2022.

Now, we're in March of 2022.  The application is still ongoing.  Without speculating the result of this application, I think it is fair to say we won't get a result at least in May or perhaps June of this year, and that's a at least four- to five-month delay in just the LTC process.

Would Enbridge consider revised in-service date for this project, why -- or when would that be, and if not, why not?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Even though there has been a delay to the LTC proceeding, we have been working at plans to mitigate that overall schedule delay, and we still believe that a 2022 in-service date for phase 3 is still feasible, as well as that would still allow us to maintain our phase 4 in-service date of 2023 in December as well.

So we are planning on applying more construction crews to the overall work in order to accomplish this.

MR. ZHENG:  So -- thank you, Mr. Murdoch.  So in Exhibit D, T1-S1, page 9, as evidenced in the application, Enbridge indicated that the whole project would take 12 months to complete.

Now we're, like I said, four or five, maybe even more months delayed in the process.  Although, Mr. Murdoch, you mentioned adding crews on the project will help expedite the schedule, is there a written plan, internal written plan, to expedite the project by almost half of its -- half of its original planned construction period?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Right now we would need to understand exactly where we would end up getting the LTC decision to move ahead in order to finalize any kind of plan or schedule to meet the in-service date.

However, we are working in the background to make sure that we can line up the appropriate number of crews to make sure that that happens, and those crews will be mobilized depending on when we get a decision and when we can start construction.

MR. ZHENG:  So I am just trying to figure out, you know -- because, like I said, the delays are significant, although, you know, at this point there needs to be a concrete action, concrete schedule, for Enbridge to present it to its Board, to have a solid ISD that is five months earlier than the originally-planned course of action.

I am seeking a more specific plan or schedule rather than just saying we will add more people to the job.

MR. MURDOCH:  One of the possibilities that does present itself with a project of this size and magnitude is the overall length of construction, which means that we are able to add more and more crews.  So we are currently making sure that we have -- we have that kind of plan planned out.

But again, it is one of those things that until we know exactly when we will get a decision and when we are allowed to start construction, at this point it would be just to speculate on when we will be able to mobilize and start our construction.

We don't have any final plan in place because we don't have a confirmed construction start date at this point.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, Mr. Zheng -- sorry, I said I was not going to interrupt again --


MR. ZHENG:  That's fine go ahead, please.

MR. QUINN:  Can you give us the most recent plan, as of now what you've put together as a plan, and specifically what the cost implications would be of crashing a schedule and adding more crews?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yeah, as of right now -- oops.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has given his answer in terms of the fact they're putting in place more construction crews.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, he said there is no final plan.  We all understand there is some uncertainty around when the Board will render its decision.

But I am not seeking the final plan.  I am seeking what is the interim plan.  There seems to be confidence on behalf of Enbridge that by adding construction crews, the project can still be completed by the industry of that year.

What is the reason for that confidence?  There must be some form of plan to say, okay, I know we're delayed, but here is the new plan with 50 percent more crews in place.  This is what we can do.

That has to be in writing somewhere and also what the classifications will be, because to the extent that that occurs, the escalated costs, in our view, may or may not be prudent as far as the Board is concerned in terms of what is the urgency of 2022 versus 2023 if we can save $20 million on the construction costs.

MR. KEIZER:  The prudency issue I don't think is for this proceeding.  But in terms of what he had indicated, there is no final plan.  He is actually --


MR. QUINN:  What is the plan now?  As of today, what is the most recent plan and provide that to Mr. Zheng because that is what he was asking for, is an update to the plan.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the question is whether or not -- well, one, I think he has indicated that the addition of additional construction crews is a mitigating measure.  But the question you are asking is, are these plans being refreshed.

MR. QUINN:  I think that's what he said, they are being refreshed that is what gives him the confidence.

So if there is a plan, great.  If there is not a plan, provide us what your plan is and the cost implications.

MR. KEIZER:  No.  I mean, he has indicated that there are mitigating measures are additional construction crews.  I think that is what the mitigation measure is.

The witness can answer further from that.

MR. ZHENG:  So my follow up question will be, although the mitigating measure is to add crews.  Again, how much crew are we adding, at what pace, and at what cost.

We want to know that.  I think it's fair that the Board needs to have this information to assess.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  So as of today, we would be adding crews.  There's a certain level of effort and level of work that is required in order to complete this overall project by the in-service date.

So although we would be adding crews, we would be adding for a shorter duration of time and so it would still not add any additional man-hours to the overall job.  They would just be additional man-hours in a compressed time frame.

MR. QUINN:  Have you confirmed that with your contractor, that they will abide by the same costs they have given you to this point if they have to work and complete the project in a condensed schedule?

MR. ZHENG:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn.  To add to that question, if you have confirmed with the contractors, if you have presented these plans to your Board, we would like to have written documentation showing such.

MR. QUINN:  So if there is no documentation, provide it please.  Create -- tell us what you have done, what the cost estimate would be to create --


MR. KEIZER:  Why don't you let him answer the question.  We will only give documentation if we have it.  If there isn't any, we won't create any, but go ahead.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I would like to ask Mr. Murdoch if he has confidence in doing this, how long would it take to talk to the contractor and ask the question about, based on the schedule we now have, will they honour the price or what is the cost implication of condensing the schedule.

MR. KEIZER:  That's been about five questions asked and I don't think he has been able to answer any of them.  Can we figure out which question you want him to actually answer?

MR. ZHENG:  I will let Mr. Quinn ask the question first, and then I will follow up.

MR. QUINN:  We are asking if -- Mr. Zheng started out this line of questioning on the confidence Enbridge has they will get the project done this year.  We have heard they are confident.

We're saying what is the basis for the confidence.  What study or analysis has been done to say that yes, one, it can be done, and then what the cost implications will be.  We're looking for the documentation to support that.

If it has not been done to this point, we don't think it will be an appropriate approach to say, yeah, we can get it done, but we will tell you what the cost is later.  We would like to know the cost.

So if Enbridge has not confirmed a cost that they will stand behind with their contractor to get it done in 2023, we would like them to ask the contractor and be able to put it on the record so the Board would know what the cost implications would be to jam it in in 2022.

MR. MURDOCH:  So in the context of that question, again, we would be applying and requesting some additional contractor crews to work on this overall project.

The contractor crews themselves would have their typical rates on an hourly basis.  The hours of work are not being increased as a result of this delay; it just means we're going to have more crews working on more sections of pipe at one time.

So as of right now, there would be some efficiencies that would be gained.  There is some less IDC costs.

The overall impacts though, unfortunately, probably will not be able to be quantified until we know exactly what the start date is and what the construction window will be.

So I am not sure I can provide any additional information beyond that, without knowing for certain what our construction start date would end up being.

But as of right now, we're still planning on the same number of crew days, they're just going to be multiple crew days per day now instead of incentives spread out over a longer period of time.

MR. QUINN:  I want to respect Mr. Zheng will finalize this.  My request would then be two parts.  What is the most recent you have and provide that.  That would be one undertaking.

The second undertaking is, if you have not completed that analysis, to provide confirmation that your contractor will add additional crews at no extra cost under the schedule.  You have said there they won't be expanding their work day, but they have to find additional resources, additional equipment, and those costs, generally speaking from my experience of decades with contractors in the pipeline industry, those come at a cost.

So if Enbridge is saying they're willing to stand behind their original cost estimates that they have and no additional costs and they want to get the Board to approve that, that would be one thing.

But if we're as ratepayers going to be put at risk for additional costs to crash the schedule, we think the Board should be informed of that up front before a decision is made.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has answered the question.  He indicated how they actually intend to mitigate and the implication for the hours, and the implication for the hourly rate.

So in my view, he has indicated what the plan is and why they remain confident in the number and the schedule.

MR. QUINN:  So you are refusing the two requests for Undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not refusing.  I think it has already been answered.

MR. QUINN:  He hasn't told me that Enbridge will put on the record that they will stand behind their existing contractor costs with no increases if they crash the schedule.

MR. KEIZER:  We are not negotiating that with you here, Dwayne, so we are not doing that at all.

MR. QUINN:  Then go back to what is the current plan and show us that it has considered and spoke to the contractor about their ability to provide these services at the rates that are currently in the contract.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has provided the answer, so I think we are going to move on at this point.

MR. QUINN:  So that is a refusal?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Sorry, Mr. Zheng.  I was just trying to be specific with my list.

MR. ZHENG:  No problem.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Zheng, can I ask just one very quick question?  It will save me time from delving back into the level you are at.  Is that okay?

MR. ZHENG:  Sure.  I will be the last person asking questions.  Whoever has questions on these issues, go ahead.  I will ask --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  And for the court reporter, it is Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

So maybe you can help me understand.  So your normal practice is to have, say, one crew doing this work; is that right?  Or two crews or three crews?  What would be the normal number for this project?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Our normal practice would be to take advantage of the construction season, which typically begins in April for the duration of the year, and assign crew resources as required in order to meet the intended in-service date.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So what I think I heard you say is you generally try and allocate crews during the good weather and keep away from the bad weather is your normal.  But I am thinking for this specific project -- because you are indicating you just increase crews.

So, like, I am trying to get a sense on, are you doubling, tripling, quadrupling?  Like, you know, if you had -- if you had approval today, like, full approval with everything, you're going to have to increase crews, and it would be more if you got approval a month from now, two months from now, three months from now.

So I am just trying to get a sense on, you know, how many times more manpower are you going to need working on this simultaneously?  Is there, like, a range?  Is it double, triple?  Based on today?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Really what we would need to take a look at is determine what the original schedule was and then determine what the new schedule is and then increase the factor accordingly and making sure that the crews aren't stepping on each other's toes.  And again, in circumstances such as this one where we do have a long length of pipe, is there is a lot of room for multiple crews to be implemented and working at once without impacting each other's overall efficiency for the workload as well.

So the factor of number of crews increased would be proportional to the amount of schedule reduction that we have to work with.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And that is exactly what I thought.  And, like, right now it sounds like it is a paper exercise.  You haven't actually done it where you would take the amount of time, what crews can do it, you just plug it in, you'd say, okay, crew can get this much done, so let's just do the math on how many crews, and then I think you also mentioned then you would have to then bring some reasonableness to it to say, okay, well, they can't be on top of each other.  That is not safe, you know, there is health and safety issues, all sorts of issues with that, so you've got to make sure they're spaced out enough, those kind of considerations.

So it sounds like, you know, theoretically it, you know, can be done on paper, but you haven't actually gone through that exercise yet.  Is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  We have not finalized our overall plan, but we have done -- we would have definitely been socializing that idea with our contractors to make sure that they are aware of the upcoming increased requirements for this overall project, but again, until we know when we have the construction start date we're not sure exactly the total level of magnitude of the impacts on the construction crews for our contractors.

MR. BROPHY:  And I can understand that, and that is going to change every week that goes by.  But I think you are confirming you don't actually have a detailed schedule, considering how far you have to keep the crews and all of that coordination assessed yet.  Is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yeah.  As expressed, as we will come up with a final plan that we have been working through.  We haven't been able to, yeah, make it our official schedule until we understand exactly when our construction season will happen.  But based off of some high-level assumptions this is still definitely a reasonable expectation that this project will be completed for the phase 3 section in 2022.

MR. ZHENG:  So let me try and --


MR. BROPHY:  Go ahead, Mr. Zheng, and I can follow up later.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  Ian, do you -- do I see a hand?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, Fred, but if you want to go first, that's fine.  It's your questions, after all.

MR. ZHENG:  That's fine, I'll --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, sorry, Teresa.  It's Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MR. ZHENG:  So --


MR. MONDROW:  Go, Fred.

MR. ZHENG:  So Mr. Murdoch, I appreciate the explanation to your plans and your aspiration for how to expedite this project.  And I understand it is at early stage.

My question is simpler.  I want -- I am asking Enbridge to provide documentation on the progress of, for example, adding crew or putting the same amount of crew within the compressed time, any plan you think that might bring the ISD to December 2022.

I want to see any written documentation that shows progress in that direction, whether it is communication with contractors or your presentation to the Board, documentation shows progress towards that goal.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, when you say documentation progress to the goal, I mean, I think -- I think they've -- he has indicated that, you know, they're still in the planning phase.  They haven't yet finalized it.  So I am not quite sure what the purpose is of looking at stuff which is continuing to be under plan, under discussion, and not yet finalized for purposes of this proceeding.

MR. ZHENG:  So not yet finalized.  This is probably a better question for the witness, right?  So not yet finalized.  What does that mean?  Does that mean hasn't communicated that idea to the contractor yet?  Hasn't communicated that idea to the Board yet?  Or it is only the details that's last step?  You know, where are we, in terms of getting a new ISD?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, I missed that last part, Mr. Zheng.  Could you just repeat that, sorry, what you said?

MR. ZHENG:  Where are we in terms of getting a new in-service date?

MR. KEIZER:  I think he answered that question saying they still remain confident with the current in-service date, and he explained the rationale for doing so.  I mean, I guess if you want us to confirm something with -- you know, I think Mr. Quinn may have raised this about confirmation with the contractor.  We could do that.  But I think he has already laid out why and how the -- Enbridge as a company believe that they're able to remain, at this stage, based upon the current circumstance, not knowing obviously the final decision date, why they could still remain on schedule for that in-service date.

MR. ZHENG:  So Mr. Keizer, I am asking sort of proof or written documents that shows such plan exists rather than just when Mr. Murdoch explained here, right?  So we're not -- the Board is not assessing the application, assessing a plan based on just Mr. Murdoch's testimony today.  Rather, the assessment has to be based on documents and written records that indicate such a plan actually exists.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, no.  I mean, he is speaking for the company, and he is speaking in that position as a company witness, and he has expressed the company's position.

So I think, you know, absent a statement from the company, I don't believe he has indicated that there is no report or documentation, I think, that confirms that.  I think he can reconfirm that.  And -- but he stated clearly what he believed the company's position to be.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Keizer.  That confirmation is sufficient.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  I am going to jump in.  It is Ian Mondrow for -- counsel for IGUA, just on this topic.  Ms. Allman, can you go to Exhibit D, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 9, please.  I am looking at paragraph 13.

Mr. Murdoch, can you look with me at paragraph 13 in respect of phase 3?   The construction schedule for phase 3, according to the company's evidence, is expected to take approximately 12 months.  Do you see that?

MR. MURDOCH:  Sorry, paragraph 13?

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, paragraph 12 -- my mistake.

MR. MURDOCH:  Paragraph 12?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. MURDOCH:  I see that the construction for phase 3 is expected to commence in March of 2022.

MR. MONDROW:  I am looking at an old version of your evidence.  It has been updated.  Is that correct that this schedule has been updated once since filing of this application?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.  When we refiled this to bring it out of abeyance, we did update the evidence.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  So the original schedule for phase 3 was 12 months and now in the update, it is nine months.  Is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Expected to commence in March 20 -- sorry.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I clarify, Mr. Mondrow?  Just let the witness know the update that happened when it came out of abeyance, the project was a different project or different nature of a project, was it not?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  My mistake.  I was looking at the wrong reference.  I apologize.  Let me just catch up to you.  Just bear with me.

So I just want to understand this now.  So 3 and 4 together is expected now to take 9 months to complete.  Am I understanding that correctly, Mr. Murdoch?

MR. MURDOCH:  To clarify, phase 3 is expected to take nine months, and phase 4 is expected to take nine months.  They're going to be expected in different years.

MR. MONDROW:  Phase 3 is supposed to be in 2022, and that is supposed to take nine months?

MR. MURDOCH:  As according to this evidence, that was the schedule we had proposed as part of our application.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  And those nine months were to commence in March, this month?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is what we originally filed.

MR. MONDROW:  And if you commenced phase 3 in March of 2022, this month, you expected to complete it by December of this year.

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And now you are saying -- clearly you're not commencing in March.  You're going to commence later than March.  But you are still going to complete by December by, among other potential mitigation measures, adding crews.

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.  That is our mitigation strategy.

MR. MONDROW:  And you don't expect costs to change over a compressed construction schedule.

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.  We are going to be adding crews, but not necessarily adding overall total hours of work completed.

MR. MONDROW:  But that wasn't my question.  My question was whether you expect costs to change as a result of a compressed construction schedule overall.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he answered it, Mr. Mondrow, by saying the crews go up, but the hours don't.  So based on the hourly number, the overall costs remain the same.  I think that is what --


MR. MONDROW:  Well, thanks, Mr. Keizer, but I would like Mr. Murdoch to answer.

Mr. Murdoch, do you expect that the costs for phase 3 will change as a result of the compressed construction schedule?

MR. MURDOCH:  In high level terms?

MR. MONDROW:  Well, in absolute terms.  I don't want high level terms.  Do you expect the costs to change?

MR. MURDOCH:  There are a number of different factors that would impact the overall cost.  So there are some efficiencies to be gained.  So as expressed earlier, it is the interest during the construction would go down.

Obviously it is not just a complete straight hours to hours comparison.  There would be some slight modifications that would need to be done.

But in terms of the overall work required for this project, it would be a very, very comparable project.

The overall cost of this work did have 30 percent contingency and so some of those contingency dollars would be able to be reallocated towards a schedule mitigation impacts as well.

We are not expending there to be a material change in the overall cost of this project as a result of adding additional crews.

MR. MONDROW:  So you give me that answer with the caveat or cushion that you have 30 percent contingency to draw on to deal with any cost changes as a result of a compressed schedule.  Is that right?

MR. MURDOCH:  Contingency is utilized in order to address any unknowns at the beginning of the project that you can draw down on and allocate accordingly to various areas of the project.

So, yes, if we needed to increase overall costs, which again we're not expecting to see as a result of increased crews, we would be able to draw-down from that contingency as a result.

MR. MONDROW:  You are still not answering my question.  You keep answering in reference to increased crews and I am asking a broader question.

To be clear, I will pose it again.  My question is, do you expect as a result of the compressed schedule any change in costs for the project?

MR. MURDOCH:  I do not expect there to be any material change in costs of the project as a result of the compressed schedule.

MR. MONDROW:  Great.  You answered my question.  So contingency is irrelevant in respect to that expectation, right?

MR. MURDOCH:  No, I do not think that contingency is irrelevant.  Contingency is included in the overall project costs.

MR. MONDROW:  I see.  So when you give me the answer that you don't expect any material change in cost, that assumes that the 30 percent contingency is available in the event it is needed to deal with any such implication.

You're either assuming contingency is available or not.  I take your evidence to be that you are assuming you can draw on contingency to deal with any increased costs of a compressed schedule, because that is part of the project costs that you have budgeted for.



MR. MURDOCH:  Yes.  We have budgeted for contingency to be included in the project cost.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Is there a reason that you need to complete this project in 2022, in particular, as opposed to 2023?

MR. MURDOCH:  Maybe I will ask my colleague, Mr. Madrid, to elaborate on the overall need of the project.  But yes, there is an overall need for us to complete the project as quickly as possible.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry.  I am happy to get Mr. Madrid's evidence.  But I asked, in particular, is there a reason you need this project to be completed as you have forecasted here in December of 2022 versus some time in 2023?

So Mr. Madrid, if you want to answer that question, I would be obliged.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid.  Enbridge.  Yes, the reason for it is in our opinion this project is already delayed a year.  Originally it was supposed to be completed in 2021 with phase 4 going in 2022.

Through the unfortunate delay there of the project being in abeyance and having to address that issue, it has delayed us already a year.  As we have highlighted through all of the evidence submitted there, this is a project that's been identified all the way back in 2015 and it is a project that's been identified that needs to be addressed as soon as possible.

So as soon as possible to us meant getting on it right away, which we did.  We executed phase 1 as I stated earlier in 2018.  We executed phase 2 in 2019.

The intent was always to complete phase 3 and phase 4 in 2021 and 2022.

So it is important from the company's perspective to address this overall integrity condition issue with this pipeline as soon as possible, which makes us want to continue on the path that we are to execute this project in 2022.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Madrid.  Mr. Murdoch, you talked about construction season.  Is that a twelve month season?

MR. MURDOCH:  We typically do our best to facilitate construction projects between March or April as a start, and finish by the end of the year.

MR. MONDROW:  The end of the year, being December?

MR. MURDOCH:  Being December, that is correct.  We can still do construction throughout the winter months, but there is some added complexity as a result of some weather outages and shorter days.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But wouldn't those complexities apply in November and December just as they do in January and February?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Based off of our experience, it's best -- we have not seen the same level of impacts in November or December as we do in January or February.

MR. MONDROW:  So your construction season, in the context of this project in this paragraph 12 that you took me to, if I understand you correctly runs from March through December.  Is that what you meant by construction season?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is what I meant by construction season, between March and December.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr. Zheng.

MR. MILLAR:  It is Michael Millar here.  We do need to take our break soon, and we have been asking various versions of the same question for more than half an hour now.  Mr. Zheng, where are we in terms of your questioning?

MR. ZHENG:  I am done.  I have one last question.  I have one last question.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't I let you ask your final question and then we will take our break.

MR. QUINN:  Was there not an undertaking, though, Mr. Millar --


MR. MILLAR:  I have no idea.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I heard that the company was going to go back to check to see that there is a plan to confirm that there is an updated plan on the construction schedule aligned with what Mr. Murdoch had said.  Is that correct, first off?

MR. KEIZER:  No, we didn't say we were going back.  We said the company's position was clear from what Mr. Murdoch was saying and that there wasn't any updated plan or refreshed plan.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  My last question -- the intent on my last question is to clarify for the record.

So, Mr. Murdoch, there is no written plan for a new ISD at this moment.  Right?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  That is correct, is we have not changed our ISD from what we have filed.

MR. ZHENG:  No.  My question is, there is no written plan for a new ISD; is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  There is no written plan for a new ISD, because our ISD has not changed.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.  Why -- if we're planning to shorten the process by five to six months, why isn't there a written plan at this moment?

MR. MURDOCH:  I would just like to clarify the question first.  I was understanding the question to say a new ISD, which in my -- in my interpretation is a new in-service date.

So there is no documentation for a new in-service date.

MR. ZHENG:  Excuse me.  My apologies.  I would like to confirm there is no written plan so far from Enbridge.  There is no written plan for Enbridge to add additional crew to complete the project within the compressed time frame.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  There is no finalized plan, but we do have written documentation that will facilitate how we plan on meeting the in-service date with a reduced compressed time frame.

MR. ZHENG:  I think we spent a lot of time debating plan versus documentation.  My question is, is there a written plan with budgeting and costs and such?

MR. MURDOCH:  There has been no finalized written plan relating budgeting cost schedule.

MR. ZHENG:  Thank you, thank you.  And why Enbridge hasn't made such progress, being producing a written plan, when Enbridge plans to shorten the whole construction period by six -- five to six months?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Our plan is to finalize a written plan once we understand the exact construction window we will be working with.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  No more questions from SEC, thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Zheng, it is Michael Brophy.  Just before we cut off, your question wasn't answered.  You asked if there was a written plan.  Every time they respond they add another word, saying no written final plan, no written pink plan, no written whatever plan.

But I think they're saying there is a written plan.  But they don't -- you know, I think it is just disingenuous if there is a written plan to add another word to the answer and then pretend it doesn't exist.  I think what your -- the intent of your question is, is there a written plan.

MR. MILLAR:  So Mr. Brophy, if that's your question you can ask that.  Mr. Zheng has finished.  You are up next.  So if you wish to pursue that further, you are free to do so.  Is that what you are asking, or are you just asking on behalf of Mr. Zheng?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, no.  I will have questions on this, because -- but if that answer was given the way I thought it should have been, then it would have come off my list.  So I just thought we could cross it off before -- I can come back to it after the break if you wish.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we should take our break, and maybe if it can be clarified offline.  That is fine as well.  But we are past the time for our break.  So let us break now until 3:40, at which time we will come back with you, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, yes.  And just for clarity, I switched to phone audio, because I didn't want to lose time with any Internet issues.  That is why I might sound a bit different.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. ZHENG:  There will be no more questions from SEC.  Michael, you can -- Mr. Brophy, you can ask questions after.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Zheng, and thank you, everyone.  Let's come back at 3:40.
--- Recess taken at 3:28 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:42 p.m.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry.  We had a chat at the break following up from the questions that we heard before the break.

Sorry.  For some reason, I'm getting feedback.  Everybody have their microphone closed or -- am I good now? Sorry.

We had a discussion at the break about this whole question about the schedule and the report and a final report, and what we have and what we don't have.  I think for the purposes of facilitating the process, and also Mr. Brophy has further questions on it, rather than pulling it out further, we think there is some documentation we could provide, so maybe I will turn it over to Mr. Murdoch to just describe what we could provide by way of undertaking.

MR. MURDOCH:  So by way of undertaking, we can share what we have in terms of our living document of what our expected schedule will look like and how we're planning on utilizing the crews to meet our in-service dates in 2022-2023.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Murdoch, could you put a date on it when you file it, just when it was actually generated or updated last so we know kind of what date those numbers represent, if it was a week ago, two weeks ago, whatever it was.

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, we can put a version date on the document when we submit it as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, thank you for that I am going to mark that as JT1.21.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.21:  TO FILE A WRITTEN PLAN, AND INCLUDE A VERSION DATE


MR. MILLAR:  I think with that, can we hand it over to Mr. Brophy?  Mr. Brophy, you have up to an hour.  Off you go.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I think I indicated I tried to condense as much as possible, and believe that there would be some overlap.  I originally was going to be over two hours.  I cut it down to one, so hopefully we can stick to that and pry to be concise.

I want to focus on -- I guess it is one or two issues that were discussed before the break.  Actually, one I think is kind of dealt with now.  There is some documentation you are going to provide on schedule.

My understanding of the panel's response, you know, is that okay, you have this living document, but you kind of stopped updating it some time ago because you don't really know when or if you are going to get approval.  So why would you keep putting the resources and updating it every day?


So what that is what I understood.  Even just on a general plan, not even written, the way Fred was asking, what I heard is that, you know, you don't have a detailed plan, because again you don't know when you are going to get approval, or if.  But you've started some preliminary discussions with the crews and contractors and they're working through that.

So that is my understanding of where you are at.  Is that incorrect?  Am I off-base on that summary of what I heard?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  As an overall all summary, that is accurate.  The one clarification I would like to indicate is that it is continually updated.  So we haven't stopped working on that plan.  We continually update that plan until it becomes a final document and it becomes final once we understand exactly the conditions that we have for construction.

So we will give you the latest version that we currently have in our possession.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Fair enough.  The second question of clarity was in the discussion with Mr. Mondrow, you had indicated, you know, when you compress the schedule, it shouldn't really increase costs, although I think you indicated there might be some impact on the contingency, but that's all would be in the approval regardless.

But when you do compress you know, especially when your initial construction commencement date was -- well, the new one is March.  It was earlier than that in the original application.  It would actually push more activity to happen at all times, including, you know, as you head into winter as well, right.  I think that is where you were highlighting, you know, you prefer not to work in winter because there is some public safety or crew safety issues, maybe weather outages, you know, days like that.

So just by the nature of moving more of the work from your kind of core summertime frame into winter, would there be a cost impact to that if you did the exact same stuff, but did it in the summer versus doing it in the winter?  Is there a difference in contractor pricing or costing?

MR. MURDOCH:  There is no rate increase between March and December of a given year.  But there are winter premiums that do occur in the months beginning in January.

MR. BROPHY:  In January, okay.  No, that's fair enough.  Okay.

So I will just jump in my list here.  And you know, feel free to slow me down or stop me.  I am going to go pretty quick because of the time.  I don't think you need to pull everything up, but if you need to stop and do that, that's fine.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Brophy, can I ask you to stop.  It is Mr. Quinn.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, God, already?  Be quick.

MR. QUINN:  I heard there was winter premiums starting in January.  Can you provide us just a round number of what percent increase you are going to experience for January construction verses March -- winter construction versus March-to-December construction.

MR. MURDOCH:  As of right now, we don't have any scheduled activities between January and March.

MR. QUINN:  You have planned the project March to December.  I didn't ask my question precisely.  I apologize.

What increase in prices would you anticipate going from -- instead of having summer construction to winter construction.  What would the percentage increase be?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Just to make sure I am confirming this question.  The assumption of this question is that we are not finishing our work in December and we have some carry over work into January.  Then what would be the expected impact of that work if we were to complete it in January and not delay all work from 2022 into March of 2023, and just forego the January/February winter construction.  Is that the basis of the question?

MR. QUINN:  Sure, yes.

MR. MURDOCH:  Okay.  Yes, that is something that we can, we would be able to provide.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, by way of undertaking.

MR. MURDOCH:  By way of undertaking, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's great.  I don't want to take much of Mr. Brophy's time. I will accept the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  If you can't hear me, I'm having some technical difficulties.  It's JT1.22.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.22:  TO PROVIDE A ROUND NUMBER OF A PERCENTAGE INCREASE FOR WINTER CONSTRUCTION


MR. BROPHY:  I actually got it this time.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry, Mr. Brophy, thank you for your indulgence.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I didn't even get into my first question.  That is what is horrible.  Okay.

So the first question is, your original application -- I am not going to go through the whole timing again, but it was filed March 2nd, 2021, and indicated -- in your application to the OEB, you indicated that in order to meet the schedule and the in-service date of December 2022, that you required leave-to-construct approval as soon as possible, but not later than July 2021.  Do you recall that?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Unfortunately, I don't recall that at the moment, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Why don't we pull up that document and I can take you to it, or you can accept it, subject to check, if you think it sounds reasonable.

MR. MADRID:  If we can pull up the document, I wouldn't mind some information.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MS. ALLMAN:   Mr. Brophy, this is Stephanie.  Can you give me an exhibit reference?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  That was original file 2021-03-02, EB-2020-0293, Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure if Stephanie has the original application.

MR. BROPHY:  I can pull it up if you need it.

MS. ALLMAN:  I don't.  I am just trying to find it right now.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  If it is going to take more than say a minute or so, then let me know and I can pull it up.  Or if you need the reference again.

MS. ALLMAN:  Can you see the document there?

MR. BROPHY:  Yep.  The document is up.  If you go down -- okay, yes, right there.  Okay.  Perfect.

So paragraph 6:

"Enbridge expects to commence construction of the project in August of 2021.  In order to meet project timelines..."

So that is your time line chart you had there, including your commissioning in December of 2022:

"...the company respectfully requests the Board grant leave-to-construct approval of this application as soon as possible and not later than July 2021."

Do you see that?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  So what was the basis of saying to the OEB you needed leave to construct July 2021?

MR. MADRID:  Sorry, Mr. Brophy, I don't understand your question.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, you have indicated to the OEB that in order to meet your December 2022 in-service date and all your other project time lines in the application, you needed OEB approval by July 2021.

So was that not true?  Or it was true --


MR. MADRID:  As stated earlier, this project was supposed to be executed in 2021, and unfortunately, due to circumstances out of our control, this project was put under abeyance and we had to delay it while we resolved an issue with MTO.  So I am not sure what the connection between the July 2021 when we were trying to execute this project back in 2021 and our current schedule has to do with it.

MR. BROPHY:  So what I am getting at is, I believe that is the timing you would have liked to have had, and you probably still now wish you had that timing, because it gives you more time to do everything you needed to do.  But in this application you are indicating to the OEB -- you are putting urgency on them deciding on the application and pressure on the OEB by saying you need it no later than July 2021.

But, you know, what we're hearing now is you can commence work or get an approval over a year later than that and still hit your time lines for your project.  So I am just having trouble understanding that.  There seems like there was a year of extra room just baked into the project if you can still hit your time lines now.

MR. MADRID:  I wouldn't classify it as room of -- or as a year of extra room in our time line.  I would classify it as there was an urgency to get this project done as soon as possible, as we have stated through all our evidence.

We were planning and developing to execute in 2021.  Through no fault of our own we were in a position where the project has been delayed, and that urgency is still there, which is why we're pursuing this project to get executed this year.

I am not quite sure what comparison you are trying to make, Mr. Brophy.  The urgency is still the same.  We have just been fortunate that, you know, nothing has happened, but basically it ended up with an extra year there of a safety concern being passed on to the ratepayer.

MR. BROPHY:  And, sorry, was it true -- okay.  Go ahead.

MR. MURDOCH:  And just to add to Byron's response there as well, is just to confirm is our new phase 4 in-service date is now 2023, not 2022.  2022 in-service date is only related to the phase 3 work.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, yeah.  Phase 3 is the piece that has to come first.  So that is more urgent than phase 4, as far as time lines to get it in the ground.  Isn't that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  There has also been a reordering of the overall work between phase 3 and phase 4.  Phase 3 was originally all of the plastic work and phase 4 was all of the steel work.

Now you can see that there is a mix of plastic and steel work in both phases 3 and phase 4, but we have not maintained --


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. MURDOCH:  -- the original filed schedule as a result of this delay.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So that is exactly where I am going to bring you in, and we can talk about the delay and the abeyance and the pushback due to the consultation by some stakeholders and what caused it, but, you know, I don't think there is time to get into that here.

So you filed your new application September 10, 2021, and in that application you again used similar wording and request urgent approval by no later than February 2022.  Does that sound right?

MR. MADRID:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So again, you know, when I read that, you're indicating to the OEB in order to get this in by December 2022 you now with your changed project need to have their approval by 2022.

So if it wasn't until February 2022, if you can still do it in June or July or August, then the statement that you needed approval in February 2022 to meet that deadline doesn't seem accurate to me.  Can you explain that?

MR. MADRID:  I guess maybe I am just having a little trouble here understanding what your question is.  The urgency is still the same as it was back in 2021.

We submitted, as you said, the application back in September 2021, and we put a date on when we were expecting to have a decision by the Board so that we could execute the project, phase 3, and the specific situation based on the schedule that we have identified in our filing.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like --


MR. MADRID:  What is your question?

MR. BROPHY:  It sounds like the date in the original application and now this new date that you have indicated you need OEB approval is your preferred date, but you could still get it done if the OEB doesn't give you approval by that date; is that correct?  I think that it obviously is, because you're saying you can still do it.

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  I believe my colleague Mr. Murdoch has already touched on where we're at with the schedule and still meeting the ISD date in 2022.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And will you build this project if you don't get OEB approval?

MR. KEIZER:  If I understand your question, Mr. Brophy, are you saying that we would go ahead and build even if the Board said no?  Is that what you asked?

MR. BROPHY:  No, not if they said no.  If they just didn't give you approval for some reason, would you go ahead and build it without their explicit approval for the project?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is a legal question, because effectively, you know, they can only proceed in accordance with the OEB Act, which, we have to be given leave to do so.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So what I am hearing is, they wouldn't build the project unless they get leave-to-construct.

How about if you don't get the capital funding for it?  Would you still build it?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is -- we don't know the basis upon which the capital funding would or would not happen or anything that the Board would say in their decision.  So I think, you know, your question really kind of calls for speculation as to whether that would happen.  I think you would have to see what the Board's decision was at the time.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you don't know whether you would build it or not if you didn't get capital approval.  You would have to look at the decision.  Is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  That's what I understand the company's position to be.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Does anybody on the panel have a different position, or can I just accept that as accurate?

MR. MADRID:  You can accept it as accurate.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So we were talking about whether the project had to be commissioned in 2022 or could it go into 2023.  You know, I'm not going to go through all of that.

Based on that discussion, it sounded like it didn't really matter if it was December 31, 2022, or January 1st, 2023, except for the fact that, you know, which year you end up capitalizing it into if you get that approval.

Is that accurate, or am I missing something?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, our goal is to make sure that we have all phases 3 and 4 completed by the end of 2023.  In order to make sure that we achieve that goal, it is important to properly sequence that work.

So again, getting the phase 3 work done in 2022 is important from a schedule perspective, as well as to allow us to get the work done in 2023 as well.

But yes, the overall goal of the project is to make sure all work is completed by the end of 2023 for phases 3 and 4.

MR. BROPHY:   Exactly.  And I am glad you mentioned that.  In Staff 3b part (i), in fact, you mention that commissioning of the phase 3 pipeline in 2023 is fine, as long as you get it done before you commence with phase 4.  Has anything changed since that response was given?  Or is that still accurate?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yeah, in terms of the final completion of phase 4 is, that is still -- that is still accurate.

However, as mentioned earlier, there are some winter premiums as well that would be incurred if we were to go beyond December of 2022, or there would be some additional juggling of the schedule in 2023 to accommodate phase 3 and phase 4 work at the same time.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, but the thing I was mentioning is that you can commission phase 3 in 2023 -- and I can take you to the IR response, I am just basically repeating what it says -- as long as it is done in 2023 before phase 4 is commenced.  That's still accurate?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, our response to Staff 3-B-I is still accurate.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Going to the next section of questions here, one of the questions I had -- and I'm crossing off as we go to save time and reduce duplication.

But, you know, you indicated that you would have additional crews if you had a tighter timeline, which you do now and it gets tighter kind of every week.

And, you know, you hadn't put the full plan together on how many crews you could actually allocate, you know, to accommodate spacing, that kind of thing.

But, you know, one of the issues -- it is the downtown core and Enbridge was very clear on the impacts, socio-economic impacts because it is in the downtown core of the pipeline.

So the more crews you add, the more disruption there will be along the pipeline route all at once.  Isn't that true?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  That is correct.  There will be more active work zones going on all at the same time.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So there will be more inconvenience, there will probably have to be more safety precautions taken like, you know, pay duty police, things to control traffic, all of those typical kind of things that you would have to do, but there would be more of it going on because it's condensed and in a shorter period.  Is that fair?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yeah, in the same time frame there would be more going on from an overall project standpoint. I'm not sure if the impact would be material in terms of total number of pay duties, for instance, because it just means rather than having one set of pay duties at one intersection, you might have one set of paid duties at two separate intersections at the same time.  I think that is what -- to summarize what you said.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, and I can understand that.

So if you have more crews working along the entire route at once -- I am thinking I'm in Toronto, you deal with construction.  You hit a spot where there is construction.  You have to wait or, you know, you have to do a detour, right, around to get to where you're going.

But you know, in the normal schedule for the project, people could have done that.  But if they're trying to get to somewhere along the route they're not going to be able to do that because there will be multiple locations going on at once.  So you're going to get stopped maybe five, six times rather than once because of those multiple places, or you can't go around the block and skip it somehow.

But you know, can you help me understand how you would deal with some of those additional impacts occurring?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yes, this would just require some additional coordination and consultation with the city of Ottawa about our overall traffic plans and the approved traffic plans they would permit.

So there would definitely be ongoing coordination with the city to make sure we can minimize those impacts as much as possible, and coordinate our work effectively.

MR. BROPHY:  And that's exactly where I was thinking.  So two key players that you would have to do as there is more impact to ensure one, it is allowed, and it gets coordinated, coordination and approvals through the city and then, second, local businesses where they would have concentrated greater impact during that construction time as well.

So have you talked to or received approval for the expedited construction plan from the city of Ottawa?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Yeah, our traffic plans end up getting approved once we know exactly when we will be able to start our construction.  So we do have ongoing consultation with them, but nothing has been finalized or approved at this point.  So that is part of our overall final package that we would be working towards.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I know there was public consultation done.  It was, you know, some time ago now because you had hoped to commence the project a year ago.  But has there been any local or more recent consultation including with local businesses on the changes to the schedule and potential impacts?  Or is that something you would still need to do?

MS. TURK:  Tanya Turk, Enbridge.  At this point with local businesses we haven't had any recent consultation as we don't know the construction schedule yet.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that.  Okay.  I just want a clarification.  Hopefully, this will be easy.  I think Enbridge had confirmed you didn't do a demand forecast for this project.  You are just, you know, relying on it being like for like, right?  That's accurate?  Right?

MR. CLARK:  Bradley Clark, Enbridge.  Yes, that's correct.  It is designed to match existing capacity.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And this pipeline -- I am trying to remember, it was designed and commissioned mid-1950s.  That's right?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  The majority of the pipeline was installed in 1958.

MR. BROPHY:  1958, okay.  In that general time frame.

MR. MADRID:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  So then the last time a demand forecast would have been done for that pipeline would have been back in the 1950s, then?  Is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  No, that is not correct.  So the last demand forecast for that pipeline was done as part of our legacy EGD long range plan, which extended from 2018 to 2028.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Was there a copy of that filed?

MR. CLARK:  No.  I think the demand forecast was filed for the franchise area in general in one of the IRs, but I can't recall which one it was at this point.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, I recall that it was indicating the like-for-like answer that a more recent demand forecast hadn't been completed, but I think you are indicating that it exists.

Can you undertake to provide a copy of that?

MR. CLARK:  So I think the demand forecast you are referring to would actually be the same that is already in evidence, and again, forgive me.  I can't remember the IR at this point in time that is in there.

Otherwise, the process for identifying it would be using that data, then doing the hydraulic modelling within that time period, 2018 to 2028, and determining if there is any need for reinforcement.

As there was no determined need for reinforcement, there is no project, and in a sense there is no record.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay.  So I think you're talking about something different than what I am talking about.  And I recall -- again, I don't know the number off by heart, but there was one where you said, you know, due to timing you can't redo all your hydraulic modelling, the whole kind of thing that you're mentioning.

But, you know, when a pipeline is designed and built and approved by the OEB, it is based on assumptions and, you know, if it is one customer even easier, but municipalities are generally many more customers.

So my understanding is that you didn't do the grassroots kind of demand forecast based on, you know, the amount of residential, commercial, industrial, how many there would be, what they would use over the life of the pipeline, that kind of thing.  Is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  So that was done for 2018 as a forecast of the 2028.  And there was no reinforcement needs that were identified on this pipeline.

MR. BROPHY:  But more specifically --


MR. CLARK:  Your question, it wasn't refreshed for the purpose of this application, because we already had that conclusion in hand.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So what I am trying to get at is, I know you are basing it on like-for-like based on when it was last done.  It seems like it was done some time ago.  It sounded like it might even be back in the 1950s when the pipeline was planned and built, but you're saying something was done more recent than that.

So can you undertake to confirm what was done and, to the extent that it is not already on the record, provide a copy?

MR. CLARK:  I can provide an undertaking to confirm that that plan from long-range look from 2018 to 2028 was done, refile the information that is already in that IR, that I think we're both speaking about but can't recall the item.  But again, just to be clear for this particular pipeline, if in that process no reinforcement was identified, then there is nothing to report on.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, then I am not considering the reinforcement.  I am just thinking, you know, back in the 1950s pipelines were overbuilt, right?  There was a lot more contingency, sometimes 2-, 300 percent contingency added on projects back then.

There wasn't a lot of OEB scrutiny around the sizing of the pipelines.  So, you know, it was quite typical to overbuild pipelines.

So my understanding is there is no detailed forecast that would be applicable out over the life of this pipeline.  That's really what I am looking for.  But it sounds like that doesn't exist.

MR. CLARK:  There is a demand forecast for this region which goes into the hydraulic modelling, which includes this pipeline.  But it is not done pipe segment by pipe segment.  It is done on a hydraulic model basis.  And this hydraulic model covers off most of the city of Ottawa.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes.  So inputs -- pressure inputs into the hydraulic model, but not really customer-use inputs.  You don't look at that kind of information?

MR. CLARK:  No.  We do.  That is part of the process.  So we on an annual basis verify our models, which includes looking at historical customer flows on them, as well as lining them up with actual measured flows.  That is done on an annual basis.  It is called SIM, or verification.

And so this is what that -- in terms of model accuracy and the hydraulic inputs that go into it, which do include customer demand, is looked at on an annual basis.  But the projection for load increase or load demand was last done in 2017 for the 2018 to 2028 period.

MR. BROPHY:  '28.  Okay.  And --


MR. CLARK:  And in that process it did not identify reinforcement.

So getting back to your question about, you know, referring it back to 1958, certainly a lot has changed from then, and the process now is we are using actual customer flow information correlated with --


MR. BROPHY:  Okay --


MR. CLARK:  -- flows to keep our models up-to-date.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So that is current information, not future-looking.  So an example would be -- and, you know, you have seen some of the things the City of Ottawa and some of the other materials from the sponsor's package filed where there is either current or future plans on technologies, new buildings, net zero, reduced energy, some of those things.

Would any of those -- if you are just using current demand, I am assuming none of that would be in, because that is future-looking.  Is that accurate to say?

MR. CLARK:  Those impacts were not included; that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thanks, I think I understand it.

So actually, while we're on this topic, and I will give a reference, you know, you can pull it up if you want.  You may not need it.  It is B-1-1, page 9.  And there was a table there that showed on a peak design day the 47 PD, worst-case scenario.  It indicates that 62,000 customers would be lost.  Do you recall that?  Do you recall that kind of scenario?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Yes, I recall that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  So based on that information, we did map -- the number was, you know,
just -- it was about 50-50, but just slightly over.  I think it was 51 percent of those customers impacted
would -- on a peak day if there was an outage would be in Ontario and 49 percent would be ex-franchise.  Does that sound accurate?  I can take you to the table.  It is easy math to eyeball.

MR. CLARK:  That sounds reasonable, yes.  The table is just a couple of pages down.  It is about 31,623 versus 30,577.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, yes.  So just --


MR. CLARK:  So eyeballing it, that looks correct, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes.  And 49 percent ex-franchise, but, yes, close enough.

Okay.  So I've correlated that answer, because I was thinking, okay, that would represent that about half the peak demand of the pipeline is due to ex-franchise.

But then I looked at another IR response, Pollution Probe 3b, where you say peak demand, approximately 99,000 cubic metres per hour, and it serves Ontario -- or, sorry, 99,000 of it cubed per hour is Ontario and 40,800 of it is Quebec.

So then the actual design peak load for ex-franchise is about a third based on that, somewhere in that range.  Does that sound accurate?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  So I am on the right track.

So then what I am assuming is, because it is almost a 50-50 customer split between Ottawa and ex-franchise, but the peak is in Ottawa, that skewing of the peak being more in Ottawa even though there aren't more customers is due, then, to these large customers you have outlined in your proceeding, right, like the hospitals, you know, public works, you know, those kind of things.  That's what is really driving higher peak in Ottawa even though they have the same amount of customers?

MR. CLARK:  Yes.  That's correct.  And in particular, industrial and commercial customers are going to have a greater impact on overall system flows than residential.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So is there any other things, other than the customers you have identified in your application then, that would drive the demand to be higher in Ottawa, or the list that is in there is accurate?

MR. CLARK:  No.  The list that is in evidence already is accurate.  I don't think I have anything else to add.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, perfect.  Okay, great.  Thank you.

Okay, thanks.  I am skipping a couple of questions here that were answered.

You may have answered this earlier today, but I don't think so.  We were kind of around the subject, but you are using the 47 degree day as the basis for kind of worst case scenario -- or I guess it is peak decline, so that is worst case scenario if something was to happen to the pipe on a day like that, and then the probability of that occurring.

So I think you had a table up earlier where it was -- I guess I will just ask you.  What is the probability of that occurring?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I don't have a probability on hand for that to occur, but that is -- in excess of that temperature has been experienced in the last four years.

MR. BROPHY:  Four, okay.  Can you undertake to provide the probability of a 47 degree day occurring?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think there is an ability to predict the weather in that regard.

MR. BROPHY:  Pardon me?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if there is an ability to predict the weather in that way where you can actually predict the likelihood of the weather being in a certain time in a certain way.  Mr. Clark may have something to add to that.  I'm not sure.

MR. CLARK:  We can only look at the past at this point in time to show --


MR. BROPHY:  I assumed it would be based on the past data.  I am assuming.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Brophy, maybe I can help in this.  Mr. Clark, is it not true that Enbridge uses for the Enbridge rate zone a one-in-ten philosophy, in terms of the coldest day in the last ten years?

MR. CLARK:  There is methodology to do it, which is the Monte Carlo methodology, but I don't recall the exact criteria at this time.

MR. QUINN:  So for the Enbridge east zone, the Enbridge Ottawa zone, you can -- well, I will let you answer the question.  I was trying to help Mr. Brophy get to where he wants to get go.  He is looking for a simple probabilities of one in ten, I think.  But I will leave it at that.  Sorry, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  So, yes, I am just a little unclear.  It sounded like a simple question to me, but I am not the one doing it.  So is it something you could undertake to provide, or is there a reason not?

MR. CLARK:  I can undertake to provide a bit more clarification for you on how that number was reached, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, okay, that would be great, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.23.  Sorry, which number?

MR. CLARK:  The design of the 47 HDD.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.23:  TO CLARIFY THE DERIVATION OF THE 47 HDD


MR. CLARK:  Sorry, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, no problem.  Okay.  So just before we get away from the discussion on -- you had confirmed two-thirds of the peak demand which drives the pipeline design and sizing being Ottawa, one-third being ex-franchise, which is Quebec really.

So you know, it could be argued that ex-franchise customers, those in Ottawa -- or in Quebec are getting a free ride on the back of Ontario ratepayers, if Ontario ratepayers are the ones paying for this project.

So can you help me understand why that wouldn't be the case.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  That is not the case because this project is not driven by growth in Gazifère.  We're not increasing the flow capacity across the river, and they are charged through rate 200 and will be allocated costs appropriately.  But they're not driving the need for this project.

MR. BROPHY:  So if you didn't do the project, there would be no impact to Gazifère?  Is that what I am hearing?

MR. CLARK:  The impact to Gazifère would be the risks that we have identified, and the potential interruption of their gas flow.  But otherwise, yes, there is not a trigger on the Gazifère side that is forcing us to do this project apart from that risk of interruption.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I can understand how their payment through the rate you mentioned works for the existing pipeline, because it is in the ground.  They're using it.  They pay a rate as gas goes flowing through it.

But this is a new project.  So incremental capital that would be spent that would provide them a benefit.

So you know, if there was -- well, I guess, there is nothing, there is nothing in the agreement that guarantees they're going to take the volume sufficient to pay off a third of the cost of the project, right?  It is just the rate that goes through and, you know, if they use amounts that have been historically what you've seen, then you expect to get your money back.  Is that right?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So Quebec is even more aggressive than Ontario in their decarbonization efforts.  They've announced things like, I guess it's 20 percent renewable natural gas to be generated in Quebec, you know, hydrogen, all sorts of things.

So they're on a trajectory to decrease gas usage.  So how -- how would you be able to factor that in now, because you won't be getting the same revenues over the 40 year life of this pipeline that you would have historically.  How can you adjust for that?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Although we are aware of such explorations of technology injection in the Gazifère, we have not received an updated forecast and we have not seen any decrease in flow through the stations at this point in time.  And in fact, in other evidence, we have actually provided some of the flow through the two river crossings and you can see there that flow has actually been increasing.

So it is unclear what that effect is going to have at this point in time.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So what I heard is you haven't fully assessed that and it is not into your forecast at this time?

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.  It is not in our forecast.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  So I would like to move on.  There's a couple of references, you know, the first one was SEC 1, but I can take you to other ones as well.

I'll just ask the questions and then if you need me to take you to the documents, I can for sure.

So it appears Enbridge is proposing that it doesn't need to do a proper IRP assessment for this project because you are assuming it's going to be built within the next three years.  Is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And somebody on the panel mentioned earlier, I think it was Mr. Madrid, that you have been working on this project now since at least 2018, maybe longer, which is more than three years.

So what would happen if the OEB doesn't approve the project and decides that the monitor and repair as needed option is better within the next three years?  Would you then say, okay, we have got enough time, we will go and do a proper IRP assessment for the future?  Or would you wait?

MR. CLARK:  I'm sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. BROPHY:  So you had indicated that the reason that you don't need to do a full IRP assessment is that it is planned to be constructed in the next three years.

But if the OEB doesn't give you approval for a new pipeline within the next three years, then you are no longer exempt from an IRP assessment.  Would that be accurate?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  If that were to occur I think we would need to reassess.  I mean, the company's position is that this pipeline does need to be replaced, and as soon as possible, and so I think we would need to seriously reassess if that was the decision.

MR. BROPHY:  And that's exactly where I'm going, about, you know, reassessing and reanalyzing because, you know, at the beginning when we started and you filed the original application, you asked for a kind of short turnaround from the OEB on approval, on the updated application kind of similar.

So I haven't seen leave-to-construct projects where you are coming forward with them where that has been thought about.

And so for this example, you know, it's been over three years since you started planning, but you hadn't looked at IRP types of assessments before.  So if the Board doesn't approve it, then it would be logical to start looking at IRP because, as you said, you believe you need to replace the pipeline with something in the future.  And the purpose of IRP is to look at those alternatives, but you haven't done that yet.

So this would then open the door for you to be able to do that.  Are you following me?

MR. CLARK:  I'm following you.  However, the company's position still is that the risk on this pipeline and the integrity concerns with it are high enough and warrant an immediate replacement.  And while it is unfortunate that it has been delayed, we are still in that position.

MR. BROPHY:  That is why you started working on it, you know, many years ago.

MR. CLARK:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I am just going down my list here.

Okay.  So in Staff B -- and again, you don't have to go to it, but if you need to I'll wait.  It is the Posterity report that was filed on IRP.  So --


MR. KEIZER:  It would be helpful to pull it up, because there may be some things --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. KEIZER:  -- in there that would help the witness respond, and --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I will wait.  Staff 6d.

MS. ALLMAN:  What number is that?

MR. BROPHY:  Six.

MS. ALLMAN:  Tab 6?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  D.  I can't remember if it was an attachment or not.  All you have to do is do a word search on Posterity and I am sure you would find it, but -- that report.  You will see.  It's going to be there, their heading and logo and stuff, when you hit it.

MR. KEIZER:  So Michael, we have 6d.  Are you looking for the actual report itself?  Is that what you are --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that is what I was doing.

MR. KEIZER:  -- attachment.  There it is.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, you know what?  Attachment 2, sorry.  Okay.  Yeah, yeah.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, we have it.

MR. BROPHY:  I knew this would be tricky.  You know, I have said it before.  This new system of numbering I am not getting used to, but I am glad somebody can find it.

Okay.  So you have the report there.  Great.  So I can proceed with the questions.

Okay.  So you see at the beginning of the report it is dated July 31, 2021.  Do you see that?

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, July 29th, 2021?

MR. BROPHY:  Let me just pull up the number again.  July 31, 2021 is the date of the Posterity memo.

MR. CLARK:  I'm sorry, I don't see that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So if you want to go to the beginning of the memo.  Right there.  Stop.  Oh, back.  Go down just a little.  Okay.  Right in that -- in between the two lines, it has got Project.  It is small font.  Sorry, it is testing my eyesight.  Go down a little bit.  That date.  29 July 2021.  Do you see that?

MR. CLARK:  July 29, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  That is what I am referring to.

Okay.  So, you know, obviously they worked on it beforehand and you probably have an agreement with them, with the scope and everything.

But you received the report.  It was finalized 29 July 2021.  Okay.  So I guess the first question is, your evidence for this proceeding was filed September 13, 2021.  Why didn't you file this with your evidence?  Why did it have to come up through an interrogatory?

MR. KEIZER:  Go ahead, Mr. Clark.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  I was just going to say that the original application was filed on the basis that the project was an urgent replacement project required within that three-year period.

MR. BROPHY:  So then why did you get Posterity to do this work?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that might be up further in the response, but -- I think in D --


MR. BROPHY:  I thought it was required.  Not that they did a full IRP assessment and, you know, certainly didn't cover a lot of the things that should have been in an IRP assessment, but it looks like Enbridge did attempt to do something, which is great, right.  But now you are saying you didn't need to do it.

And so if that was the decision, why did you do it?  I think the answer is because it is the right thing to do, but I don't want to put words in your mouth.

MR. KEIZER:  I think it was explained in the evidence, so to the extent that we have clarified it we can undertake to provide the explanation to you, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, yes, I guess the undertaking would be if you can explain why the Posterity report dated -- I am just going to look the number up again so I don't misquote the date -- July 31, 2021 was not filed with the Enbridge evidence dated September 13, 2021.

And then at the same time in the undertaking, if you can also provide a copy of the scope of work, if one was executed and, if not, just explain why not.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.24.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.24: TO EXPLAIN WHY THE POSTERITY REPORT DATED JULY 31, 2021 WAS NOT FILED WITH THE ENBRIDGE EVIDENCE DATED SEPTEMBER 13, 2021; TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE SCOPE OF WORK, IF EXECUTED, AND IF NOT, TO EXPLAIN WHY NOT


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Brophy, you are just about at the end of your time.  Are you nearly finished?

MR. BROPHY:  I am getting close.  There was no hope at the beginning of the day.  But there is hope now.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, we still have Staff to go after you, so I would ask you to as expeditious as you can.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  You would be impressed if you see how many questions I am skipping.

I think the panel indicated that you are not IRP experts.  There is somebody else in Enbridge that would have to be there to answer detailed questions, and also you don't have Posterity Group which would be another option on the panel.

But I did have a couple of questions.  Most detailed ones I will skip, because it doesn't sound like you will be able to answer them.  But if you want to give them a shot, I can get into more of the detailed ones.

So the response to Staff 6 indicated the Posterity analysis was only based on the unconstrained scenario from the 2019 potential study.  Is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  I think that is what is stated in D, there, Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  That is accurate.  Okay.  Then can you explain what the unconstrained scenario is meant to represent?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure they can, but we can undertake to do that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, sure.  You know, I wonder if you could also include also confirming that it doesn't include any IRP alternatives other than DSM.  That would be helpful in the answer.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So I think that is JT1.25.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.25:  TO EXPLAIN WHAT THE UNCONSTRAINED SCENARIO IN THE POSTERITY ANALYSIS IS MEANT TO REPRESENT; TO CONFIRM THAT IT DOESN'T INCLUDE ANY IRP ALTERNATIVES OTHER THAN DSM.


MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.  I am down to my last bit here.  I will skip all of those detailed questions.  Okay.

Just one final, and this should be really easy, but we will find out.

Okay.  So Staff 20 asked you to confirm that the conditions of approval, if one were granted for a leave-to-construct were okay with Enbridge and Enbridge did that, but one of the conditions is that the leave-to-construct terminates in 12 months.

And this application is for both phase 3 and 4, which is, I think, going to take you at least a year and a half.  It would actually be longer by the time you do your clean-up and post-construction report and all of that.

So I am just curious.  You said the conditions were fine, but I don't understand how they could be.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  Maybe we will pull up Staff 20.

MR. BROPHY:  Staff 20?

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, condition 2a is what you are referring to?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, I believe so.  I don't have it up here, but I can take a look at the screen.

MR. MURDOCH:  Essentially that condition states the authorization shall terminate 12 months after the decision is issued unless construction has commenced prior to that date.

So Enbridge is of the opinion that we will be able to commence construction within 12 months after the decision, so therefore our authorization for leave-to-construct will not terminate.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then I guess I was getting confused on projects because really, you know, a lot of the discussion has been phase 3, that is the tight one and to try to get it done.  Phase 4 will come and you tried to integrate them I think, you know, per the Board's direction.

But you are still treating them as separate projects. So I guess under this, it is for both of those projects.  As soon as you start phase 3, you are considering you started phase 4.  Is that the way you are interpreting it?

MR. MADRID:  Byron Madrid, Enbridge.  The leave-to-construct is for both phases of this project, so when we start construction of phase 3, what that is officially the start of construction.  So we are meeting the twelve months time frame.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes, because I guess it would be so easy if it was one project and you do it and this would be a 2023 project easily because it is completed when you finish both phases.  So I think under this condition, you are considering them two projects, one, but for capital treatment you are considering it still separate projects.

MR. KEIZER:  That's because they're two different things, right?  I mean, how capital gets in service and printed in rates and how capital gets approved for leave to construct it is being approved as the entirety of the project as the Board wanted us to do.

MR. BROPHY:  I guess it is always the scope of what a project is is sometimes confusing, because it can be used differently in different places.  Okay.

Well, I will end there and look forward to Staff's questions and thank you very much, panel.  I know how long the day has been for you.  Thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you so much, Mr. Brophy.  And I think we will finish right around five now, because I think some of Mr. Parkes' questions have been asked.  But I will turn it over to him.  Are you there, Mike?
Examination by Mr. Parkes:


MR. PARKES:  Yes, I am.  Thanks very much.  Mike Parkes, OEB Staff.  I only have two questions for the panel so yes, we will be out of here by five.

The first one I think should be very straightforward.  If we can go to I.EP.2; this is about the Cliff Street heating and cooling plant.

So in 2b, Enbridge indicated that it understands that going forward the Cliff Street heating plant will at a minimum maintain its current demands for natural gas.  Obviously in the evidence filed by city of Ottawa, they presented a different understanding.  So I want to ask, what was the source for Enbridge's understanding that current demand will at least be maintained.  Is that based on the contract you have with Government of Canada, or written or oral communication, or just the fact you haven't heard anything to the contrary from them?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, Enbridge.  So it's based on the communications we've received for the activities that they're currently undertaking at the Cliff Street plant, the refurbishment that they're doing, and the road requirements that they have sent to us.

MR. PARKES:  Okay.  Is that something you would be able to put on the record, or is that confidential material?

MR. CLARK:  That would be confidential.  It's right from them.  You could endeavour to locate it right from Cliff Street perhaps, but --


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Parkes, it is Mr. Brophy.  It is my understanding it is business information, so it wouldn't be under confidential -- or the other option is we could file it as confidential and then, you know, Board Staff has access to that.  So that is an option as well.

MR. PARKES:  Okay, thanks.  I am not going to ask for that at this time.  Second question; if we can go to I.Staff.6, in particular the response to part B of Staff 6.  Yes.  That is it there.

So in the first paragraph there, you provide some information on the forecast number of corrosion related leaks that your model predicts for the St. Laurent pipeline.

And then in the second paragraph of the response, you note that the mitigation for a pipeline failure event could be to isolate the line to facilitate the required repairs, and provide some more detail on the consequences if that is the necessary action.

Can you provide a bit more information as to what other options Enbridge might have when it needs to respond reactively to an identified corrosion related leak?  And then also, just based on your experience, if you could let me know a bit more about the likelihood that your only option in responding to a corrosion-related leak would be an unscheduled isolation of the pipeline, sort of based on your experience throughout the distribution system and any specifics of the St. Laurent pipeline itself.

I still can't tell from all the information on file if that would be a very unlikely circumstance if such a leak arose, or if that would -- or if most of these leaks that your model identifies would likely need to be responded to in that fashion.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, Enbridge.  So in terms of the likelihood of an actual leak that would require this sort of response, we do have a QRA, and it is an input into our quantitative risk assessment, and factors into the overall likelihood of an event like that happening.

I believe we've actually answered a little bit of that.  I think it is Staff 4.  If you don't mind going to Staff 4, page 3 of 4.  Essentially, the -- oh, sorry, if you scroll up to the very top of the page 3 of 4.  Yes, there we go.

So essentially the cumulative leaks that are estimated and presented in our updated application, they are used to determine the likelihood of those undesired events, and then we do have adjustment to account for the following factors.

One of those is the infrequent need to shut down the pipeline for repair.  So I think that is what your question is referring to, Mr. Parkes?

MR. PARKES:  Yes.  I am just trying to get a sense of, you know, is this -- if you, you know, if you don't do anything on the pipeline and these four corrosion leaks occur by 2041, are we saying that in 1 percent of those four leaks the only option you would have is to, you know, make an unscheduled isolation of the pipeline to address it?  Or, you know, is that half of those four leaks would need to be -- would need that drastic treatment?  That is all I am trying to get at.

MR. MURDOCH:  And, no, I think in that respect, yeah, we have definitely taken a conservative approach when we evaluated the overall likelihood, and I think, yeah, conservative approach that we use in our calculation was we assumed that 1 percent would require -- of a leak would require that kind of drastic emergency shutdown.

However, that is entirely dependent on -- that is entirely dependent on the circumstances surrounding the leak, the access to the leak, the eminent dangers to the health and safety of the surrounding area and property.

So it is one of those numbers that is very difficult to quantify.  So Enbridge does believe that we have been very conservative when we did assume that it was a 1 percent rate would result in the need for the complete shutdown of the pipeline for the repair.

MR. PARKES:  Okay.  Is that 1 percent estimate kind of based on past experience throughout the distribution system?  Or how did you land on that number?

MR. MURDOCH:  I think I would have to take that back to talk specifically with our risk group to determine exactly how they came up with that 1 percent number.

MR. PARKES:  Okay.  If you would be able to do that as an undertaking, that would be appreciated.

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, I could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT1.26.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.26:  TO ADVISE IF THE 1 PERCENT ESTIMATE IS BASED ON PAST EXPERIENCE THROUGHOUT THE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM.

MR. PARKES:  And then so just a follow-up.  So that 1 percent estimate multiplied by your number of leaks and then the consequences of such an event, that's what led you to the high or very high risks shown in table 1, below there; is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  That is correct.  We examined the overall likelihood of the risk along with the consequence, and then that's what we put into our seven-by-seven risk matrix to determine the overall risk.

MR. PARKES:  Okay.  Perfect.  That is all of my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  Thank you so much, Mr. Parkes, and I believe that brings our day to a conclusion.  So I do want to thank the --


MR. ELSON:  Mr. Millar, could I ask a procedural question before we finish off the day?

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah.  Sure, yes, go ahead.

MR. ELSON:  I just wanted to confirm whether Enbridge -- Kent Elson here, Environmental Defence.  I just wanted to confirm -- is Enbridge declining the request to put forward Carolyn Wade or another witness on Monday to respond to questions on Enbridge's evidence regarding the feasibility of electrification?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  The proposition you put to us was that we could either -- we either had to put a witness forward or resile from the position.  And we're not putting a witness forward in respect of that feasibility, although I did have some discussions about ED 25, and as we noted, that the calculation was clarified with respect to it and the fact that it did not include certain aspects, which you, Mr. Elson, believe it should include, and that you had a concern about the fact that that qualification did not extend to the conclusion of the other part of the reply evidence related to the availability of the electrical grid or generation.

And so I think what Enbridge is prepared to do is undertake to review ED 25 and make any further qualifications that may be necessary to clarify its position.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Should we add an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  So that will be JT1.27.  And was that clear to you, Mr. Elson, what is being undertaken?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Or do we need to have it repeated if everybody is clear on that?

MR. ELSON:  My understanding is a review of ED 25 to confirm whether any clarification is going to be made with respect to the section on feasibility of electrification.  Is that fair, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  Recognizing what has already been stated in ED 25 as to the nature of the calculation and what has been included and not included and its implications for the remainder of that portion of the evidence that you alluded to today, Mr. Elson.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer, and thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.27:  TO DO A REVIEW OF ED 25 TO CONFIRM WHETHER ANY CLARIFICATION IS GOING TO BE MADE WITH RESPECT TO THE SECTION ON FEASIBILITY OF ELECTRIFICATION.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Millar, Mr. Brophy.  I just wanted to -- I am not going to ask for undertakings for the other detailed questions I had on IRP.  I am willing to forego those.  I just want to make a comment on the record that maybe, you know, consider for the future leave-to-constructs to have somebody from IRP or see if, say, a consultant there as well, and I am willing to just accept that didn't happen, and you are going to get some answers on a few of the higher-level ones that I posed today.  So I just make that comment.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Millar.  This morning Mr. Keizer had said that he was going to take away a couple of items over the lunch hour and determine what, if anything, the company is prepared to do.

Without the benefit of the transcript I cannot recreate all of the conversations, but maybe I can, by this weekend -- Mr. Keizer, do you have anything to add to the considerations you have undertaken through the lunch hour or the rest of the day in terms of responses to our enquiries?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I think there was one instance where we had indicated that we would -- as I recall.  It's been a long day, so as I recall, I would take it back.  We had some discussion.  But the lunch hour was fairly abbreviated, so I don't think we were able to reach a conclusion.

So like you, Mr. Quinn, I think what we will do is, since we are returning on Monday, have a chance to look at that transcript at that particular portion of the transcript, and then we would be able to advise at the outset of the technical conference on Monday as to our ability to provide that undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that.  I wanted to ask a question now while your panel members are here, but to the extent that they're not necessary in terms of that response, I will accept hearing from you on Monday morning.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think it is just a matter of getting back to whether the request you made, we're either able to do it or not able to do it and the basis of it.  I think that is where we would be.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I accept that.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, both.  And I do want to thank the witnesses for what's been a long day for them, I know, and to thank all the intervenors for doing good work in keeping their questions into the time frames more or less that we had.  I confess to moments of private despair at some time for the schedule, but we managed to get through it.  So I want to thank everyone for that.  And I certainly want to thank the court reporter for her hard work today.

So this panel is excused with the Board's thanks.  We will be back on Monday.  You will be in the capable hands and gentle humour of Mr. Sidlofsky on Monday.  I won't be rejoining you, but we will be back with panel 2.

We just have half a day set down.  And based on the time estimates we have, that should not be a problem.  I think we go out to about 11:30, so we are not foreseeing any difficulties there.

If for some reason there is something people need to let us know, you can reach out to Staff offline after this proceeding, but otherwise we are adjourned for the weekend, and most of you will be back on Monday.  Thanks very much.

MR. QUINN: Could I just say, before you go off the record, I also add thanks.  I know everybody worked hard today, and I was lamenting that this morning when you were asking about timing, so I do appreciate that as well.  Thank you.



MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Great.  Okay.  We are off the -- okay.  We are off the air, and everyone have a great weekend.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thanks, everybody.  Have a great weekend.

MR. MADRID:  Thanks, everybody.

MS. TURK:  Thank you.

MR. MURDOCH:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Goodbye, everybody.
--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 5:04 p.m.
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